
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
AGENDA 

1 

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 

June 23, 2020 
6:00pm Regular Session 

In accordance with the Governor’s Executive Order pertaining to the convening of public 
meetings in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Sierra County Board of Education will 

hold meetings via Zoom Videoconferencing. 
Zoom link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85475207317 

Phone dial-in: 669-900-9128    Webinar ID: 854 7520 7317 
Any individual who requires disability-related accommodations or modifications including auxiliary aids and services in order to participate in the 

Board meeting should contact the Superintendent or designee in writing. 
Public inspection of agenda documents that are distributed to the Board less than 72 hours before the meeting, will be made available at the Sierra 

County Office of Education, Room 3, 109 Beckwith Road, Loyalton, CA, 96118, and posted with the online agenda at 
http://www.sierracountyofficeofeducation.org (Government Code 54957.5). 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 

Please be advised that this meeting will be recorded. 

B. ROLL CALL 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

D. FLAG SALUTE 

E. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Superintendent’s Report 
a. Agreement with the County of Sierra for the 2020-2021 Fiscal Year for Friday 

Night Live services, Agreement 2020-002C** 
b. Presence Learning for online Special Education support for the 2020-2021 

School Year, Agreement 2020-003C** 
c. Acceptance of resignation for Brittany Steward, Instructional Aide, 

Downieville School, .58 FTE (3.5/day, 17.5/week), effective June 12, 2020** 
d. Use of TUPE funds 

2. Business Report 
a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/2019 to 05/31/2020** 

3. Staff Reports (5 minutes) 

4. Board Member Reports (5 minutes) 

5. Public Comment – This is an opportunity for members of the public to directly address the governing 
board on any item of interest that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the governing board whether or 
not it is listed on the agenda.  Three (3) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a maximum of twenty 
(20) minutes to each subject matter.  (Education Code 35145.5; Bylaw 9322; Government Code 54954.3) 

F. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held May 26, 2020** 
2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 05/01/2020 through 05/31/2020** 

 
 
 
 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85475207317
http://www.sierracountyofficeofeducation.org/
http://www.gamutonline.net/displayPolicy/131393/9
http://www.gamutonline.net/displayPolicy/145075/9




















































































Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2019/20Balances through May

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund   

1100 288,697.00 309,589.00 30,377.70 279,716.92 505.62-Teachers Salaries

1115 250.00 470.00 70.00 400.00 Certificated Extra Duty

1120 12,325.00 11,268.00 6,510.00 4,758.00 Certificated Substitutes

1200 30,561.00 30,561.00 2,546.73 28,014.03 .24 Certificated Pupil Support Ser

1300 260,757.00 193,207.00 15,442.11 191,832.82 14,067.93-Certificated Supervisor Admini

1310 10,000.00 10,000.00 1,000.00 9,000.00 Teacher in Charge

Total for Object 1000 602,590.00 555,095.00 48,366.54 507,143.77 415.31-

2100 196,300.00 160,723.00 14,647.65 117,167.13 28,908.22 Instructional Aides' Salaries

2115 1,000.00 1,000.00 566.51 433.49 Classified Extra Duty

2120 7,755.00 7,570.00 2,775.51 4,794.49 Classified Substitutes

2200 28,846.00 37,342.00 1,552.64 13,425.09 22,364.27 Classified Support Salaries

2215 1,000.00 1,000.00 591.89 408.11 Classified Support Extra Duty

2220 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Classified Substitute Salaries

2300 104,378.00 114,719.00 8,623.00 95,603.00 10,493.00 Classified Supervisors' Admini

2400 127,065.00 128,933.00 10,921.95 115,288.63 2,722.42 Clerical Technical Office Staf

2420 250.00 250.00 250.00 Clerical Substiture

2900 9,000.00 15,960.00 12,901.25 3,058.75 Other Classified Salaries

Total for Object 2000 476,594.00 468,497.00 35,745.24 358,319.01 74,432.75 

3101 122,401.00 162,923.00 8,270.68 82,561.88 72,090.44 STRS Certificated Positions

3102 803.00 23,823.00 82.28 1,894.77 21,845.95 STRS Classified Positions

3201 244.54 244.54-PERS Certificated Positions

3202 89,597.00 85,561.00 6,219.13 66,039.63 13,302.24 PERS Classified Positions

3301 932.00 7.00 107.88 100.88-OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 27,727.00 28,263.00 2,162.04 21,272.82 4,828.14 OASDI Classified Positions

3311 8,344.00 7,704.00 671.92 7,049.66 17.58-Medicare Certificated Position

3312 6,814.00 6,682.00 512.62 5,141.54 1,027.84 Medicare Classified Positions

3401 108,577.00 86,135.00 9,072.07 88,142.11 11,079.18-Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3402 84,444.00 107,536.00 9,807.48 98,851.78 1,123.26-Health & Welfare Benefits Clas

3501 300.00 276.00 24.20 254.92 3.12-SUI Certificated

3502 239.00 234.00 17.88 176.38 39.74 SUI Classified

3601 19,262.00 20,479.00 1,643.78 16,977.45 1,857.77 Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 15,378.00 16,420.00 1,254.05 12,388.33 2,777.62 Workers' Compensation Classifi

3902 13,250.00 6,624.00 6,626.00 Golden Handshake-Class

Total for Object 3000 484,818.00 559,293.00 39,738.13 407,727.69 111,827.18 

4100 460.00 2,273.00 2,273.00 Approved Textbooks Core Curric

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2020, Period = 11, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 1 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Jun 11 2020  9:30AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2215
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2220
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2420
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3102
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3201
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3902
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4100


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2019/20Balances through May

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund    (continued)

4200 1,000.00 1,000.00 Library and Reference Material

4300 42,512.00 62,399.00 2,926.68 18,423.57 41,048.75 Materials and Supplies

4320 500.00 676.00 36.21 626.70 13.09 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,030.09 30.09-Office Supplies

4350 6,000.00 5,500.00 933.40 3,273.36 1,293.24 Vehicle Upkeep

4399 277.00 277.00 Mat & Sup Undesignated Bal

4400 17,849.00 19,186.00 7,091.29 12,094.71 Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 68,321.00 92,311.00 3,896.29 30,445.01 57,969.70 

5100 43,000.00 43,000.00 43,000.00 Subagreements for Services

5200 47,304.00 35,583.00 2,731.78 12,871.28 19,979.94 Travel and Conference

5300 20,438.00 16,338.00 142.49 14,930.05 1,265.46 Dues and Membership

5400 11,000.00 11,000.00 10,297.92 702.08 Insurance

5500 11,500.00 14,500.00 3,001.34 8,286.05 3,212.61 Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 3,100.00 1,850.00 165.49 1,618.71 65.80 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5801 30,500.00 18,000.00 8,097.50 1,600.00 8,302.50 Legal Services

5803 500.00 .00 Legal Publications

5805 842.00 242.00 168.00 74.00 Personnel Expense

5806 1,000.00 .00 Negotiations

5808 1,500.00 1,500.00 132.44 1,367.56 .00 Other Services & Fees

5810 443,765.00 499,377.00 118,787.06 300,059.36 80,530.58 Contracted Services

5899 209.28 1,258.29 1,467.57-SPJUSD to Reimburse

5900 10,500.00 10,500.00 773.08 9,381.89 345.03 Communications

Total for Object 5000 624,949.00 651,890.00 134,208.46 361,671.11 156,010.43 

6200 26,516.00 1,000.00 25,516.00 .00 Building and Improvement of Bu

6400 20,000.00 97,098.00 97,098.00 Equipment

6500 15,000.00 15,000.00 15,000.00 Equipment Replacement

Total for Object 6000 35,000.00 138,614.00 1,000.00 25,516.00 112,098.00 

7110 5,501.00 25,000.00 19,958.25 5,041.75 County Tuition Inter Dist Agre

7141 24,428.00 24,428.00 24,428.00 Tuition, excess cost etc betwe

7310 .00 Direct Support/Indirect Costs

Total for Object 7000 29,929.00 49,428.00 .00 19,958.25 29,469.75 

541,392.50 2,322,201.00 2,515,128.00 262,954.66 1,710,780.84 Total for Fund 01 and Expense accounts

Fund 11 - ADULT ED   

1100 35,000.00 1,964.77 33,035.23 Teachers Salaries

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2020, Period = 11, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 2 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Jun 11 2020  9:30AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4399
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5803
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5806
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5808
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5899
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7110
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7141
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=1100


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2019/20Balances through May

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 11 - ADULT ED    (continued)

1300 89,732.00 89,732.00 7,477.67 83,767.30 1,512.97-Certificated Supervisor Admini

Total for Object 1000 89,732.00 124,732.00 7,477.67 85,732.07 31,522.26 

2100 5,684.00 6,000.00 75.56 5,924.44 Instructional Aides' Salaries

2200 17,052.00 1,310.81 15,741.19 Classified Support Salaries

Total for Object 2000 5,684.00 23,052.00 .00 1,386.37 21,665.63 

3101 15,344.00 26,529.00 1,278.68 14,472.45 10,777.87 STRS Certificated Positions

3202 1,179.00 4,556.00 14.90 4,541.10 PERS Classified Positions

3301 68.06 68.06-OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 352.00 1,429.00 81.26 1,347.74 OASDI Classified Positions

3311 1,301.00 1,809.00 108.43 1,243.16 457.41 Medicare Certificated Position

3312 82.00 334.00 20.10 313.90 Medicare Classified Positions

3401 12,767.00 12,767.00 1,063.90 11,702.90 .20 Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3501 45.00 63.00 3.74 42.88 16.38 SUI Certificated

3502 3.00 12.00 .70 11.30 SUI Classified

3601 3,004.00 4,176.00 265.25 2,979.20 931.55 Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 190.00 772.00 49.03 722.97 Workers' Compensation Classifi

Total for Object 3000 34,267.00 52,447.00 2,720.00 30,674.64 19,052.36 

4100 10,000.00 7,500.00 3,142.99 4,357.01 Approved Textbooks Core Curric

4300 5,000.00 4,700.00 500.53 4,983.90 784.43-Materials and Supplies

4320 5,000.00 1,449.09 3,550.91 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 300.00 300.00 Office Supplies

4350 1,184.22 768.05 1,952.27-Vehicle Upkeep

4400 2,132.00 16,000.00 9,358.69 17,407.39 10,766.08-Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 17,132.00 33,500.00 11,043.44 27,751.42 5,294.86-

5200 15,000.00 10,000.00 1,120.61 4,572.49 4,306.90 Travel and Conference

5203 1,000.00 5,000.00 1,619.94 3,380.06 MILEAGE

5300 250.00 1,000.00 1,870.00 870.00-Dues and Membership

5500 2,500.00 13,000.00 1,451.82 1,048.18 10,500.00 Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 2,500.00 308.75 1,922.25 269.00 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5801 1,000.00 1,000.00 Legal Services

5805 32.00 32.00-Personnel Expense

5810 40,000.00 35,925.00 299.80 30,193.79 5,431.41 Contracted Services

5900 27.19 1,172.81 1,200.00-Communications

Total for Object 5000 58,750.00 68,425.00 3,208.17 42,431.46 22,785.37 

6200 100,000.00 10,000.00 86,544.86 3,455.14 Building and Improvement of Bu

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2020, Period = 11, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 3 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Jun 11 2020  9:30AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5203
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=6200


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2019/20Balances through May

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 11 - ADULT ED    (continued)

6400 22,500.00 59,322.00 659.25 36,791.30 21,871.45 Equipment

Total for Object 6000 22,500.00 159,322.00 10,659.25 123,336.16 25,326.59 

7619 935.00 1,870.00 853.83 1,016.17 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

116,073.52 229,000.00 463,348.00 35,108.53 312,165.95 Total for Fund 11 and Expense accounts

Fund 16 - FOREST RES   

7211 330,000.00 93,958.37 236,041.63 Transfers of Pass-through Rev

7619 52,121.00 58,250.00 16,580.90 41,669.10 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

277,710.73 52,121.00 388,250.00 .00 110,539.27 Total for Fund 16, Expense accounts and Object 7000

935,176.75 2,603,322.00 3,366,726.00 298,063.19 2,133,486.06 Total for Org 001 - Sierra County Office of Education

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2020, Period = 11, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 4 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Jun 11 2020  9:30AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=7619
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7211
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=118053&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7619


1 

SCOE Minutes 

May 26, 2020 

MINUTES FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 

SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 

May 26, 2020 

In accordance with the Governor’s Executive Order pertaining to the convening of public 

meetings in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Sierra County Board of Education held 

this meeting via Zoom Videoconferencing. 

6:00pm Regular Session 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

President PATTY HALL called the meeting to order at 6:04pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Patty Hall, President 

  Nicole Stannard, Vice President 

Allen Wright, Clerk 

  Mike Moore, Member 

  Jenny Gant, Member 

ABSENT: None 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

WRIGHT/MOORE 

5/0 

D. FLAG SALUTE 

E. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Superintendent’s Report 

None 

2. Business Report 

a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/2019 to 04/30/2020 

b. Letter from California Department of Education, 2019-2020 Second Interim 

Reports approved with warning of unknown impacts due to COVID-19 

3. Staff Reports 

a. ADULT ED—JACKSON: Two recent graduates are moving into post-

secondary education programs. Another 10 EMT students graduated. Due to 

WASC accreditation we are eligible for some technology grants that we will 

use to add to the Adult Ed technology offerings/availability. Curriculum 

program purchased for para-educators. EMR class starting June 2nd virtually. 

Final DSA inspection is expected end of June or very beginning of July.  

4. Board Member Reports 

None 

5. Public Comment 

None 

 

 

 

 

 



2 

SCOE Minutes 

May 26, 2020 

F. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held April 14, 2020 

2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 04/01/2020 through 04/30/2020 

3. Authorization to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding between Sierra County Office 

of Education and Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District, Contract 2021-01C 

WRIGHT/MOORE 

5/0 

G. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Old Business 

PUBLIC HEARING – Collective Bargaining Disclosure Statement 

a. Public Hearing opened at 6:22pm to receive public comment regarding 

Collective Bargaining Agreement (Item b). Closed at 6:23pm with no 

comment. 

b. Approval of the Tentative Collective Bargaining Agreement for Classified 

Employees, 2019-2020 Negotiations for salary and benefits 

MOORE/WRIGHT 

5/0 

c. Completion of Bargaining, Classified Employees, 2019-2020 Negotiations 

MOORE/GANT 

5/0 

2. New Business 

PUBLIC HEARING – SCOE Budget 

a. Public Hearing opened at 6:26pm to receive public comment on the 2020-2021 

Proposed Budget. Closed at 6:31pm with no comment on the County Budget. 

**discussion that took place regarded an item on SPJUSD agenda – notes 

moved to SPJUSD minutes. 

PUBLIC HEARING – Proposition 30, Education Protection Account 

b. Public Hearing opened at 6:31pm to receive public comment on the use of 

Proposition 30 Funding for 2020-2021. Closed at 6:34pm with no public comment. 

**GRIESERT gave an overview of Prop 30 and purpose of public hearing 

c. Approval of CRM Group Invoice – Construction Management for LES Paving, 

Concrete, ADA Entry 

GANT/MOORE 

5/0 

d. Approval of 2020-2021 Extra Duty Assignments and Stipends 

WRIGHT/MOORE 

MOORE: These may not all necessarily be filled/paid depending on how the 

school year looks due to COVID-19. 

BERARDI: MOU with SPTA to pro-rate/retro the stipend if work is started, but 

not completed, for example, due to sports not running or ending before the 

season’s end. If there’s no clear path to starting sports in the fall, then they 

will not have work to perform to receive extra duty pay or stipend. 

5/0 

e. Acceptance of Resignation for Patrick Wilson, TK/K/1 Teacher, Downieville 

School,  1.0 FTE, effective June 30, 2020 

MOORE/WRIGHT 

5/0 



3 

SCOE Minutes 

May 26, 2020 

f. Authorization to fill Downieville TK/K-1 Teacher position, 1.0 FTE 

GANT/MOORE 

5/0 

g. Authorization to fill Occupational Therapist, Loyalton Elementary School, .20 

FTE, 6 hours/week 

MOORE/GANT 

5/0 

h. Acceptance of resignation for Alexa Wells, Speech and Language Aide, 

Loyalton Elementary School, .60 FTE 18 hours/week, effective June 12, 2020 

MOORE/WRIGHT 

5/0 

i. Authorization to fill Speech and Language Aide, Loyalton Elementary School, 

.60 FTE, 18 hours/week 

WRIGHT/STANNARD 

5/0 

BOARD POLICIES, ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS, EXHIBITS, BOARD BYLAWS 

MOORE motioned to approve both policies (j & k) as presented. Second by WRIGHT. 

5/0 

j. 4113.5~4213.5~4313.5—Working Remotely 

1. Board Policy, NEW 

k. 6157—Distance Learning 

1. Board Policy, NEW 

H. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. Next Regular Board Meeting will be held on June 23, 2020 beginning with Closed 

Session as needed at 5:00pm and the Regular Board Meeting at 6:00pm.  

****Location to be determined**** 

2. Suggested Agenda Items 

None 

I. ADJOURN at 7:05pm 

GANT/STANNARD 

5/0 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 

Allen Wright, Clerk     James Berardi, Superintendent 

       Secretary to the County Board of Education 



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 05/01/2020 through 05/31/2020

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00015649 05/11/2020 CIT 01-5900 PHONE SYSTEM/MAINTENANCE 773.08 

00015650 05/11/2020 KATIE CAMPBELL 01-4300 COOKING SUPPLIES 11.91 

00015651 05/11/2020 CWDL CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 01-5810 AUDIT FEES 7,997.50 

01-9515 AUDIT FEES 799.75- 7,197.75 

00015652 05/11/2020 ANNA GOODWIN 01-5810 NURSE SERVICES 577.50 

00015653 05/11/2020 LIBERTY UTILITIES CPEC 01-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 123.26 

11-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 145.15 268.41 

00015654 05/11/2020 MARY LOWE 01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 1,379.40 

00015655 05/11/2020 LESLIE MARSDEN, MOT, OTR/L 01-5810 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY SERVICES 2,062.50 

00015656 05/11/2020 PLUMAS-SIERRA TELECOMMUNICATIONS 11-5600 BROADBAND SERVICE 218.00 

00015657 05/11/2020 SACRAMENTO COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 11-5200 REGISTRATION 35.00 

00015658 05/11/2020 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 60.00 

00015659 05/11/2020 SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-4300 SHOP SUPPLIES 35.38 

00015660 05/11/2020 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INSURANCE GROUP 01-9535 MAY 20 HEALTH INSURANCE 2,159.00 

76-9576 MAY 20 HEALTH INSURANCE 17,318.90 19,477.90 

00015661 05/27/2020 AT&T 11-5900 PHONE 76.38 

00015662 05/27/2020 CWDL CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 01-9500 AUDIT FEES 799.75 

01-9515 AUDIT FEES 799.75 1,599.50 

00015663 05/27/2020 GIRARD, EDWARDS, STEVENS & TUCKER LLP 01-5801 LEGAL FEES 390.00 

01-5899 LEGAL FEES 82.50 472.50 

00015664 05/27/2020 IVCI 11-4400 ZOOM AGREEMENT W/SCOE 1,326.52 

00015665 05/27/2020 LES SCHAWB 01-4350 VEHICLE SERVICE 32.13 

01-5600 VEHICLE SERVICE 16.06 

01-5899 VEHICLE SERVICE 16.06 64.25 

00015666 05/27/2020 MARLENE MONGOLO 01-4350 MILEAGE 169.05 

00015667 05/27/2020 PRESENCELEARNING, INC. 01-5810 PRESENCE LEARNING 7,033.04 

00015668 05/27/2020 THE MASTER TEACHER 11-4300 ONLINE TRAINING 999.00 

Total Number of Checks 20 43,837.07 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

County School Service Fund 15 23,718.12 01

ADULT EDUCATION 6 2,800.05 11

Payroll Clearing 1 17,318.90 76

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Jun 11 2020  9:32AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 05/01/2020 through 05/31/2020

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 20 43,837.07 

.00 

43,837.07 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Jun 11 2020  9:32AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



CDE Form Version 2.0

Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) Local Plan

SELPA Sierra Fiscal Year 2020-21

LOCAL PLAN 

Section D: Annual Budget Plan 

SPECIAL EDUCATION LOCAL PLAN AREA 

California Department of Education 

Special Education Division



 Section D: Annual Budget Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page D-1 of 6

SELPA Sierra Fiscal Year 2020-21

D. Budget Plan

Each special education local plan area (SELPA) must have a responsible local agency or an 
administrative unit (RLA/AU), which is the legal entity that receives funds and is responsible for 
seeing that every eligible child receives appropriate services. 

Public Hearing Notice Posting Date: Jun 18, 2020

The Budget Plan was adopted at a SELPA public hearing on (date): Jun 23, 2020

Projected special education budget funding, revenues, and expenditures by local educational 
agencies (LEAs) are specified in Attachments II–V. This includes supplemental aids and services 
provided to meet the needs of students with disabilities as defined by the Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act (IDEA), as well as those who are placed in regular education classrooms and 
environments, and those who have been identified with low incidence disabilities who also receive 
special education services. Enter the following information:

RLA/AU Name Sierra County Office of Education 

Number of LEAs 1

SELPA Mission Statement—(this field is optional)

The Sierra County Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) was formed under the authority of 
Section 56195.1 of the state of California Education Code (CEC). The principal goal of the Sierra 
County SELPA is to identify all disabled individuals, age 3 to age 22 years, at the earliest possible 
age for placement in programs designed to help them meet their individual special needs. 

SELPA Beliefs—(this field is optional)

Special education programs will supplement general education programs to the fullest extent 
possible. 

SELPA Support Provided to LEAs

Sierra Plumas Joint Unified School District and the Sierra County Office of Education hereby form a 
SELPA for the purpose of providing coordinated programs and services to students with disabilities. 
The governing Board of the participating LEA assure that the Superintendent shall identify the need 
for and designate the positions necessary for the operation of SELPA functions. All Federal and 
State special education funds shall be allocated to the SELPA AU for the distribution to the LEA 
according to an approved Special Education Local Allocation Plan. 



 Section D: Annual Budget Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page D-2 of 6

SELPA Sierra Fiscal Year 2020-21

Table 1: Special Education Revenue by Source

Using the fields below, identify the special education revenues by funding source. The total revenue 
and the percent of total funding by source is automatically calculated.  

Funding Revenue Source Amount Percentage of Total 
Funding

Assembly Bill (AB) 602 State Aid  $581,906 59.62%

AB 602 Property Taxes  $0 0.00%

Federal IDEA Part B  $291,257 29.84%

Federal IDEA Part C  $27,750 2.84%

State Infant/Toddler  $0 0.00%

Preschool  $1,000 0.10%

State Mental Health  $50,728 5.20%

Federal Mental Health  $3,425 0.35%

Other State Workabillity  $20,000 2.05%

Other 0.00%

Total Revenue  $976,066 100.00%

Using the form template provided in Attachment II, complete a distribution of revenues to all LEAs 
participating in the SELPA by funding source. 



 Section D: Annual Budget Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page D-3 of 6

SELPA Sierra Fiscal Year 2020-21

Table 2: Total Budget by Object Codes 

Object Code Amount Percentage of Total 
Funding

Object Code 1000—Certificated Salaries  $319,917 33.69%

Object Code 2000—Classified Salaries  $201,661 21.24%

Object Code 3000—Employee Benefits  $215,476 22.69%

Object Code 4000—Supplies  $12,207 1.29%

Object Code 5000—Services and Operations  $162,012 17.06%

Object Code 6000—Capital Outlay  $0 0.00%

Object Code 7000—Other Outgo and Financing*  $38,224 4.03%

Total Expenditures  $949,497 100.00%

Using the templates provided in Attachment III, complete a distribution of projected expenditures by 
LEAs participating in the SELPA by object code.  

*Include a description of the expenditures identified under object code 7000: 

Out of County Tuition Services approx $25,000, Indirect Costs approx $13,224



 Section D: Annual Budget Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page D-4 of 6

SELPA Sierra Fiscal Year 2020-21

Table 3: Federal, State, and Local Revenue Summary

Using the fields below, identify funding by revenue jurisdiction and percent of total budget.

Revenue Source Amount Percentage of 
Total Funding

State Special Education Revenue  $524,648 55.26%

Federal Revenue  $135,583 14.28%

Local Contribution  $289,266 30.47%

Total Revenue From All Sources  $949,497 100.00%

Using the form template provided in Attachment IV, provide a complete distribution of revenues to all 
LEAs participating in the SELPA by federal and state funding source.

Special Education Local Plan Area Funding Distribution

Describe the basic premise of the SELPA Allocation Plan for distributing dollars as closely as possible 
to how they are earned. 

We are a single district county. The SELPA program is operated entirely through the Sierra County 
Office of Education and not distributed directly to the district. Our SELPA program is funded with 
AB602 apportionment revenues with additional state programs specifically targeted for certain 
disabilities, i.e. mental health. We also have some funding through federal sources for specific age 
groups, disabilities, etc.   

Describe how the SELPA distributes IDEA revenues to the LEAs, including the models used to 
provide services to member LEAs: 

We are a single district county and our SELPA program operates independent from the district. No 
revenues are passed through from the county SELPA to the LEA. Our revenues are calculated 
based on prior year P-2 ADA.



 Section D: Annual Budget Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page D-5 of 6

SELPA Sierra Fiscal Year 2020-21

Table 4: Special Education Local Plan Area Operating Expenditures 

Using the fields below, identify the total projected SELPA operating expenditures by SELPA 
accounting codes, the amount, and the percent of total expenses .

Accounting Categories and Codes Amount Percentage of 
Total

Certificated Salaries Code 1000  $319,917 33.69%

Classified Salaries Code 2000  $201,661 21.24%

Employee Benefits Code 3000  $215,476 22.69%

Supplies Code 4000  $12,207 1.29%

Services and Operations Code 5000  $162,012 17.06%

Capital Outlay Code 6000  $0 0.00%

Other Outgo/Financing Code 7000  $38,224 4.03%

Total Operating Expenditures  $949,497 100.00%



 Section D: Annual Budget Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page D-6 of 6

SELPA Sierra Fiscal Year 2020-21

Table 5: Projected Expenditures for Supplemental Aids and Services in the Regular Classroom 
for Students with Low Incidence Disabilities 

Enter the total revenue expenditures for supplemental aids and services for students with disabilities 
who are placed in the regular education classroom and for those who are identified with low 
incidence disabilities. 

Total Federal and State Revenue budgeted for Supplemental Aids and Service 
Expenditures in the Regular Classroom Setting  $12,207 

Total Federal and State Funding  $660,231 

Percent of Total LEA Federal and State Revenue Expenditures for 
Supplemental Aids and Services in the Regular Classroom Setting 1.85%

Total Projected Federal and State Revenue budgeted for Students with Low 
Incidence Disability Expenditures.  $0 

Percent of Total LEA Federal and State Revenue Expenditures for Students  
with Low Incidence Disabilities 0.00%

Using the form template provided in Attachment V, provide a complete distribution of projected 
federal and state revenue expenditures by LEAs participating in the SELPA.





CDE Form Version 2.0

Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) Local Plan

SELPA Sierra Fiscal Year 2020-21

California Department of Education 

Special Education Division 

January 2020

LOCAL PLAN 

Section E: Annual Service Plan 

SPECIAL EDUCATION LOCAL PLAN AREA 



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-1 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

E. Annual Service Plan
California Education Code (EC) sections 56205(b)(2) and (d); 56001; and 56195.9

The annual service plan shall be adopted at a public hearing held by the Special Education Local 
Plan Area (SELPA). Notice of this hearing shall be posted in each  school in the SELPA at least 15 
days before the hearing. The annual service plan may be revised during any fiscal year according to 
the policymaking process as established and specified in the local plan consistent with EC sections 
56001(f) and 56195.9. The annual service plan shall include a description of services to be provided 
by each local educational agency (LEA), including the nature of the services and the physical location 
at which the services will be provided, regardless of whether the LEA is participating in the local plan. 

Services Included in the Local Plan: Annual Service Plan

All entities and individuals providing related services shall meet the qualifications found in Title 34 of 
the Code of Federal Regulations (34 CFR) Section 300.156(b), Title 5 of the California Code of 
Regulations (5 CCR) 3001(r) and the applicable portions 3051 et. seq.; and shall be either employees 
of an LEA or county office of education (COE), employed under contract pursuant to EC sections 
56365-56366, or employees, vendors or contractors of the State Departments of Health Care 
Services or State Hospitals, or any designated local public health or mental health agency. Services 
provided by individual LEAs are listed in Attachments VI. Services provided by school sites are listed 
in Attachment VII .

Include a description of the service provided and the physical location where the service is 
delivered:



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-2 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

330–Specialized Academic Instruction● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Adapting, as appropriate, to the needs of the child with a disability the content, methodology, 
or delivery of instruction to ensure access of the child to the general curriculum, so that he or 
she can meet the educational standards within the jurisdiction of the public agency that apply 
to all children. Services can be provided individually or small group and within either the 
special education or general education environments.

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

Nonpublic schools (NPSs)

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

210–Family Training, Counseling, Home 
Visits (Ages 0-2 only) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as to why the service option is not included as part of the SELPA’s 
continuum of services available to students with disabilities.

Sierra County's 0-2 population is serviced by Regional Center 

230–Nutrition (Ages 0-2 only) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

Sierra County's 0-2 population is serviced by Regional Center 



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-3 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

240–Service Coordination (Ages 0-2 only) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

Sierra County's 0-2 population is serviced by Regional Center 

250–Special Instruction (Ages 0-2 only) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

Sierra County's 0-2 population is serviced by Regional Center 

260–Special Education Aide (Ages 0-2 only) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

Sierra County's 0-2 population is serviced by Regional Center 

270–Respite Care (Ages 0-2 only) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

Sierra County's 0-2 population is serviced by Regional Center 



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-4 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

340–Intensive Individual Instruction ● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

IEP Team determination that student requires additional support for all or part of the day to 
meet his or her IEP goals.

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

350–Individual and Small Group Instruction ● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Instruction delivered one-to-one or in a small group as specified in an IEP enabling the 
individual(s) to participate effectively in the total school program 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-5 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

415–Speech and Language (5 CCR 3051.1)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Language and speech services provide remedial intervention for eligible individuals with 
difficulty understanding or using spoken language. The difficulty may result from problems 
with articulation (excluding abnormal swallowing patterns, if that is the sole assessed 
disability); abnormal voice quality, pitch, or loudness; fluency; hearing loss; or the acquisition, 
comprehension, or expression of spoken language. Language deficits or speech patterns 
resulting from unfamiliarity with the English language and from environmental, economic, or 
cultural factors are not included. 
 
Services include: specialized instruction and services, monitoring, reviewing, and consultation. 
Services may be direct or indirect including the use of a speech consultant. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

425–Adapted Physical Education  
(5 CCR  3051.5)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-6 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

435–Health and Nursing: Special Physical 
Health Care (5 CCR 3051.12)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Specialized physical health care services means those health services prescribed by the 
child’s licensed physician and/or surgeon, requiring medically related training of the individual 
who performs the services and which are necessary during the school day to enable the child 
to attend school (CCR §3051.12(b)(1)(A)). Specialized physical health care services include 
but are not limited to suctioning, oxygen administration, catheterization, nebulizer treatments, 
insulin administration and glucose testing (CEC 49423.5 (d)).

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-7 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

436–Health and Nursing: Other Services  
(5 CCR 3051.12) ● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

This includes services that are provided to individuals with exceptional needs by a qualified 
individual pursuant to an IEP when a student has health problems which require nursing 
intervention beyond basic school health services. Services include managing the health 
problem, consulting with staff, group and individual counseling, making appropriate referrals, 
and maintaining communication with agencies and health care providers. These services do 
not include any physician-supervised or specialized health care service. 
 
IEP-required health and nursing services are expected to supplement the regular health 
services program. (34 CFR 300.34; CCR Title 5 §3051.12 (a)). 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-8 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

445–Assistive Technology Services 
(5 CCR 3051.19)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.
Any specialized training or technical support for the incorporation of assistive devices, 
adapted computer technology, or specialized media with the educational programs to improve 
access for students. The term includes a functional analysis of the student's needs for 
assistive technology; selecting, designing, fitting, customizing, or repairing appropriate 
devices; coordinating services with assistive technology devices; training or technical 
assistance for students with a disability, the student's family, individuals providing education or 
rehabilitation services, and employers. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-9 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

450–Occupational Therapy (5 CCR 3051.6)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Occupational Therapy (OT) includes services to improve student's educational performance, 
postural stability, self-help abilities, sensory processing and organization, environmental 
adaptation and use of assistive devices, motor planning and coordination, visual perception 
and integration, social and play abilities, and fine motor abilities. 
 
Both direct and indirect services may be provided within the classroom, other educational 
settings or the home; in a group or on an individual basis; and may include therapeutic 
techniques to develop abilities; adaptations to the student's environment or curriculum; and 
consultation and collaboration with other staff and parents. Services are provided, pursuant to 
an IEP, by a qualified occupational therapist registered with the American Occupational 
Therapy Certification Board. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-10 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

460–Physical Therapy (5 CCR 3051.6)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

These services are provided, pursuant to an IEP, by a registered physical therapist, or 
physical therapist assistant, when assessment shows a discrepancy between gross motor 
performance and other educational skills. Physical therapy includes, but is not limited to, 
motor control and coordination, posture and balance, self-help, functional mobility, 
accessibility and use of assistive devices. Services may be provided within the classroom, 
other educational settings or in the home; and may occur in groups or individually. These 
services may include adaptations to the student's environment and curriculum, selected 
therapeutic techniques and activities, and consultation and collaborative interventions with 
staff and parents

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-11 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

510–Individual Counseling  (5 CCR 3051.9)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

One-to-one counseling, provided by a qualified individual pursuant to an IEP. Counseling may 
focus on aspects, such as educational, career, personal; or be with parents or staff members 
on learning problems or guidance programs for students. Individual counseling is expected to 
supplement the regular guidance and counseling program. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-12 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

515–Counseling and Guidance  
(5 CCR 3051.9)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Counseling in a group setting, provided by a qualified individual pursuant to an IEP. Group 
counseling is typically social skills development, but may focus on aspects, such as 
educational, career, personal; or be with parents or staff members on learning problems or 
guidance programs for students. IEP-required group counseling is expected to supplement 
the regular guidance and counseling program. (34 CFR §300.24.(b)(2)); CCR Title 5 §3051.9) 
Guidance services include interpersonal, intrapersonal or family interventions, performed in an 
individual or group setting by a qualified individual pursuant to an IEP. Specific programs 
include social skills development, self-esteem building, parent training, and assistance to 
special education students supervised by staff credentialed to serve special education 
students. These services are expected to supplement the regular guidance and counseling 
program. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-13 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

520–Parent Counseling (5 CCR 3051.9)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Individual or group counseling provided by a qualified individual pursuant to an IEP to assist 
the parent(s) of special education students in better understanding and meeting their child's 
needs; may include parenting skills or other pertinent issues. IEP-required parent counseling 
is expected to supplement the regular guidance and counseling program. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

525–Social Worker (5 CCR 3051.13) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

Currently, all mental health needs pursuant to the students' IEP's are provided by other staff 
qualified in these areas.  



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-14 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

530–Psychological Services (5 CCR 3051.10)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

These services, provided by a credentialed or licensed psychologist pursuant to an IEP, 
include interpreting assessment results to parents and staff in implementing the IEP; obtaining 
and interpreting information about child behavior and conditions related to learning; planning 
programs of individual and group counseling and guidance services for children and parents. 
 
These services may include consulting with other staff in planning school programs to meet 
the special needs of children as indicated in the IEP. (CFR Part 300 §300.24). 
 
IEP-required psychological services are expected to supplement the regular guidance and 
counseling program. (34 CFR §300.24; CCR Title 5 §3051.10). 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-15 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

535–Behavior Intervention (5 CCR 3051.23)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

A systematic implementation of procedures designed to promote lasting, positive changes in 
the student's behavior resulting in greater access to a variety of community settings, social 
contacts, public events, and placement in the least restrictive environment. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

540–Day Treatment Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

545–Residential Treatment Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-16 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

610–Specialized Service for Low Incidence 
Disabilities (5 CCR 3051.16) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

710–Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing  
(5 CCR 3051.18) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

720–Audiological (5 CCR 3051.2) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

725–Specialized Vision (5 CCR 3051.7) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

730–Orientation and Mobility (5 CCR 3051.3) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-17 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

735–Braille Transcription (5 CCR 3051.22) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

740–Specialized Orthopedic Service  
(5 CCR  3030(e) and 3051.16) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

745–Reading Service (5 CCR 3051.16) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

750–Note Taking Service (5 CCR 3051.16) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.

755–Transcription Service (5 CCR 3051.16) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

No Sierra County students require this service at this time.



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-18 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

760–Recreation Service, Including 
Therapeutic Recreation (5 CCR 3051.15)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Therapeutic recreation and specialized instructional programs designed to assist pupils to 
become as independent as possible in leisure activities, and when possible and appropriate, 
facilitate the pupil's integration into general recreation programs

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

820–College Awareness 
(34 CFR 300.39 and 300.43)

● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

College awareness is the result of acts that promote and increase student learning about 
higher education opportunities, information and options that are available including, but not 
limited to, career planning, course prerequisites, admission eligibility and financial aid.

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-19 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

830–Vocational Assessment, Counseling, 
Guidance, and Career Assessment 
(5 CCR 3051.14)

● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Organized educational programs that are directly related to the preparation of individuals for 
paid or unpaid employment and may include provision for work experience, job coaching, 
development and/or placement, and situational assessment. 
 
This includes career counseling to assist student in assessing his/her aptitudes, abilities, and 
interests in order to make realistic career decisions. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-20 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

840–Career Awareness (5 CCR 3051.14)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Transition services include a provision in paragraph (1)(c)(vi), self-advocacy, career planning, 
and career guidance. This comment also emphasized the need for coordination between this 
provision and the Perkins Act to ensure that students with disabilities in middle schools will be 
able to access vocational education funds. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

850–Work Experience Education 
(5 CCR  3051.14)

● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Work experience education means organized educational programs that are directly related to 
the preparation of individuals for paid or unpaid employment, or for additional preparation for a 
career requiring other than a baccalaureate or advanced degree. 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-21 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

855–Job Coaching (5 CCR 3051.14)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Job coaching is a service that provides assistance and guidance to an employee who may be 
experiencing difficulty with one or more aspects of the daily job tasks and functions. The 
service is provided by a job coach who is highly successful, skilled, and trained on the job who 
can determine how the employee that is experiencing difficulty learns best and formulate a 
training plan to improve job performance

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-22 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

860–Mentoring (5 CCR 3051.14)● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Mentoring is a sustained coaching relationship between a student and teacher through on-
going involvement and offers support, guidance, encouragement, and assistance as the 
learner encounters challenges with respect to a particular area such as acquisition of job 
skills. Mentoring can be either formal as in planned, structured instruction or informal that 
occurs naturally through friendship, counseling and collegiality in a casual, unplanned way.

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-23 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

865–Agency Linkages, Referral and 
Placement (30 EC Section 56341.5)

● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

Service coordination and case management that facilitates the linkage of individualized 
education programs under this part and individualized family service plans under part C with 
individualized service plans under multiple Federal and State programs, such as Title I of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (vocational rehabilitation), Title XIX of the Social Security Act 
(Medicaid), and Title XVI of the Social Security Act (supplemental security income). 

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

870–Travel Training, Including Mobility 
Training (5 CCR 3051.3) Service is Not Currently Provided●

Include an explanation as  to  why  the service  option  is  not  included  as  part of  the  
SELPA’s  continuum  of services available to students with disabilities.

Sierra County is a rural county that does not offer different transportation options.  



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-24 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

890–Other Transition Services 
(5 CCR 3051 and 3051.24)

● Service is Not Currently Provided

Provide a detailed description of the services to be provided under this code.

These services may include program coordination, case management and meetings, and 
crafting linkages between schools and between schools and postsecondary agencies.

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other



 Section E: Annual Service Plan

CDE Form Version 2.0 Page E-25 of 25

SELPA: Sierra Fiscal Year: 2020-21

900–Other Related Service  
(5 CCR 3051 and 3051.24)

●
Qualified Service
Consultation with ERMH

Physical location(s) where the service is provided:  

Schools operated by the LEA ■

Alternative schools■

Community schools—COE 

Community day schools—LEA 

NPAs 

NPSs

Opportunity schools and classes 

Other

Other

Other

Other

Use of Code 900 requires further explanation. Related services may be provided throughout the 
full continuum of educational settings when needed as determined by the IEP team. All entities 
and individuals providing related services shall meet the qualifications found in 34 CFR  sections 
300.156(b) and 3001(r) and the applicable  portions of section 3051 et seq. Provide a 
description of staff qualifications for each of the Code 900 services identified herein.

Consultation with Educationally Related Mental Health professionals to support students with 
mental health needs.

900–Other Related Service  
(5 CCR 3051 and 3051.24)

Qualified Service

900–Other Related Service  
(5 CCR 3051 and 3051.24)

Qualified Service

900–Other Related Service 
(5 CCR 3051 and 3051.24)

Qualified Service



  Prepared & Presented by: Nona Griesert, Business Manager 

 

Sierra County Office of Education 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Adopted Budget 
2020/2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 23, 2020 
James Berardi/Superintendent 

 
  



    

SCOE 2020-2021 Adopted Budget Narrative 
Page 2 of 6 

Sierra County Office of Education 
2020-2021 Adopted Budget  

Presented June 23, 2020 

 

 

 

Sierra County Office of Education (SCOE) is required by law to adopt a budget each year by June 30th of the preceding year.  

The budget encompasses the General Fund of the district, and is also accompanied by a cash-flow projection and a multi-year 

projection covering the 2020/21 budget and two subsequent years.  

 

The following narrative provides the major assumption used in the 

preparation of the County’s 2020-2021 June Adopted Budget.  Keep in 

mind that a budget and multi-year projection are just that-projections, not 

forecasts.  Projections are expected to change as various factors change, 

they are not predictions.  Projections are the mathematical result of today’s decisions based on a given set of assumptions.  

Forecasts, on the other hand, are predictions of the future; there is a higher implied reliability factor than for projections.  

Projections will change anytime the underlying factors change. 

 

 

 

The Big Picture 
 

The release of the Governor’s January 2020 budget looked very different from how it looks today. The changes brought about 

by the Coronavirus pandemic was unforeseen and unprecedented. The effect has been felt the world around and is still not 

over. Businesses have been impacted across the nation with the full effects of which remain to be seen. California is dealing 

with a slow reopening and everyone is doing their best to speed recovery while being safe and not spreading the virus.  

  

The May Revision has made many changes to funding of the Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF), the State of California 

is now in a $54B deficit. Revenue projections will not be known until later in the fall after tax returns are reported and tax 

revenues known. Reductions to the LCFF are currently in place, the 2.31% COLA has been removed and an additional 7.92% 

deficit factor reduction in funding to LCFF, a 10% reduction is being applied to all other State programs. The funding 

priorities as of May:   

 

 

 No COLA projected for 20/21, 21/22 and 22/23 

 
 (7.92%) deficit factor reduction to LCFF Funding 

 

 Deferrals are currently being planned and implemented. June 

19/20 saw its first deferral, scheduled to be paid July 20/21. 

20/21 deferrals are planned for April, May and June – date is 

unknown when these will be paid. 

 

 This is no normal year, an “August Revision” is likely. 

 

The “Big Three” taxes make up nearly 77% of state general fund revenue. Personal income tax alone accounts for nearly 2/3 

of general fund revenues making it the largest source of state revenue. 40-50% of personal income tax revenue is generated 

from 1% of California taxpayers – residents who earn over $1M annually. California’s dependency on the state’s top income 

earners creates extreme volatility for general fund revenues. 

 



    

SCOE 2020-2021 Adopted Budget Narrative 
Page 3 of 6 

Although economic criteria have been met in order to temporarily suspend the next minimum wage increase, the Governor’s 

May Revision proposes to continue with the schedule increases in 2021. 

o $14.00/hour effective January 1, 2021 

o $15.00/hour effective January 1, 2022 

 

Additional Federal Funding? California is slated to receive billions of dollars from the CARES Act, but the funding only puts 

a small dent in the state’s $54 billion budget deficit. Governor Newsome is aggressively lobbying the federal government for 

an additional $1 trillion in aid. It is unknown at this time if any additional funding will be available from the federal source. 

 

 

GENERAL FUND 
 

REVENUE 

Below are the changes in revenue projections since the second interim and are reflected in the 2019/20 

Estimated Actuals. 

 

Local Control Funding Formula 

Local Control Funding Formula had a decrease of ($68,372).  

 

Federal Revenue 

Federal Revenue is projected to increase by $11,668 for the following reasons:  

 

             Favorable         

Funding Description             (Unfavorable) 

 SpEd IDEA RS3310 Local Assist $     425 

 Small Rural School Achievement $11,243 

Net Change    $11,668 
 

State Revenue 

State Revenues decreased by ($73,299) for the following reason: 

 

       Favorable         

Funding Description            (Unfavorable) 

 Mandated Block Grant   ($     175) 

 Unrestricted Lottery    $      258 

 Restricted Lottery    $        91 

 Special Education RS6500   $ 11,156 

 TUPE (6680/6685) c/o removed  ($84,629) 

Net Change   ($73,299) 

 

Local Revenue 

Local Revenues have no change.  

 

 
 



    

SCOE 2020-2021 Adopted Budget Narrative 
Page 4 of 6 

 

 
 

Description 2016-2017 

Actuals 

2017-2018 

Actuals 

2018-2019 

Actuals 

2019-2020 

Estimated 

Actuals 

2020-2021 

Adopted 

Budget 

LCFF Resources $775,048 $809,962 $851,039 $874,121 $805,845 

Federal  162,670 200,056 158,912 162,256 173,924 

Other State 688,441 717,679 634,134 861,327 788,028 

Other Local 340,611 307,293 486,100 321,293 321,293 

Transfer-in SRS 13,360 13,360 47,204 60,120 62,340 

Total $1,980,130 $2,048,350 $2,177,389 $2,279,117 $2,151,430 

 

EXPENDITURES 

 

General Fund Expenditures 
Expenditures decreased by ($23,909) from the 2019-20 Estimated Actuals. 

 

 
 

LCFF Sources; 
$805,845; 37%

Federal ; $173,924; 
8%

Other State; 
$788,028; 37%

Other Local; 
$321,293; 15%

Fund 16 - Transfer In; $62,340; 
3%

Total Resources $2,151,430

Certificated; 
$609,216; 24%

Classified; 
$499,935; 20%Benefits; 

$643,801; 26%

Books & 
Supplies; 

$69,204; 3%

Services & 
Operating; 

$525,380; 21%

Capital Outlay; 
$94,255; 4%

Outgo to 
District; 

$49,928; 2%

Total Expenses  $2,491,219



    

SCOE 2020-2021 Adopted Budget Narrative 
Page 5 of 6 

 

Expenditures Comparison  

Description 2016-2017 

Actuals 

2017-2018 

Actuals 

2018-2019 

Actuals 

2019-2020 

Estimated 

Actuals 

2020-2021 

Adopted 

Budget 

Certificated $  504,973 $  558,519 $  675,798 $  555,095 $  609,216 

Classified 374,437 388,965 401,509 468,497 499,935 

Benefits 418,617 471,807 553,278 559,293 643,801 

Books & Supplies 46,569 91,635 35,460 92,311 69,204 

Services & 

Operating 

503,111 661,980 519,917 651,890 525,380 

Capital Outlay 81,843 42,664 291,968 138,614 94,255 

Other Outgo 17,424 24,428 47,204 49,428 49,428 

Total $1,946,974 2,239,998 2,525,134 2,515,128 2,491,219 

 

 
 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Fund Balance 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Projected Ending Fund Balance 

2016-17 $2,698,358 actuals 

2017-18 $2,846,059 actuals 

2018-19 $2,509,684 actuals 

2019-20 $2,273,770 estimated actuals  

2020-21 $1,933,981 projected 

 

 

 

Personnel  FTE 

Certificated  5.55 

Superintendent    .15 

Administrative  2.60  20.92 FTE 

Classified             9.62 

Confidential  3.00 

 

 

Direct Services Contracted to provide special education services  

Speech 

Occupational Therapy 

Adapted P.E. 

Public Nurse 

 

 

 

Fiscal Year Amount 

2016-17 actuals 36,578 

2017-18 actuals 115,142 

2018-19 actuals (336,375) 

2019-20 estimated actuals (235,915) 

2020-21 projected (339,789) 



    

SCOE 2020-2021 Adopted Budget Narrative 
Page 6 of 6 

 

Comments 

 

1. No COLA and deficit factor reduction of (7.82%) on LCFF. 

2. Reduction of (10%) on all other state funding. 

3. Certificated health and welfare (H/W) soft cap selected plan employee range (14,398.50 to 

17,536.50);   Certificated employees hired effective 2017/18 hard capped at $17,536; all other 

employees H/W is capped at $17,536. H/W cost is $270,852. 

4. PERS rate increase from 19.721% to 20.7%, for a projected annual cost of $96,296. 

5. STRS rate increase from 17.10% to 16.15%.for a projected annual cost of $193,086. 

6. Reimburse Sierra-Plumas JUSD to provide business, curriculum, and technology services. 

7. Forest Reserve Revenue budget is $62,340. 

8. Positive Certification 

9. Projected ending cash balance: $1,933,981 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Reviewed By:

Year: 19/20 20/21 Pos (Neg) % 19/20 20/21 Pos (Neg) % 19/20 20/21 Pos (Neg) %

Period:

Estimated 

Actuals

Adopted 

Budget Difference Change

Estimated 

Actuals

Adopted 

Budget Difference Change

Estimated 

Actuals

Adopted 

Budget Difference Change

Revenues

LCFF Revenues 8010-8099 874,217       805,845       (68,372)       -7.82% -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! 874,217       805,845       (68,372)       -7.82%

Federal Revenues 8100-8299 -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! 162,256       173,924       11,668         7.19% 162,256       173,924       11,668         7.19%

State Revenues 8300-8599 3,911           3,994           83               2.12% 857,416       784,034       (73,382)       -8.56% 861,327       788,028       (73,299)       -8.51%

Local Revenues 8600-8799 316,793       316,793       -                  0.00% 4,500           4,500           -                  0.00% 321,293       321,293       -                  0.00%

Total Revenues 1,194,921     1,126,632     (68,289)        -5.71% 1,024,172     962,458       (61,714)        -6.03% 2,219,093     2,089,090     (130,003)      -5.86%

Expenditures

Certificated Salaries 1000-1999 229,434       272,094       42,660         18.59% 1 325,661       337,122       11,461         3.52% 555,095       609,216       54,121         9.75%

Classified Salaries 2000-2999 246,780       263,995       17,215         6.98% 221,717       235,940       14,223         6.41% 468,497       499,935       31,438         6.71%

Benefits & Taxes 3000-3999 243,320       311,600       68,280         28.06% 2 315,973       332,201       16,228         5.14% 559,293       643,801       84,508         15.11%

Materials & Supplies 4000-4999 33,007         30,125         (2,882)         -8.73% 59,304         39,079         (20,225)       -34.10% 5 92,311         69,204         (23,107)        -25.03%

Operating Expenditures 5000-5999 368,176       319,063       (49,113)        -13.34% 3 283,714       206,317       (77,397)       -27.28% 6 651,890       525,380       (126,510)      -19.41%

Capital Outlay 6000-6599 35,000         35,000         -                  0.00% 103,614       59,255         (44,359)       -42.81% 7 138,614       94,255         (44,359)       -32.00%

Other Outgo 7xxx's 24,428         24,428         -                  0.00% 25,000         25,000         -                  0.00% 49,428         49,428         -                  0.00%

Other Outgo 7300-7399 (4,264)          (16,810)        (12,546)        294.23% 4 4,264           16,810         12,546         294.23% 4 -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0!

Total Expenditures 1,175,881     1,239,495     63,614         5.41% 1,339,247     1,251,724     (87,523)        -6.54% 2,515,128     2,491,219     (23,909)        -0.95%

Rev less Exp 19,040         (112,863)      (131,903)      -692.77% (315,075)      (289,266)      25,809         -8.19% (296,035)      (402,129)      (106,094)      35.84%

Other Sources/Uses

Transfers In 8910-8979 60,120         62,340         2,220          3.69% -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! 60,120         62,340         2,220          3.69%

Contributions 8980-8999 (293,975)      (289,266)      4,709          -1.60% 293,975       289,266       (4,709)         -1.60% -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0!

Transfers Out 7610-7699 -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0!

Total Other Sources (233,855)      (226,926)      6,929           -2.96% 293,975       289,266       (4,709)          -1.60% 60,120         62,340         2,220           3.69%

Change in Fund Bal (214,815)      (339,789)     (124,974)      58.18% (21,100)        -                 21,100         -100.00% (235,915)      (339,789)     (103,874)      44.03%

Beg Fund Bal 2,488,585     2,273,770     (214,815)      -8.63% 21,100         -                  (21,100)        -100.00% 2,509,685     2,273,770     (235,915)      -9.40%

Adjustments -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! -                  #DIV/0!

Adj Beg Fund Bal 2,488,585     2,273,770     (214,815)      -8.63% 21,100         -                  (21,100)        -100.00% 2,509,685     2,273,770     (235,915)      -9.40%

End Fund Bal 2,273,770     1,933,981     (339,789)      -14.94% -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! 2,273,770     1,933,981     (339,789)      -14.94%

Non Spendable 500              500              -                  -                  500              500              -                  

Restricted  -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0! -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0!

Comitted -                  #DIV/0! -                  #DIV/0! -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0!

OPEB 93,849         92,485         (1,364)         -                  93,849         92,485         (1,364)         

Assigned -                  #DIV/0! -                  #DIV/0! -                  -                  -                  #DIV/0!

Deferred Maintenance 50,000         50,000         -                  -                  50,000         50,000         -                  

REU 252,000       250,000       (2,000)         -                  252,000       250,000       (2,000)         

Unassigned 1,877,421     1,540,996    (336,425)     -17.92% -                 -                 -                 #DIV/0! 1,877,421     1,540,996    (336,425)     -17.92%

REU is: 10.0% 10.0%

Tickmark Legend

Unrestricted Restricted Total

2020/21 Adopted Budget

Sierra County Office of Education

Gen Fund Budget Comparison Worksheet



1 Increase in Unrestricted Certificated salaries expenditures due to step/column movement.

2 Increase in Unrestricted benefits expenditures due to step/column movement and changes to health and welfare benefits.

3 Unrestricted Travel & Conference expenditures approx ($10k), Contracted Services reduced approx ($40k), Legal expenditures increased approx $1k.

4 Increased Indirect Cost Rate from 0.41% to 2.09%

5 Restricted Materials and Supplies increased approx $3k for Small Rural Achievement, Restricted Lottery reduced approx ($1k), SpEd reduced approx ($9,500), TUPE reduced approx ($12,500).

6 Restricted Operating Expenditures increased approx $12k for Small Rural Achievement, SpEd reduced approx ($32k), TUPE reduced approx ($55,500), Classified Prof'l Dev reduced approx ($200) due to 

program being discontinued, Foster Youth reduced approx ($1,500).

7 Restricted Capital Outlay reduced approx ($26k) for Prop 39 program completed & discontinued, TUPE reduced approx ($18k).

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Sierra County Office of Education

2020/21 Adopted Budget



Sierra County Office of Education

2020/21 Adopted Budget

Unrestricted Restricted Combined Unrestricted Restricted Combined Unrestricted Restricted Combined

A B C D E F G H I

Revenues

LCFF Revenues 8010-8099 805,845        -               805,845         806,781       -            806,781       807,744       -              807,744        

Federal Revenues 8100-8299 -               173,924        173,924         -              173,924     173,924       -              173,924       173,924        

State Revenues 8300-8599 3,994           784,034        788,028         3,994           784,034     788,028       3,994           784,034       788,028        

Local Revenues 8600-8799 316,793        4,500           321,293         316,793       4,500         321,293       316,793       4,500           321,293        

Transfers In 8910-8979 62,340          -               62,340           62,340         -            62,340         62,340         -              62,340          

Contributions 8980-8999 (289,266)       289,266        -                (309,478)      309,478     -              (330,031)      330,031       -               

Total Revenues 899,706        1,251,724     2,151,430       880,430       1,271,936   2,152,366     860,840       1,292,489     2,153,329     

Expenditures

Certificated Salaries 1000-1999 272,094        337,122        609,216         276,175       342,179     618,354       281,146       348,338       629,484        

Classified Salaries 2000-2999 263,995        235,940        499,935         275,875       246,557     522,432       286,910       256,419       543,329        

Benefits & Taxes 3000-3999 311,600        332,201        643,801         316,336       336,739     653,075       320,991       341,271       662,262        

Materials & Supplies 4000-4999 30,125          39,079         69,204           30,125         39,079       69,204         30,125         39,079         69,204          

Operating Expenditures 5000-5999 319,063        206,317        525,380         319,063       206,317     525,380       319,063       206,317       525,380        

Capital Outlay 6000-6599 35,000          59,255         94,255           35,000         59,255       94,255         35,000         59,255         94,255          

Other Outgo 7xxx's 24,428          25,000         49,428           24,428         25,000       49,428         24,428         25,000         49,428          

Other Outgo 7300-7399 (16,810)        16,810         -                (16,810)        16,810       -              (16,810)        16,810         -               

Transfers Out 7600-7629 -               -               -                -              -            -              -              -              -               

Total Expenditures 1,239,495     1,251,724     2,491,219       1,260,192    1,271,936   2,532,128     1,280,853     1,292,489     2,573,342     

Rev less Exp (339,789)       -               (339,789)        (379,762)      -            (379,762)      (420,013)      -              (420,013)       

Change in Fund Bal (339,789)      -              (339,789)       (379,762)     -            (379,762)     (420,013)      -              (420,013)      

Beg Fund Bal 2,273,770     -               2,273,770       1,933,981    -            1,933,981     1,554,219     -              1,554,219     

Adjustments -               -               -                -            -              -              -               

Adj Beg Fund Bal 2,273,770     -               2,273,770       1,933,981    -            1,933,981     1,554,219     -              1,554,219     

End Fund Bal 1,933,981     -              1,933,981       1,554,219    -            1,554,219    1,134,206    -              1,134,206     

Non Spendable 500              -               500                500             -            500              500              -              500              

Restricted  -               -               -                -            -              -              -               

Comitted

OPEB 92,485          -               92,485           92,485         -            92,485         92,485         -              92,485          

Assigned

Deferred Maintenance 50,000          -               50,000           100,000       100,000       150,000       150,000        

REU 250,000        -               250,000         254,000       -            254,000       258,000       -              258,000        

Unassigned 1,540,996     -              1,540,996      1,299,719    -            1,299,719    875,706       -              875,706       

Budget MYP MYP

Multi Year Projection

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23































































































































































































1 
**NEW** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Philosophy, Goals, Objectives, and Comprehensive Plans  
BP 0470 
 
COVID-19 MITIGATION PLAN 
 

Note:  The following policy is intended for use during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and supersedes 
conflicting provisions in other district policies and administrative regulations, thereby eliminating the need to 
temporarily revise multiple policies.  When the Governing Board determines, consistent with state and local 
orders from health officials, that the need for this policy no longer exists, the following policy should be 
removed from the district's policy manual. 
 
Due to the unexpected nature of the pandemic, the evolving circumstances, and rapidly changing information 
about the virus, the topics covered in this policy may not be directly addressed in current law. Therefore, the 
policy presents options and best practices for districts as they reopen school campuses following extended 
closures due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  Districts are encouraged to consult with local health officials, staff, 
students, parents/guardians, neighboring school districts, and the county office of education in comprehensive 
planning for safe operations following campus reopening. 
 
This policy involves a number of working conditions that are often addressed in collective bargaining 
agreements and, as such, may be subject to negotiations with employee organizations. 
 
Resources that provide additional information, such as applicable state and local guidelines from health 
officials, school schedules, handwashing instructions, and specific personal protective equipment (PPE) 
requirements, may be attached as exhibits to augment this policy and should be periodically reviewed and 
updated as necessary. 

 
The following policy establishes actions that will be taken by the district to provide a safe 
learning and working environment during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, and shall 
supersede any conflicting language in existing district policies or administrative regulations 
until the Governing Board determines that the need for this policy no longer exists.  The Board 
acknowledges that, due to the evolving nature of the pandemic, federal, state, and local orders 
impacting district operations are subject to change without notice.  In the event that any federal, 
state, or local order may conflict with this policy, the order shall govern. 
(cf. 2210 - Administrative Discretion Regarding Board Policy) 
(cf. 5141.22 - Infectious Diseases) 
(cf. 9310 - Board Policies) 
 
The Board may also adopt resolutions or take other actions as needed to respond to such orders 
or provide further direction during the pandemic. 
 

Note:  Stay-at-home orders, restrictions on social gatherings, and PPE requirements and their impact on the 
opening and closing of school campuses will vary based on local conditions.  CSBA strongly recommends 
that districts consult state and local health officials for guidance on decisions regarding the opening and 
closing of school campuses. 

 
The Board recognizes that students and staff have the right to a safe campus that protects their 
physical and psychological health and well-being.  School campuses shall only be open when 
deemed safe for in-person instruction.  The Board's decision to reopen school campuses for 
classes, before or after school programs, child care centers, and/or preschool programs shall 
be made in consultation with state and local health officials, the county office of education, 



2 
 

and neighboring school districts.  The district shall evaluate its capacity to implement safety 
precautions and to conduct full or partial school operations, and shall consider student, 
parent/guardian, and community input. 
(cf. 0400 - Comprehensive Plans) 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan) 
 
Prior to the return to on-campus teaching and learning, the Superintendent or designee shall 
provide to students, parents/guardians, and staff current information about COVID-19, 
including its symptoms, how it is transmitted, how to prevent transmission, the current 
recommendations from the state and local departments of public health, and any other 
information and/or resources to prepare for a safe return to on-campus teaching and learning. 
The Superintendent or designee shall also provide information on the processes and protocols 
the district will follow to minimize the health risks associated with COVID-19, including, but 
not limited to, physically separating individuals (social distancing), limits on large gatherings, 
the provision of personal protective equipment (PPE) such as masks and gloves, and the 
sanitization of facilities. 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 
 
Student Support  
 
The Board recognizes that the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic, including fear for 
one's safety, the economic crisis, the loss of school-based relationships, and disruptions in 
student learning, impact all students but may have a disproportionate effect on the youngest 
students, students with disabilities, those students most vulnerable to basic needs insecurity or 
child abuse and neglect, and other at-risk students. 
(cf. 0415- Equity) 
 
As school campuses reopen, staff shall provide a caring and nurturing educational environment 
for students. The district may provide instruction on social-emotional well-being to all 
students, including information on how to deal with stress and anxiety in healthy ways and the 
importance of emotional well-being for academic success. 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 
 
Staff shall pay careful attention to students' increased mental health concerns.  Counseling, 
other support services, and/or referrals to other agencies shall be available to assist students in 
dealing with the social and emotional effects of COVID-19, such as stress, anxiety, depression, 
grief, social isolation, and post-traumatic stress disorder. 
(cf. 5141.5 - Mental Health) 
(cf. 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 
As needed, the district may provide referrals of students and families to basic needs assistance 
or social services, and may assess students for eligibility for the free and reduced-price meal 
program or assistance under the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act. 
(cf. 6173 - Education for Homeless Children) 
 



3 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that staff understand their obligations as mandated 
reporters to report suspected child abuse or neglect, regardless of whether the student is on 
campus or participating in distance learning. 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
 
The Superintendent or designee may provide information to staff and parents/guardians 
regarding how to provide mental health support to students. The Superintendent or designee 
may also provide counseling to staff who are experiencing emotional difficulties as a result of 
COVID-19. 
 
Instruction/Schedules  
 

Note:  Until COVID-19 is no longer a concern, schools may offer instruction through one of three prevailing 
approaches:  (1) return to full on-campus instruction with social distancing/PPE requirements and modified 
schedules, (2) continue exclusively with distance learning, or (3) use a hybrid approach that incorporates both 
on-campus instruction and distance learning. To accomplish any approach that uses on-campus instruction 
while maintaining social distancing may require the implementation of staggered schedules, such as having 
half the students on campus one week followed by the other half the following week, having grades 1-3 on 
campus on Monday and Wednesday and grades 4-6 on Tuesday and Thursday, or teaching elementary students 
on campus while secondary students use distance learning. 
 
The following section reflects a hybrid approach, which may be the most practical for the majority of districts, 
and should be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
The district shall offer a combination of on-campus instruction and distance learning to meet 
the needs of all students. 
(cf. 6157 - Distance Learning)  
(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall work with school principals, teachers, other staff, 
students, and parents/guardians to recommend to the Board a schedule of on-campus 
instruction for each school.  If all students cannot attend on-campus instruction for the entire 
school day due to space limitations as a result of social distancing requirements, the 
Superintendent or designee shall consider arrangements for rotating groups of students, such 
as on a daily or weekly basis, and/or shall provide on-campus instruction to students with the 
greatest need for in-person supervision. 
(cf. 6111 - School Calendar) 
(cf. 6112 - School Day) 
 
Priority for on-campus instruction shall be given to the lowest performing students, students 
with disabilities, elementary level students, students at risk of child abuse and neglect, 
homeless students, foster youth, and English learners. To the extent practicable, the district 
shall also consider the needs of essential workers, as designated in the Governor's executive 
orders, for child care during normal school hours. 
(cf. 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth) 
(cf. 6174 - Education for English Learners) 
 
On-campus instruction may be prioritized for subjects that are difficult to deliver through 
distance learning, such as laboratory science, art, or career technical education. 
 
For distance learning, lessons may be delivered through live video sessions, pre-recorded 
lectures, or other technology-based distance learning platforms and/or the district may 



4 
 

supplement on-campus instruction with home assignments.  As much as possible, distance 
learning shall be provided through small-group synchronous learning. 
 
Appropriate training shall be provided to teachers and other instructional staff involved in 
distance learning, including training on how to use any technology or platform approved for 
distance learning by the school and opportunities for the sharing of best practices among 
instructional staff. Available training resources may also be provided to students and 
parents/guardians when necessary. 
 
Evaluation of Academic Progress Following Campus Closure 
 

Note:  Pursuant to the Governor's Executive Order N-30-20, administration of the California Assessment of 
Student Performance and Progress was waived in spring 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  Districts will 
need to use other measures to evaluate students' academic progress during that period of campus closure. 

 
Upon return to on-campus instruction following an extended campus closure, the 
Superintendent or designee shall evaluate the impact of the campus closure on students' 
academic progress.  Such evaluation may: 
 
1. Address student-specific needs arising from the transition back into on-campus 

instruction 
 
2. Consider whether or not a student has experienced a regression of skills and/or lack of 

progress 
 
3. If regression and/or a lack of progress is present, identify opportunities for recovery, 

including supplemental educational services and/or new or different support services 
(cf. 6179 - Supplemental Instruction) 

 
For students with disabilities, the evaluation of academic progress shall also be used to 
determine whether an additional or revised individualized education program (IEP) or Section 
504 plan is needed for the student to be academically successful when returning to on-campus 
instruction. The Superintendent or designee may prioritize urgent student need in scheduling 
initial and triennial assessments and annual IEP meetings. The Superintendent or designee shall 
ensure district compliance with all procedural timelines for IEPs and Section 504 plans as 
required, unless amended by executive order. 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 
(cf. 6159.1 - Procedural Safeguards and Complaints for Special Education) 
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504) 
 
Grading 
 

Note:  The district may select or revise any of the items below to reflect district practice.  The California 
Department of Education's (CDE) FAQs on Grading and Graduation Requirements, available on its web site, 
includes an appendix on Distance Learning Grading Guidance for Teachers which contains a non-exhaustive 
list of options for assigning final grades for spring 2020 for courses interrupted by COVID-19 and the resulting 
school closures. Those options are only applicable to final semester grades and may not necessarily apply to 
shorter periods of campus closure.  Grading policies for the 2020-21 school year may be dependent on the 
date that campuses reopen and/or whether campuses need to be reclosed for an extended period at any time 
during the year. 
Also see CSBA's Sample School Board Resolution on Grading During Emergency School Closures. 



5 
 

 
For each grading period, student progress shall be reported in accordance with BP/AR 5121 - 
Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement.  However, in the event that school campuses are 
closed for an extended period of time during any grading period, the Board may, upon 
recommendation by the Superintendent or designee, adopt one or more alternative grading 
policies which may vary by grade level or type of course.  Options for such grading include, 
but are not limited to:   
 
1. Assignment of final grades based on the student's grades when the campus shutdown 

occurred, with opportunities to increase the final grade based on progress through 
distance learning or other assignments and assessments 

 
2. Assignment of pass/no pass grades for all courses 
 
3. Grading based on students' understanding of applicable course content through 

assessments, projects, portfolios, or other appropriate means 
(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 

 
Health Screening of Students 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph reflects recommendations in the Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention's (CDC) Interim Guidance for Schools and Day Camps to conduct temperature checks and/or 
visual checks of students before they enter the school.  CDC recommends that persons who have a fever of 
100.4 degrees or above or exhibit other signs of illness not be admitted to the facility. 
 
Temperature checks may also be conducted before students board a school bus.  If not practical, districts 
should implement social distancing on school buses as provided in the section "Social Distancing" below and 
may require students to wear PPE on the bus as provided in the section "Personal Protective Equipment and 
Hygiene Practices" below. 

 
To the extent feasible, students shall be screened for COVID-19 symptoms before boarding a 
school bus and/or upon arrival at school each day. The Superintendent or designee shall work 
with local health officials to determine the appropriate means of screening, which may include 
temperature checks with a no-touch thermometer. 
 
If the screening indicates a fever or other COVID-19 symptoms, or if the student exhibits 
symptoms at any time during the school day, the student shall be placed in a supervised 
isolation area until the student's parent/guardian is contacted and the student can be transported 
home or to a health care facility. School staff may provide the parent/guardian with referrals 
to school or community health centers for further testing. 
(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 
(cf. 5141.3 - Health Examinations) 
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 
 
Student Absence and Attendance  
 
The Board recognizes that COVID-19 will continue to impact the attendance of students 
following the reopening of school campuses. The Superintendent or designee shall notify 
students and parents/guardians of expectations regarding school attendance.  Such notification 
shall direct any student who contracts the virus or lives with someone who has been diagnosed 



6 
 

with COVID-19 to stay home in accordance with state and local health directives so as to 
curtail the spread of the disease. 
 
Students who are infected with COVID-19 shall be excluded from on-campus instruction until 
a medical provider states in writing that the student is no longer contagious.  (Education Code 
49451; Health and Safety Code 120230; 5 CCR 202) 
 
Students who are identified as being in a high-risk population for serious complications from 
COVID-19 because of a medical condition may request assessment and accommodations under 
Section 504 and/or an alternative instructional method that allows the student to continue 
receiving instruction off campus. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48205, student absences due to illness or quarantine are considered excused 
absences. 5 CCR 306 authorizes the school to require a satisfactory explanation from a student's 
parent/guardian whenever the student is absent. Pursuant to 5 CCR 421, the Board may adopt policy or a 
resolution establishing reasonable methods for verifying student absences, and absences due to illness or 
quarantine may be verified by a school or public health nurse, attendance supervisor, physician, principal, 
teacher, or other qualified district employee assigned to make such verification. See AR 5113 - Absences and 
Excuses for verification methods authorized by the district. 

 
When a student is absent, the student's parent/guardian shall notify the school of the reason for 
the absence.  A physician's verification of a student's illness or quarantine may be submitted, 
but is not required. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
 
If a student would otherwise be required to attend on-campus instruction but is kept home by 
the parents/guardians due to concerns for the welfare of their child, the principal or designee 
shall work with the student and parent/guardian to find alternative means of instruction, which 
may include distance or blended learning, independent study, printed class assignments, or 
other reasonable means. 
(cf. 6154 - Homework/Makeup Work) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to the Governor's Executive Order N-26-20, districts are not penalized for failure to offer 
regular school days when campuses are closed due to COVID-19.  Although districts are not required to record 
daily attendance for apportionment purposes when campuses are closed, CDE's FAQs for 2019 Novel 
Coronavirus encourage districts to track participation and engagement in distance learning at such times.  As 
campuses reopen, districts should follow state guidance, when issued, pertaining to attendance accounting. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain enrollment and student attendance data, 
including the participation of students in distance learning, and shall report data in accordance 
with state requirements. 
 
The district employee designated as the attendance supervisor pursuant to Education Code 
48240 shall track patterns of student absence throughout the district and regularly report such 
information to the Superintendent.  When a student who is participating in distance learning 
repeatedly fails to check in with the teacher when required, the teacher and/or attendance 
supervisor shall attempt to contact the student or parent/guardian  to resolve the issues leading 
to the absence. 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
(cf. 5113.11 - Attendance Supervision) 
 



7 
 

Social Distancing 
 

Note:  Public health officials from the California Department of Public Health (CDPH), CDC, and World 
Health Organization recommend social distancing to help stop or slow the spread of COVID-19.  Social 
distancing requires creating physical space between individuals and minimizing the size and number of 
gatherings as much as possible.  It is generally recommended that space between individuals be at least six 
feet whenever possible. 

 
In order to maintain a campus environment that allows for social distancing, the district shall 
assess the capacity of school facilities, including classrooms, cafeterias, multi-purpose rooms,  
gyms, and outdoor areas, and determine the means by which the facilities can best be utilized 
considering space and time alternatives.  To the extent reasonably possible, the district may: 
 
1. Within classrooms, space desks at least six feet apart and position them in a way that 

limits students facing each other 
 
2. Stagger students in areas of high traffic, such as when students are using lockers, lining 

up for class, or passing between classes 
 
3. Mark six-foot boundaries within classrooms, common areas, outdoor spaces, and 

places where students are likely to gather so that students and staff are more readily 
aware of and can more easily abide by social distancing requirements 

 
4. Utilize restroom stalls and sinks in a manner that allows for social distancing, such as 

limiting the number of students and/or staff who may use the restroom at a time, 
blocking off every other stall or sink from use, and/or marking six-foot boundaries 

 
5. Minimize the mixing of students from different classrooms in common spaces, such as 

in cafeterias and libraries 
 
6. Conduct recess and physical education classes in a manner that allows for social 

distancing and minimizes the use of physical education equipment 
 

Note:  Item #7 is for use by districts that provide transportation for students. CDC's Interim Guidance for 
Schools and Day Camps presents examples of bus seating arrangements that may be established to meet the 
six-foot social distancing objectives, such as (1) seating one student to a bench on both sides of the bus, 
skipping every other row, and (2) seating one student to a bench, alternating rows on each side to create a 
zigzag pattern. Seats that must be left vacant should be marked or blocked. 

 
7. Assess the capacity of school buses and develop a plan for bus routes and bus seating 

consistent with social distancing objectives 
(cf. 3540 - Transportation) 
(cf. 3543 - Transportation Safety and Emergencies) 

 
8. Encourage students to walk, bicycle, or travel by private vehicle to reduce the number 

of students traveling on school buses. Schools may provide designated areas with 
proper distancing for bicycles to be stored during the school day, and may mark spaces 
for private vehicle drop-off and pick-up zones. 
(cf. 5142.2 - Safe Routes to School Program) 

 



8 
 

Note:  CDPH Guidance for the Prevention of COVID-19 Transmission for Gathering, issued March 16, 2020, 
states that gatherings that bring together people in a single room or single space at the same time, such as 
school sporting events, should be postponed or canceled until further guidance is released by CDPH. The 
Governor's Resilience Roadmap issued in spring 2020 establishes four stages for gradually reopening 
businesses and activities, with large gatherings generally withheld until stage 4. 

 
Large gatherings, such as assemblies, rallies, field trips, extracurricular activities, and athletic 
events, shall be suspended until the Board determines, consistent with guidance from state and 
local health officials, that it is safe to resume such activities.  The Superintendent or designee 
may grant an exception if an activity can be arranged to take place in phases or per class, or 
modified in a manner that would keep participants from violating social distancing 
recommendations.  When deciding whether an activity may resume, the Superintendent or 
designee may consider the size of the group that participates, the extent to which the students 
and other attendees have physical contact, whether the activity can be modified to avoid 
physical contact, if shared equipment is required for the activity, and if social distancing can 
be maintained. 
(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities)  
(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 
(cf. 6153 - School-Sponsored Trips) 
 
Personal Protective Equipment and Hygiene Practices 
 

Note:  CDC's Considerations for Schools reinforces the value of using cloth face coverings to protect oneself 
and others, but recognizes that wearing face coverings in all-day settings such as school may be challenging 
for students, particularly younger students.  CDC advises that face coverings be worn as feasible, but 
especially when social distancing is difficult. 
 
It is also recommended that all staff should use cloth face coverings and that food service workers and other 
staff who are in routine contact with the public should wear gloves. However, requiring staff to use such 
equipment may be subject to collective bargaining. Districts are encouraged to review their collective 
bargaining agreements and applicable memoranda of understanding and consult with legal counsel before 
requiring staff to use facial coverings. 

 
The Board encourages students, staff, and visitors to wear PPE while on school campuses or 
school buses, especially in high-traffic areas and/or when social distancing is not possible.  If 
the use of PPE in schools is required by state or local health officials, the district shall provide 
PPE to students and staff who do not bring their own personal PPE.  Students and staff shall 
be provided instruction in the proper use, removal, disposal, and cleaning of PPE. 
 

Note:  The following paragraph reflects a recommendation in CDC's Considerations for Schools and may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Face coverings shall not be required for children younger than two years, or for anyone who 
has trouble breathing or is incapacitated or otherwise unable to remove the covering without 
assistance.  Reasonable accommodations shall be made for anyone who is unable to wear a 
face covering for medical reasons. 
 
The Board also encourages students and staff to practice good hygiene, such as appropriate 
covering of coughs and sneezes and regular hand washing of at least 20 seconds, including 
before eating and after blowing one's nose, coughing, or sneezing.  The district shall provide 
adequate time and opportunity for students to wash hands, and shall make hand sanitizer 
available in areas where handwashing is less accessible. Signage regarding healthy hygiene 



9 
 

practices and how to stop the spread of COVID-19 may be posted in and around school 
facilities. 
 
Sanitization of Facilities and Equipment 
 
School facilities, school buses, and shared equipment such as desks, tables, sports/playground 
equipment, computers, door handles, light switches, and other frequently used equipment and 
supplies shall be cleaned and disinfected daily with appropriate cleaning agents. Disinfectants 
and cleaning agents shall be stored properly and in a manner not accessible to students. 
(cf. 3510 - Green School Operations)  
(cf. 3514.1 - Hazardous Substances)  
(cf. 4157/4257/4357 - Employee Safety) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that ventilation systems are operating properly 
and that air flow and ventilation within district facilities is increased, to the extent possible, by 
opening windows and doors and using fans and air conditioning. Garbage shall be removed 
daily and disposed of safely. 
 
Food Services 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students have access to clean drinking water 
other than through a drinking fountain, and food which is procured, stored, and served in a 
manner that reduces the likelihood of COVID-19 transmission and follows state and national 
guidelines for nutrition. 
(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 
 
For meals that are consumed on school grounds, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure 
that students will be able to maintain proper social distancing while eating. In order to do so, 
the Superintendent or designee may consider the consumption of meals in classrooms, gyms, 
the outdoors, and/or other district grounds. 
 
Meal service shall also be available to students participating in distance learning, which may 
include and/or entirely consist of a "grab and go" service or delivery. 
 
Due to the changing financial circumstances of many families as a result of COVID-19, the 
Superintendent or designee shall regularly provide information to students and 
parents/guardians regarding the free and reduced-price meal program, eligibility, and how to 
apply for the program. 
(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals) 
 
Staff 
 

Note:  The following section may be subject to negotiations with employee organizations. 
 
Prior to reopening campuses, the Superintendent or designee shall review staff assignments 
and, upon request, may reassign employees to reduce exposure to the virus, especially for high-
risk staff. When feasible for the position, employees may be granted a remote work assignment. 
(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment) 
(cf. 4113 - Assignment) 
(cf. 4113.4/4213.4/4313.4 - Temporary Modified/Light-Duty Assignment)  



10 
 

(cf. 4113.5/4213.5/4313.5 - Working Remotely) 
 

Note:  The Governor's Executive Order N-26-20 requires that districts continue to pay employees even if 
campuses close temporarily due to COVID-19.  Furthermore, according to Office of Management and Budget 
Memorandum M-20-17, during extraordinary circumstances such as a pandemic which interrupts district 
operations, employees paid with federal grant funds can continue to be paid out of federal grant funds as long 
as other similarly situated employees paid with nonfederal funds are continuing to get compensated.  See BP 
4151/4251/4351 - Employee Compensation. 

 
In the event that employees are unable to perform their duties due to partial or full closure of 
campuses, the Board shall compensate employees as permitted by law. 
(cf. 4151/4251/4351 - Employee Compensation) 
 
Any employee who contracts the virus, shows symptoms of possible infection, or is caring for 
someone who has been diagnosed with the virus shall self-quarantine for the period of time 
recommended by health authorities in order to prevent the spread of the disease to students or 
other staff. 
 

Note:  Education Code 44978 and 45191 and Labor Code 245-249 establish minimum sick leave entitlements 
for district employees; see AR 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave and AR 4261.1 - Personal 
Illness/Injury Leave.  If an employee continues to be absent for up to five months after exhausting all available 
sick leave, the employee may be entitled to differential pay in accordance with Education Code 44977, 44983, 
and 45196.  In addition, an employee may use leave granted by the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 
(29 USC 2601-2654) or California Family Rights Act (Government Code 12945.1-12945.2) for the 
employee's own serious health condition or to care for a child, spouse, or parent/guardian with a serious health 
condition; see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave. 

 
An employee may use personal illness and injury leave and/or family care and medical leave, 
as applicable, if the employee is unable to work or telework because the employee is ill or 
needs to take care of a spouse, parent/guardian, or child with COVID-19 or other serious health 
condition.  (Education Code 44978, 45191; Government Code 12945.1-12945.2; Labor Code 
245-249; 29 USC 2601-2654) 
(cf. 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave) 
(cf. 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave) 
(cf. 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave) 
 

Note:  The remainder of this section reflects provisions for expanded leave granted by the federal Families 
First Coronavirus Response Act (P.L. 116-127). 
 
29 USC 2601 provides up to 80 hours of paid sick leave for eligible employees for the reasons specified in 
items #1-6 below.  Eligible employees are entitled to their regular rate of pay for leave taken pursuant to items 
#1-3 (up to $511 per day and $5,110 in total) or two-thirds their regular rate of pay for leave taken pursuant 
to items #4-6 (up to $200 per day or $2,000 in total).  The district must not require an employee to use other 
paid leave before the employee uses the paid sick leave granted under this Act. 

 
Until December 31, 2020, an eligible employee may take paid sick leave for up to 80 hours, or 
the number of hours that a part-time employee works on average over a two-week period, if 
the employee is unable to work or telework because the employee is:  (29 USC 2601) 
 
 
 
 
 



11 
 

1. Subject to a federal, state, or local quarantine or isolation order related to COVID-19 
 
 
2. Advised by a health care provider to self-quarantine due to concerns related to COVID-

19 
 
3 Experiencing symptoms of COVID-19 and seeking a medical diagnosis 
 
4. Caring for an individual who is subject to a federal, state, or local quarantine or 

isolation order or has been advised by a health care provider to self-quarantine  
 
5. Caring for the employee's child whose school or child care provider is closed or 

unavailable for reasons related to COVID-19 
 
6. Experiencing any other substantially similar condition specified by the U.S. 

Department of Health and Human Services 
 
Employees shall be paid their regular rate of pay for leave taken pursuant to items #1-3 above, 
or two-thirds their regular rate of pay for leave taken pursuant to items #4-6 above, within the 
limits specified in law.  (29 USC 2601) 
 

Note:  Leave granted to an employee who needs to care for a child whose school or child care provider is 
closed due to COVID-19 (item #5 above) may be extended pursuant to 29 USC 2620.  Employees must be 
restored to their position following such leave, unless the district has fewer than 25 employees and specified 
conditions are met. 

 
For the purpose specified in item #5 above, eligible employees who have been employed by 
the district for at least 30 calendar days shall be granted extended leave for up to 12 work 
weeks upon request.  The first 10 days of such leave shall be unpaid unless the employee uses 
accrued vacation leave, personal leave, sick leave, or paid sick leave granted pursuant to 29 
USC 2601.  After the first 10 days, the district shall pay not less than two-thirds of the 
employee's regular pay for the number of hours per week the employee normally works, with 
a maximum of $200 per day and $10,000 for the total period.  Eligibility for extended leave 
for this purpose is subject to the employee's eligibility for leave pursuant to the Family and 
Medical Leave Act.  (29 USC 2601, 2620) 
 

Note:  The following notice is available on the web site of the U.S. Department of Labor. 
 
The district shall post, in conspicuous places where employee notices are customarily posted, 
a notice prepared by the U.S. Department of Labor regarding the requirements of 29 USC 2601 
and 2620.  (29 USC 2601)  
 
Follow-Up with Infected Persons/Contact Tracing 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall work with county health officials to track confirmed 
cases of students and staff with COVID-19, including, but not limited to, following up with 
students, their parents/guardians, and staff who exhibit symptoms while at school and those 
who report an absence or miss work due to illness.  The Superintendent or designee shall report 
confirmed cases to local health authorities. 



12 
 

 
Note:  The following optional paragraph reflects a recommendation in CDC's Interim Guidance for Schools 
and Day Camps pertaining to contact-tracing. 

 
If a student, family member of a student, or staff member has tested positive for COVID-19, 
the district shall assist local health officials in conducting contact-tracing to identify potentially 
exposed individuals and ask them to self-quarantine, which may include not participating in 
on-campus instruction. While maintaining the privacy of the infected person, the district shall 
inform other students and staff with whom the infected person may have had contact in school. 
 
Nondiscrimination 
 
The Board prohibits discrimination based on actual or perceived medical condition or disability 
status.  (Government Code 11135)  
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Individual students and staff shall not be identified as being COVID-positive, nor shall students 
be shamed, treated differently, or denied access to a free and appropriate public education 
because of their COVID-19 status or medical condition. Staff shall not disclose confidential or 
privileged information, including the medical history or health information of students and 
staff.  (Education Code 49450) 
(cf. 4119.23/4219.23/4319.23 - Unauthorized Release of Confidential/Privileged Information)    
 
The Superintendent or designee shall investigate any reports of harassment, intimidation, and 
bullying targeted at any student based on COVID status, exposure, or high-risk status. 
(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
 
Community Relations 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall use a variety of methods to regularly communicate with 
students, parents/guardians, and the community regarding district operations, school 
schedules, and steps the district is taking to promote the health and safety of students. In 
addition, the members of the Board have a responsibility as community leaders to 
communicate matters of public interest in a manner that is consistent with Board policies and 
bylaws regarding public statements. 
(cf. 1100 - Communication with the Public) 
(cf. 1112 - Media Relations) 
(cf. 9010 - Public Statements) 
 
The district shall continue to collaborate with local health officials and agencies, community 
organizations, and other stakeholders to ensure that district operations reflect current 
recommendations and best practices for keeping students, staff, and visitors safe during the 
COVID-19 state of emergency. The Superintendent or designee shall keep informed about 
resources and services available in the community to assist students and families in need. 
(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools) 
(cf. 1700 - Relations Between Private Industry and the Schools) 
 
 



13 
 

While the Board recognizes the rights of parents/guardians to participate in the education of 
their  children and the critical importance of parental involvement in the educational process, 
all visitors and volunteers are encouraged to respect guidelines regarding social distancing and 
large gatherings.  School visitors and volunteers shall be limited in number and expected to 
observe all district protocols for COVID-19.  The Superintendent or designee may place 
signage around the school advising that visitors and volunteers may be required to use PPE 
while on school sites and interacting with school personnel, and may keep a supply of such 
equipment available for their use. 
(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance) 
(cf. 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders)  
 
Use of school facilities by persons or organizations for community purposes involving large 
gatherings shall be suspended until the Board determines, consistent with guidance from state 
and local health officials, that it is safe to resume such activities. The Superintendent or 
designee may only grant an exception if the number of participants in the activity will be 
limited and the person or organization follows the processes and protocols established by the 
district to minimize the health risks associated with COVID-19. 
(cf. 1330 - Use of School Facilities) 
 
Potential Reclosure of Campus 
 

Note:  The following section reflects CDC's Interim Guidance for Administrators of U.S. K-12 Schools and 
Child Care Programs to Plan, Prepare, and Respond to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19), which 
describes appropriate mitigation strategies based on the level of community transmission of COVID-19 and 
the presence of COVID-19 cases within a school.  Such mitigation strategies may include closing campuses 
when the district determines, in consultation with state and local health officials, that keeping campuses open 
presents a risk to students, staff, and the community. 

 
The district shall monitor student and staff absences and data provided by local health officials 
to determine if there is a risk of resurgence of COVID-19 and a need to reclose school 
campuses for the protection of students, staff, and the community. The Superintendent or 
designee shall develop plans and procedures for alternative methods of operations to the extent 
possible in the event that reclosure becomes necessary. 
 
If any person diagnosed with COVID-19 is known to have been in district building(s), the 
Superintendent or designee shall immediately notify local health officials to determine a course 
of action.  The building should be closed until cleaning and disinfecting of the building can be 
completed and the district can consult with local health officials to determine, based on up-to-
date information about the specific cases in the community, whether an extended closure is 
needed to stop or slow further spread of COVID-19. 
 
If local health officials report that there has been no community transmission of COVID-19, 
or minimal to moderate transmission in the community, school campuses may not necessarily 
be closed, but the district shall continue to take all preventative measures described in this 
policy. 
 
If local health officials report substantial community transmission of COVID-19, campus 
closures of more than two weeks may be necessary, and the Superintendent or designee shall 
cancel group activities and events during that period.  Campuses shall not reopen until 
recommended by local health officials. 
 



14 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
44978  Sick leave for certificated employees 
45191  Leave of absence for illness and injury, classified employees 
48205  Excused absences 
48213  Prior parent notification of exclusion; exemption 
48240  Supervisors of attendance 
49451  Exemption from physical exam; exclusion from attendance 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
11135  Nondiscrimination in programs or activities funded by state 
12945.1-12945.2  California Family Rights Act 
HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 
120230  Exclusion from attendance 
LABOR CODE 
245-249  Healthy Workplaces, Healthy Families Act of 2014 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 2 
11087-11098  California Family Rights Act 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
202  Exclusion from attendance 
306  Explanation of absence 
420-421  Record of verification of absence due to illness and other causes 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 29 
2601-2654  Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended, especially: 
2601  Paid sick leave 
2620  Public health emergency leave 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 
1760 Note  National School Lunch program waivers addressing COVID-19 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 29 
825.100-825.702  Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 

Management Resources: 
CSBA PUBLICATIONS 
Sample School Board Resolution on Grading During Emergency School Closures  
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
FAQs for 2019 Novel Coronavirus 
FAQs on Grading and Graduation Requirements 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH PUBLICATIONS 
CDPH Guidance for the Prevention of COVID-19 Transmission for Gathering, March 16, 2020 
School Guidance on Novel Coronavirus or COVID-19, March 7, 2020 
CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION PUBLICATIONS 
Considerations for Schools, rev. May 19, 2020 
Interim Guidance for Schools and Day Camps, May 2020 
Interim Guidance for Administrators of U.S. K-12 Schools and Child Care Programs to Plan, Prepare, and 
Respond to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19), March 25, 2020 
OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR PUBLICATIONS 
Executive Order N-30-20, March 17, 2020 
Executive Order N-26-20, March 13, 2020 
OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET PUBLICATIONS 
Administrative Relief for Recipients and Applicants of Federal Financial Assistance Directly Impacted by the 
Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Due to Loss of Operations, Memorandum M-20-17, March 19, 2020 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR POSTERS 
Employee Rights:  Paid Sick Leave and Expanded Family and Medical Leave Under the Families First 
Coronavirus Response Act 
WEB SITES 
CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 
California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 
California Department of Public Health:  https://www.cdph.ca.gov 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention:  https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov 
Office of the Governor:  https://www.gov.ca.gov 
Office of Management and Budget:  https://www.whitehouse.gov/omb 
U.S. Department of Labor:  https://www.dol.gov 
World Health Organization:  https://www.who.int 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: June 23, 2020 



Page 1 of 2 
 

CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET – June 23, 2020 
 
 

Note: Descriptions below identify revisions made to CSBA's sample board policies, administrative regulations, 
board bylaws, and/or exhibits. Editorial changes have also been made. Districts and county offices of education 
should review the sample materials and modify their own policies accordingly. 

 
 
BP/AR 3551 - Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund 
(BP/AR revised) 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 265) which provides that students with unpaid meal fees must not 
be denied a reimbursable meal of their choice, eliminating the possibility that any student is required to 
receive an alternate meal. Policy also reflects a waiver granted by the U.S. Department of Agriculture 
extending the three-year Administrative Review cycle to a five-year cycle for school years 2017-18 through 
2021-22. Regulation updated to reorganize the section on "Unpaid and Delinquent Meal Charges" to 
emphasize the prohibition against directing any action toward a student to collect unpaid school meal fees 
and reflect requirements, as amended by SB 265, to treat students with unpaid meal fees the same as other 
students. 

 
 
BP 4112.2 - Certification 
(BP revised) 

Policy updated to clarify the hiring hierarchy if the district is unable to hire a person who possesses a clear 
or preliminary credential, including one who is approved for a limited assignment option. Policy reflects 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) Coded Correspondence stating that, if the district needs to hire 
a person who has been granted a credential waiver by CTC, that person must qualify for a "variable term 
waiver." Policy also expands section on "National Board for Professional Teaching Standards Certification" 
to add examples of incentives that may encourage teacher participation. 

 
 
E 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications 
(E revised) 

Exhibit updated to reflect NEW LAWS adding requirements to notify employees regarding the district's 
policy on lactation accommodation (SB 142) and the deadline to withdraw funds from a flexible spending 
account before the end of the plan year (AB 1554). Exhibit also revises the policy reference for the March 
15 reelection notice for certificated employees, now addressed in BP 4116, and adds the requirement to notify 
the superintendent at least 45 days before the expiration of the employment contract of any decision not to 
reemploy the superintendent, as specified in BP 2121. 

 
 
BP/AR 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention 
(BP/AR revised) 

Policy and regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 1767) which mandates age-appropriate policy on 
suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention for students in grades K-6 beginning in the 2020-21 school 
year. Policy reflects requirements to consult with specified stakeholders on policy development, coordinate 
with the county mental health plan whenever a referral is made for mental health or related services for a 
student in grades K-6 who is a Medi-Cal beneficiary, and ensure that employees act within the authorization 
and scope of their credential or license. Policy also reflects NEW LAW (AB 34) which requires the district, 
beginning in the 2020-21 school year, to post its suicide prevention policy in a prominent location on its web 
site. Regulation updated to move material regarding the printing of the national suicide hotline number on 
student identification cards to a new section. Regulation also adds an optional postvention strategy to identify 
and monitor students significantly affected by suicide and those at risk of imitative behavior. 

 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

BP/AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process 
(BP/AR revised) 

Policy and regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 419) which prohibits districts from suspending 
students in grades 4-8 for disrupting school activities or willfully defying the authority of school personnel. 
Policy also references NEW LAW (AB 982) which requires a district to provide a student who is suspended 
for two or more days with the homework assigned during the period of suspension. Regulation adds new 
section on "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12" reflecting the option to 
suspend, but not expel, a student in grades 9-12 for disruption or willful defiance. 

 
 
BP/AR 6172.1 - Concurrent Enrollment in College Classes 
(BP/AR revised *NEW*) 

Policy updated to include exceptions in determining the five percent enrollment cap on the number of students 
at each grade level who may be recommended for community college summer session and to reflect NEW 
LAW (AB 1729) which extends such exceptions through January 1, 2027. Policy reflects NEW LAW (SB 
554) which authorizes an adult education student pursuing a high school diploma or high school equivalency 
certificate to attend community college as a special part-time student. Policy and regulation add new sections 
for districts that wish to establish a College and Career Access Pathways (CCAP) partnership program, in 
which the board enters into an agreement with the governing board of a community college district to offer 
or expand dual enrollment opportunities for students who may not already be college bound or are 
unrepresented in higher education. Regulation clarifies the board's responsibility, whenever a community 
college class will be offered on a high school campus, to determine the time that the campus is considered 
open to the general public and available for members of the public to attend such a class at the high school. 



1 
**Revisions** - reviewed and revised by Adrienne Garza & Nona Griesert 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Business and Noninstructional Operations 
BP 3551 
 
FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND 
 

Note:  The following policy may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to U.S. Department of Agriculture 
(USDA) Memorandum SP 46-2016, districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program 
(42 USC 1751-1769j, 1773) are mandated to adopt policy addressing meal charges, including delinquent meal 
charges; see the section "Meal Sales" below and the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
Pursuant to 7 CFR 210.9, 210.14, and 220.7, districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast 
program must maintain a nonprofit school food service program. Revenues received through the program may be 
used for the operation or improvement of the food service program, but not to purchase land or buildings unless 
otherwise approved by USDA's Food and Nutrition Services, or to construct buildings. Authorized expenditures 
are specified in Education Code 38101 and defined in the California Department of Education's (CDE) California 
School Accounting Manual. 

 
The Governing Board intends that school food services shall be a self-supporting, nonprofit 
program. To ensure program quality and increase cost effectiveness, the Superintendent or 
designee shall centralize and direct the purchasing of foods and supplies, the planning of menus, 
and the auditing of all food service accounts for the district. 
(cf. 3100 - Budget) 
(cf. 3300 - Expenditures and Purchases) 
(cf. 3311 - Bids) 
(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 
(cf. 3552 - Summer Meal Program) 
(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that participate in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast 
Program and may be adapted for use by other districts. Pursuant to 42 USC 1776 and 7 CFR 210.30, USDA has 
established minimum professional standards for food service directors and granted CDE the authority to adopt 
more flexible standards for districts with average daily attendance of less than 2,500. See CDE's Nutrition Services 
Division Management Bulletin 10-2019 for information about state hiring standards. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that food service director(s) possess the qualifications 
required by 7 CFR 210.30 and California Department of Education (CDE) standards. 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast 
Program. Pursuant to 42 USC 1776, such districts must ensure that food service personnel and other appropriate 
personnel who conduct or oversee administrative procedures receive training on administrative practices (i.e., 
training in application, certification, verification, meal counting, and meal claiming procedures) at least once each 
year.  In addition, all food service personnel are required to receive annual training that is designed to improve the 
accuracy of approvals for free and reduced-price meals and the identification of reimbursable meals at the point of 
service and to ensure program compliance and integrity. Food service personnel must obtain certification on an 
annual basis to demonstrate competence in the training. In addition, training is required to include modules on 
nutrition, health and food safety standards and methodologies, and any other appropriate topics as determined by 
the U.S. Secretary of Agriculture.  CDE provides online training that meets these requirements; see CDE's web 
site. 

 



2 

At least once each year, food service administrators, other appropriate personnel who conduct or 
oversee administrative procedures, and other food service personnel shall receive training provided 
by the CDE.  (42 USC 1776) 
 
Meal Sales 
 

Note:  The following section may be revised by districts that have one or more high-poverty schools that operate 
under the federal universal meal service provision (42 USC 1759a), which provides breakfast and/or lunch free of 
charge to all students at the school. For further information, see BP 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals. 

 
Meals may be sold to students, district employees, Board members, and employees or members of 
the fund or association maintaining the cafeteria.  (Education Code 38082) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 38082, the Governing Board may adopt a resolution to authorize serving meals 
to additional persons other than those listed above. CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin 00-
111 states that the Board's policy or resolution must specify the means for serving those persons and indicates that 
using funds from the National School Lunch or Breakfast Program to serve any nonstudent would be contrary to 
program goals. The following optional paragraph is for districts that have adopted such a resolution and should 
be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
In addition, meals may be sold to nonstudents, including parents/guardians, volunteers, students' 
siblings, or other individuals, who are on campus for a legitimate purpose. Any meals served to 
nonstudents shall not be subsidized by federal or state reimbursements, food service revenues, or 
U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) foods. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 38084, the district may determine meal prices consistent with the goal of paying 
the costs of maintaining the cafeterias (exclusive of the costs of housing and equipping cafeterias or other costs 
determined by Board resolution, which are paid from district funds other than the cafeteria fund, pursuant to 
Education Code 38100). 
 
Students who meet federal eligibility criteria for the reduced-price meal program cannot be charged more than the 
amounts listed in 42 USC 1758 and 1773; see AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals.  For information about 
setting prices for full-price meals, see 42 USC 1760 and CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin 
SNP 11-2019. 

 
Meal prices, as recommended by the Superintendent or designee and approved by the Board, shall 
be based on the costs of providing food services and consistent with Education Code 38084 and 
42 USC 1760. Students who are enrolled in the free or reduced-price meal program shall receive 
meals free of charge or at a reduced price in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative 
regulation. 
(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to USDA Memorandum SP 46-2016, districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or 
Breakfast Program are mandated to have a written and clearly communicated meal charge policy which includes, 
but is not limited to, policy on the collection of delinquent meal charge debt. See the accompanying administrative 
regulation for additional language fulfilling this mandate. 

The Superintendent or designee shall establish strategies and procedures for the collection of meal 
payments, including delinquent meal payments. Such procedures shall conform with BP/AR 3553 
- Free and Reduced Price Meals, 2 CFR 200.426, and any applicable CDE guidance. The 
Superintendent or designee shall clearly communicate these procedures to students and 
parents/guardians, and shall make this policy and the accompanying administrative regulation 
available to the public pursuant to Education Code 49557.5. 



3 

 
Note:  Education Code 49557.5 requires any district that participates in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast 
Program to ensure that students whose parents/guardians have unpaid meal fees are not shamed or treated 
differently than other students. As amended by SB 265 (Ch. 785, Statutes of 2019), Education Code 49557.5 
provides that students with unpaid meal fees must not be denied a reimbursable meal of their choice, eliminating 
the possibility that a school could provide an alternative meal to a student with unpaid meal fees. For further 
information about unpaid meal charges, see CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-
2017. 
 
In addition, Education Code 49557 requires the Board to approve a plan that ensures students eligible to receive 
free or reduced-price meals are not treated differently from other students, including, but not limited to, assurance 
that eligible students will not be overtly identified by the use of special tokens, tickets, or any other means. For 
additional language addressing this requirement, see BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a student whose parent/guardian has unpaid 
school meal fees or a student who is enrolled in the free or reduced-price meal program is not 
overtly identified by the use of special tokens, tickets, or other means and is not shamed, treated 
differently, or serveddenied a meal that differs fromof the meal served to other studentsstudent's 
choice.  (Education Code 49557, 49557.5) 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 0415 - Equity) 
 
Cafeteria Fund 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 38090, money received for the sale of food or for any services performed by 
the cafeterias may be paid into the county treasury to the credit of a "cafeteria fund" for the district. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish a cafeteria fund independent of the district's general 
fund. 
 

Note:  Education Code 38103 allows the Board, at its discretion and with the approval of the County 
Superintendent of Schools who is responsible for a countywide payroll/retirement system under Education Code 
42646, to have wages, salaries, and benefits of food service employees paid either from the district's general fund 
(Option 1 below) or from the district's cafeteria fund (Option 2). 

 
The wages, salaries, and benefits of food service employees shall be paid from the cafeteria fund.  
(Education Code 38103) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 2 CFR Part 200, Appendix VII 
and USDA guidance, Indirect Costs:  Guidance for State Agencies and School Food Authorities, provide 
information regarding allowable indirect costs that may be charged to the nonprofit school food service account.  
Also see the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that state and federal funds provided through school 
meal programs are allocated only for purposes related to the operation or improvement of food 
services and reasonable and necessary indirect program costs as allowed by law. 
(cf. 3230 - Federal Grant Funds) 
(cf. 3400 - Management of District Assets/Accounts) 
(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability) 
 
 
 
 



4 

Contracts with Outside Services 
 

Note:  The following section is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 45103.5, the district is authorized to contract 
for consulting services related to food service management. 42 USC 1758, 7 CFR 210.16, and Education Code 
45103.5 authorize a district, under specified conditions and with approval of CDE, to contract with a food service 
management company to manage its food service operation in one or more of its schools.  See the accompanying 
administrative regulation for related requirements. 

 
With Board approval, the district may enter into a contract for food service consulting services or 
management services in one or more district schools.  (Education Code 45103.5; 42 USC 1758; 7 
CFR 210.16) 
(cf. 3312 - Contracts) 
(cf. 3600 - Consultants) 
 
Procurement of Foods, Equipment and Supplies 
 

Note:  The following two paragraphs reflect requirements for districts participating in the National School Lunch 
and/or Breakfast Program. Pursuant to 7 CFR 210.21, districts are required to comply with all requirements for 
purchasing commercial food products served in the school meal programs, including those outlined in the Buy 
American provision. USDA Memorandum SP 38-2017 clarifies that a district participating in the National School 
Lunch and/or Breakfast Program or any entity purchasing food on its behalf must, to the maximum extent 
practicable, purchase domestically grown and processed foods, as defined. According to the Memorandum, a 
domestic commodity or product is deemed to be "substantially using" domestic agricultural commodities when 
over 51 percent of the final processed product consists of agricultural commodities produced in the United States. 
 
Limited exceptions to the Buy American requirement are described in USDA Memorandum SP 38-2017. If the 
district is using one of these exceptions, it must maintain documentation justifying the exception(s). 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 49563, CDE is required to make resources, requirements, and best practices related 
to the Buy American provision available on its web site and to provide districts with related USDA guidance or 
regulations as updates are issued. 

 
To the maximum extent practicable, foods purchased for use in school meals by the district or by 
any entity purchasing food on its behalf shall be domestic commodities or products. Domestic 
commodity or product means an agricultural commodity that is produced in the United States and 
a food product that is processed in the United States substantially using agricultural commodities 
that are produced in the United States.  (42 USC 1760; 7 CFR 210.21) 
 
A nondomestic food product may be purchased for use in the district's food service program only 
as a last resort when the product is not produced or manufactured in the United States in sufficient 
and reasonablereasonably available quantities of a satisfactory quality, or when competitive bids 
reveal the costs of a United States product are significantly higher than the nondomestic product. 
In such cases, the Superintendent or designee shall retain documentation justifying the use of the 
exception. 
 
Furthermore, the district shall accept a bid or price for an agricultural product grown in California 
before accepting a bid or price for an agricultural product grown outside the state, if the quality of 
the California-grown product is comparable and the bid or price does not exceed the lowest bid or 
price of a product produced outside the state.  (Food and Agriculture Code 58595) 
 
 



5 

Note:  Pursuant to Public Contract Code 20111, districts participating in a federally funded child nutrition program, 
such as the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program, must comply with the federal procurement standards 
of 2 CFR 200.318-200.326 in regard to bid solicitations and awards. Also see BP/AR 3230 - Federal Grant Funds. 
Districts that do not participate in such a program may revise the following paragraph. 

 
Bid solicitations and awards for purchases of equipment, materials, or supplies in support of the 
district's child nutrition program, or for contracts awarded pursuant to Public Contract Code 2000, 
shall be consistent with the federal procurement standards in 2 CFR 200.318-200.326. Awards 
shall be let to the most responsive and responsible party. Price shall be the primary consideration, 
but not the only determining factor, in making such an award.  (Public Contract Code 20111) 
 
Program Monitoring and Evaluation 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall present to the Board, at least annually, financial reports 
regarding revenues and expenditures related to the food service program. 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that have one or more schools participating in the National 
School Lunch Program, School Breakfast Program, Seamless Summer Feeding Option, and/or other federal meal 
program.  The state monitoring process (the Administrative Review) includes a review of district compliance with 
requirements for federal meal programs, including a review of resource management in the food service program 
as provided in the following paragraph. Each district is reviewed at least once every three years except that, for 
school years from 2017-2019 through 2021-22, the three-year review cycle was extended to a five-year cycle 
pursuant to a waiver submitted by CDE's Nutrition Services Division to USDA. See CDE's nutrition services web 
site for a current list of documents that may be requested for the review. 
 
During the Administrative Review, CDE will review district policies on unpaid meal charges, unpaid meal debt, 
the prohibition against shaming of students whose families cannot pay for a meal or who have unpaid meal debt, 
and processes for notifying parents/guardians of these policies at the beginning of the school year and when a 
student enrolls during the school year. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide all necessary documentation required for the 
Administrative Review conducted by the CDE to ensure compliance of the district's food service 
program with federal requirements related to maintenance of the nonprofit school food service 
account, meal charges, paid lunch equity, revenue from nonprogram goods, indirect costs, and 
USDA foods. 
(cf. 3555 - Nutrition Program Compliance) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
38080-38086.1  Cafeteria, establishment and use 
38090-38095  Cafeterias, funds and accounts 
38100-38103  Cafeterias, allocation of charges 
42646  Alternate payroll procedure 
45103.5  Contracts for management consulting services; restrictions 
49490-49493  School breakfast and lunch programs 
49500-49505  School meals 
49550-49564.5  Meals for needy students, especially: 
49550.5  Universal breakfast 
49554  Contract for services 
49580-49581  Food recovery program 
FOOD AND AGRICULTURE CODE 
58595  Preference for California-grown agricultural products 
HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 
113700-114437  California Retail Food Code 
PUBLIC CONTRACT CODE 
2000-2002  Responsive bidders 



6 

20111  Contracts 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
15550-15565  School lunch and breakfast programs 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 
1751-1769j  School lunch programs 
1771-17911793  Child nutrition, including: 
1773  School breakfast program 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 2 
200.56  Indirect costs, definition 
200.317-200.326  Procurement standards 
200.400-200.475  Cost principles 
200 Appendix VII  Indirect cost proposals 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 7 
210.1-210.31 33 National School Lunch Program 
220.1-220.2122  National School Breakfast Program 
245.8  Nondiscrimination practices for students eligible for free and reduced price meals and free milk 
250.1-250.70  USDA foods 

Management Resources: 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
California School Accounting Manual 
Food Distribution Program Administrative Manual  
Paid Lunch Equity Requirement and Calculation Tool-Updated Guidance for School Year 2019-20, NSD Management 
Bulletin, SNP-11-2019, May 2019 
Professional Standards in the SNP and New Hiring Flexibility, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-10-2019, April 2019 
Paid Lunch Equity RequirementSenate Bill 250: Child Hunger Prevention and Calculation ToolFair Treatment Act of 
2017 and USDA Meal Charge Policy Requirements, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-1205-2018, MayJanuary 2018 
Clarification for the Use of Alternate Meals in the National School Lunch and School Breakfast Programs, and 
Additional Guidance on the Handling of Unpaid Meal Charges, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-03-2018, February 
2018 
Storage and Inventory Management of U.S. Department of Agriculture Foods, NSD Management Bulletin, FDP-01-
2018, January 2018 
Unpaid Meal Charges:  Local Meal Charge Policies, Clarification on Collection of Delinquent Meal Payments, and 
Excess Student Account Balances, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-03-2017, April 2017 
Procuring and Monitoring of Food Service Management Contracts, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-13-2015, January 
2015 
Cafeteria Funds--Allowable Uses, NSD Management Bulletin, NSD-SNP-07-2013, May 2013 
Adult and Sibling Meals in the National School Lunch and School Breakfast Programs, NSD Management Bulletin, 00-
111, July 2000 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE PUBLICATIONS 
FAQs About School Meals - FAQs 
Compliance with and Enforcement of the Buy American Provision in the National School Lunch Program, SP 38-2017, 
June 2017 
Overcoming the Unpaid Meal Challenge:  Proven Strategies from Our Nation's Schools, SP 29-2017, May 2017 
Unpaid Meal Charges:  Guidance and Q&A, SP 23-2017, March 2017 
Indirect Costs:  Guidance for State Agencies and School Food Authorities SP 60-2016, September 2016 
Unpaid Meal Charges:  Local Meal Charge Policies, SP 46-2016, July 2016 
Discretionary Elimination of Reduced Price Charges in the School Meal Programs, SP 17-2014, January 2014 
WEB SITES 
California Department of Education, Nutrition Services Division:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/nu 
California School Nutrition Association:  http://www.calsna.org 
U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service:  http://www.fns.usda.gov/cnd 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007  
revised: June 14, 2011  
revised: February 11, 2014 
revised: August 8, 2017 
revised: May 8, 2018 
revised: August 13, 2019 
revised: June 23, 2020 



1 
**Revisions** - reviewed and revised by Adrienne Garza & Nona Griesert 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation  
Business and Noninstructional Operations 
AR 3551 
 
FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND 
 

Note:  Districts that provide breakfast and/or lunch free of charge to all students (i.e., "universal meal service") at 
one or more schools pursuant to 42 USC 1759a or Education Code 49550.5 should revise the following 
administrative regulation accordingly. Also see BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals. 

 
Payments for Meals 
 

Note:  State and federal law (Education Code 49550, 49557; 42 USC 1758, 1773; 7 CFR 245.8) require that all 
students eligible for free and reduced-price meals receive a reimbursable meal during each school day, which must 
be the same meal choice offered to noneligible students; see BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals. Districts 
therefore cannot serve an alternate meal (i.e., a meal that is different than the day's advertised meal) to a student 
eligible for reduced-price meals who does not have the ability to pay or who fails to provide a meal ticket or other 
medium of exchange on a given day. 
 
In addition to providing meals at no cost to students who are eligible, the district may offer meals at no cost to 
students who qualify for reduced-price benefits. Districts that choose to eliminate reduced-price meal charges may 
still claim the meals at the reduced-price rate, but the cost difference between the reduced-price meal and the no-
cost meal must be covered by the district's cafeteria fund.  For more information, see the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture's (USDA) Memorandum SP 17-2014. 
 
The following section includes recommendations of the California Department of Education's (CDE) Nutrition 
Services Division Management Bulletin and the USDA's "School Meals - FAQs" on the USDA's web site and may 
be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
With the exception of students who are eligible to receive meals at no cost, students may pay on a 
per-meal basis or may submit payments in advance. The Superintendent or designee shall maintain 
a system for accurately recording payments received and tracking meals provided to each student. 
(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 
(cf. 3552 - Summer Meal Program) 
(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals) 
(cf. 3555 - Nutrition Program Compliance) 
 

Note:  Districts should, at a minimum, inform parents/guardians at the beginning of the school year and on an 
ongoing basis of district practices for students who have lost or forgotten their meal payment. In addition, districts 
should set up a system for notifying parents/guardians when a student's meal payment account has a low or negative 
balance. 
 
According to USDA's Memorandum SP-23-2017, the district's policy on delinquent meal payments must be 
communicated in writing to all households at the start of each school year and to households transferring to the 
school during the school year. CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017 states that, 
at a minimum, districts should use the methods specified below to communicate the district's meal policy. 

 
At the beginning of the school year, and whenever a student enrolls during the school year, 
parents/guardians shall be notified of the district's meal payment policies and be encouraged to 
prepay for meals whenever possible. The Superintendent or designee shall communicate the 
district's meal payment policies through multiple methods, including, but not limited to: 



2 

 
1. Explaining the meal charge policy within registration materials provided to 

parents/guardians at the start of the school year 
 
2. Including the policy in print versions of student handbooks, if provided to 

parents/guardians annually 
 
3. Providing the policy whenever parents/guardians are notified regarding the application 

process for free and reduced-price meals, such as in the distribution of applications at the 
start of the school year 

 
4. Posting the policy on the district's web site 
 
5. Establishing a system to notify parents/guardians when a student's meal payment account 

has a low or negative balance 
(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites) 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 

 
In order to avoid potential misuse of a student's food service account by someone other than the 
student in whose name the account has been established, the Superintendent or designee shall 
verify a student's identity when setting up the account and when charging any meal to the account. 
The Superintendent or designee shall investigate any claim that a bill does not belong to a student 
or is inaccurate, and shall open a new account as appropriate for a student whose account appears 
to have been misused. 
(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records) 
(cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017, districts must ensure 
that students who are approved for reduced-price meals receive all meals that are paid for. Any excess payments 
must be either carried over or refunded to the parents/guardians. The following paragraph extends this provision 
to also apply to students paying for full-price meals. 

 
Any payments made to a student's food service account shall, if not used within the school year, 
be carried over into the next school year or be refunded to the student's parents/guardians. 
 
Unpaid and Delinquent Meal Charges 
 

Note:  The following section reflects requirements applicable to districts participating in the National School Lunch 
and/or Breakfast Program and may also be used by districts that do not participate in the program. Pursuant to 
USDA Memorandum SP 46-2016, districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program 
are mandated to have a written and clearly communicated meal charge policy which includes, but is not limited 
to, policy on the collection of delinquent meal charge debt. Such policy may be consistent for all students or vary 
by grade level. The following section may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
The district shall not direct any action toward a student to collect unpaid school meal fees.  
(Education Code 49557.5) 
 
Students who have unpaid meal charges shall be served a meal of their choice throughout the 
school year regardless of the level of debt incurred by the household. Such students shall not be 
overtly identified by the use of special tokens, tickets, or other means and shall not be shamed, 
treated differently, or denied a meal of their choice.  (Education Code 49557, 49557.5) 



3 

 
Note:  Education Code 49557.5 requires that parents/guardians be notified no later than 10 days after a student's 
school meal account has reached a negative balance. At its discretion, the district may choose to also notify 
parents/guardians before the student's meal account reaches a negative balance. The following paragraph may be 
modified to reflect district practice. 

 
No later than 10 days after a student's school meal account has reached a negative balance, the 
Superintendent or designee shall so notify the student's parent/guardian. Before sending this 
notification, the district shall exhaust all options and methods to directly certify the student for free 
or reduced-price meals. If the district is not able to directly certify the student, the notice to the 
parent/guardian shall include a paper copy of, or an electronic link to, an application for free or 
reduced-price meals and the Superintendent or designee shall contact the parent/guardian to 
encourage submission of the application.  (Education Code 49557.5) 
 
The district may attempt to collect unpaid school meal fees from a parent/guardian, but shall not 
use a debt collector.  (Education Code 49557.5) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph reflects CDE guidance in its Nutrition Services Division Management 
Bulletin SNP-03-2017. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may enter into an agreement with a student's parent/guardian for 
payment of the student's unpaid meal charge balance over a period of time. As necessary, the 
repayment plan may allow the unrecovered or delinquent debt to carry over into the next fiscal 
year. 
 

Note:  CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017 requires that the district's unpaid 
meal policy conform with the cost principles set forth in 2 CFR 200.426, as provided below. 

 
The district shall not direct any action toward a student to collect unpaid school meal fees.  
(Education Code 49557.5) 
 
The district's efforts to collect debt shall be consistent with district policies and procedures, 
California Department of Education (CDE) guidance, and 2 CFR 200.426. The district shall not 
spend more than the actual debt owed in efforts to recover unpaid meal charges. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017, delinquent debt must 
be reclassified as bad debt and written off as an operating loss if it is not paid by the end of the fiscal year in which 
the debt was incurred, unless the district enters into a repayment plan with the parent/guardian prior to the end of 
the fiscal year or the debt occurs fewer than 90 days prior to the end of the fiscal year. Federal funds are not 
available to reimburse the district for bad debt. Districts are required to maintain related records in accordance 
with 7 CFR 210.9 and 210.15. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain records of the efforts made to collect unpaid meal 
charges and, if applicable, financial documentation showing when the unpaid meal balance has 
become an operating loss. 
 
Reimbursement Claims 
 

Note:  To streamline administration of state and federal meal programs, CDE has developed an online Child 
Nutrition Information and Payment System which must be used to submit reimbursement claims and to submit 
and track the status of applications and USDA food requests. 

 



4 

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain records of the number of meals served each day by 
school site and by category of free, reduced-price, and full-price meals.  The Superintendent or 
designee shall submit reimbursement claims for school meals to CDE using the online Child 
Nutrition Information and Payment System. 
 
Donation of Leftover Food 
 
To minimize waste and reduce food insecurity, the district may provide sharing tables where 
students and staff may return appropriate unused cafeteria food items to be made available to 
students during the course of a regular school meal time.  If food on the sharing tables is not taken 
by a student, the school cafeteria may donate the food to a food bank or any other nonprofit 
charitable organization.  (Health and Safety Code 114079) 
(cf. 3510 - Green School Operations) 
 
Food that may be donated includes prepackaged, nonpotentially hazardous food with the 
packaging still intact and in good condition, whole uncut produce that complies with Health and 
Safety Code 113992, unopened bags of sliced fruit, unopened containers of milk that are 
immediately stored in a cooling bin maintained at 41 degrees Fahrenheit or below, and perishable 
prepackaged food if it is placed in a proper temperature-controlled environment. The preparation, 
safety, and donation of food shall be consistent with Health and Safety Code 113980.  (Health and 
Safety Code 114079) 
 
Cafeteria Fund 
 

Note:  Education Code 38093 authorizes the Governing Board to establish one or more cafeteria revolving accounts 
to be treated as revolving cash accounts of the cafeteria fund. 

 
All proceeds from food sales and other services offered by the cafeteria shall be deposited in the 
cafeteria fund as provided by law. The income and expenditures of any cafeteria revolving account 
established by the Board of Education shall be recorded as income and expenditures of the cafeteria 
fund.  (Education Code 38090, 38093) 
(cf. 3100 - Budget) 
(cf. 3300 - Expenditures and Purchases) 
 

Note:  Education Code 38101 permits a district, with approval from CDE, to utilize cafeteria funds to pay for the 
purchase of a mobile food facility. However, if the district uses federal reimbursements from any of the federal 
child nutrition programs for such purchase, the mobile food facility shall only be used to support the administration 
of those federal programs. Mobile food facilities used for any purposes other than to support the administration of 
federal child nutrition programs shall not be purchased with cafeteria funds. 

 
The cafeteria fund shall be used only for those expenditures authorized by the Board as necessary 
for the operation of school cafeterias in accordance with Education Code 38100-38103, 2 CFR 
Part 200 Appendix VII, and the California School Accounting Manual. 
 
Any charges to, or transfers from, a food service program shall be dated and accompanied by a 
written explanation of the expenditure's purpose of and basis for the expenditure.  (Education Code 
38101) 
(cf. 3110 - Transfer of Funds) 
 
 



5 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 2 CFR Part 200 Appendix VII 
and USDA guidance SP 60-2016, Indirect Costs: Guidance for State Agencies and School Food Authorities, 
provide information regarding allowable indirect costs that may be charged to the nonprofit school food service 
account. Indirect costs are those that are incurred for the benefit of multiple programs or objectives and typically 
support administrative overhead functions (e.g., accounting, payroll, purchasing, utilities, janitorial services). Each 
program or objective that benefits from the indirect cost bears a commensurate portion of the cost.  Costs may be 
charged to the nonprofit food service account only if properly documented. 

 
Indirect costs charged to the food service program shall be based on either the district's prior year 
indirect cost rate as approved by CDE or the statewide average approved indirect cost rate for the 
second prior fiscal year, whichever is less.  (Education Code 38101) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to 7 CFR 210.14 and 220.7, net cash resources (i.e., all monies that have accrued to the nonprofit 
school food service at any given time, less cash payable) should not exceed three months' average expenditures. If 
there is a surplus, then according to USDA guidance, Indirect Costs:  Guidance for State Agencies and School 
Food Authorities, the district must lower the price of paid lunches, improve food quality, or make other 
improvements to school meal operations. CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin NSD-SNP-07-
2013 provides that CDE may approve a district's net cash resources in an amount greater than three months' average 
expenditures if the district has a spending plan for the excess funds in place with the Nutrition Services Division. 

 
Net cash resources in the nonprofit school food service shall not exceed three monthsmonths' 
average expenditures.  (7 CFR 210.14, 220.7) 
 
U.S. Department of Agriculture Foods 
 
Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that participate in the National School Lunch Program 
and receive foods from USDA pursuant to 42 USC 1755 and 7 CFR 250.1-250.70.  CDE is responsible for ordering 
and distributing USDA foods for use in California schools. 

 
The district shall provide facilities for the storage and control of foods received through the U.S. 
Department of Agriculture (USDA) that protect against theft, spoilage, damage, or other loss.  
Such storage facilities shall maintain donated foods in sanitary conditions, at the proper 
temperature and humidity, and with adequate air circulation.  The district shall comply with all 
federal, state, or local requirements related to food safety and health and procedures for responding 
to a food recall, as applicable, and shall obtain all required health inspections.  (7 CFR 250.14) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain inventories of USDA foods in accordance with 7 
CFR 250.59 and CDE procedures, and shall ensure that foods are used before their expiration 
dates. 
 
USDA donated foods shall be used in school lunches as far as practicable.  USDA foods also may 
be used in other nonprofit food service activities, including, but not limited to, school breakfasts 
or other meals, a la carte foods sold to students, meals served to adults directly involved in the 
operation and administration of the food service and to other school staff, and training in nutrition, 
health, food service, or general home economics instruction for students, provided that any 
revenues from such activities accrue to the district's nonprofit food service account.  (7 CFR 
250.59) 
 
 
 
 



6 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007  
revised: June 14, 2011  
revised: February 11, 2014 
revised: August 8, 2017 
revised: May 8, 2018 
revised: August 13, 2019 
revised: June 23, 2020 



1 
**Revisions** - reviewed and okayed by Laraine Sei & Adrienne Garza 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Certificated Personnel  
BP 4112.2 
 
CERTIFICATION 
 

Note:  Under the authority granted by Education Code 44252, the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) 
establishes standards and procedures for the issuance and renewal of multiple subject, single subject, education 
specialist, and other credentials, certificates, and permits and approves applications. Pursuant to Education Code 
44251, a preliminary credential is generally valid for five years, during which time the employee must complete 
the requirements for the clear credential in order to continue to serve in a certificated position. The clear credential 
must be renewed every five years, but renewal does not require completion of additional coursework or service 
requirements. 
 
Assignment to certain positions within the district may require additional qualifications.  For example, see AR 
4112.22 - Staff Teaching English Learners, AR 4112.23 - Special Education Staff, and BP/AR 4113 - Assignment. 

 
The Governing Board recognizes that the district's ability to provide a high-quality educational 
program is dependent upon the employment of certificated staff who are adequately prepared and 
have demonstrated proficiency in basic skills and in the subject matter to be taught.  The 
Superintendent or designee shall ensure that persons employed to fill positions requiring 
certification qualifications possess the appropriate credential, permit, or other certification 
document from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) and fulfill any additional state, 
federal, or district requirements for the position. 
 
(cf. 4111/4211/4311 - Recruitment and Selection) 
(cf. 4112.21 - Interns) 
(cf. 4112.22 - Staff Teaching English Language Learners) 
(cf. 4112.23 - Special Education Staff)() 
(cf. 4112.5/4212.5/4312.5 - Criminal Record Check) 
(cf. 4113 - Assignment) 
(cf. 4121 - Temporary/Substitute Personnel) 
(cf. 5148 - Child Care and Development) 
(cf. 6178 - Career Technical Education) 
(cf. 6200 - Adult Education) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide assistance and support to teachers holding 
preliminary credentials to enable them to meet the qualifications required for the clear credential. 
 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4131.1 - Teacher Support and Guidance) 
 
Priorities for Hiring Based on Unavailability of Credentialed Teacher 
 

Note:  To the extent possible, the district must hire a "fully prepared" teacher who holds a clear or preliminary 
teaching credential in the subject or setting of the assignment.  The Board may authorize a fully credentialed 
teacher to serve in an assignment outside the area authorized by the credential if specified criteria are met; see 
BP/AR 4113 - Assignment and CTC's Credential Information Guide. When the district is unable to hire a fully 
credentialed teacher, Education Code 44225.7 permits the district to hire a candidate without those credentials in 
accordance with the hiring hierarchy provided in items #1-3 below. 



2 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall make reasonable efforts to recruit a fully prepared teacher 
who is authorized in the subject or setting for each assignment. or, when necessary, a fully prepared 
teacher serving on a local assignment option. Whenever a teacher with a clear or preliminary 
credential is not available, the Superintendent or designee shall make reasonable efforts to recruit 
an individual for the assignment in the following order:  (Education Code 44225.7) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 44225.7, if a credentialed teacher is not available, priority for employment 
must be given to an individual who is enrolled in an approved intern program, as provided in item #1 below. CTC 
Coded Correspondence 13-01 clarifies that such an individual must possess a CTC-issued intern credential. 

 
1. A candidate who enrolls in an approved intern program in the region of the district and 

possesses an intern credential 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 44225.7, next priority for filling a position should be for a candidate who is 
scheduled to complete preliminary credential requirements within six months, as provided in item #2 below.  CTC 
Coded Correspondence 13-01 clarifies that such an individual must qualify for and obtain a provisional internship 
permit (PIP) or short-term staff permit (STSP). 
 
Pursuant to 5 CCR 80021-80021.1, the district may employ persons with a PIP when the district has conducted a 
diligent search but has been unable to recruit a credentialed teacher, or an STSP when needed to immediately staff 
classrooms based on unforeseen circumstances. Each of these options requires the district to provide orientation, 
training, and/or guidance; see the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
2. A candidate who is scheduled to complete preliminary credential requirements within six 

months and who holdsis granted a provisional internship permit (PIP) or short-term staff 
permit issued by the CTC 

 
Note:  5 CCR 80021.1 requires that a notice of intent to employ a person with a PIP be made public as described 
in the following paragraph. A copy of the agenda item and the Superintendent or designee's verification of the 
Governing Board's favorable action must be included as part of the application to the CTC along with other 
required verifications; see the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
The Board shall approve, as an action item at a publican open Board meeting, a notice of 
its intent to employ a PIP applicant for a specific position.  (5 CCR 80021.1) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 44225.7, when the district is unable to recruit a credentialed teacher or a teacher 
who meets the qualifications specified in items #1-2 above, it may request CTC to approve the assignment of a 
person who does not meet those criteria. According to CTC Coded Correspondence 13-01, such an individual would 
need to qualify for a "variable term waiver." For further information about variable term waivers, see CTC's Waiver 
Requests Guidebook and 5 CCR 80125. 

 
3. An individual who holdshas been granted a credential waiver by the CTC 
 

Note:  Pursuant to 5 CCR 80023.2, 80026, and 80027-80027.1, the Board must annually approve a Declaration of 
Need for Fully Qualified Educators prior to hiring a person with an emergency permit or for whom a credential 
waiver has been granted by the CTCa limited assignment permit to teach outside the area of certification. 
The form for the Declaration of Need is available on CTC's web site.  Pursuant to 5 CCR 80026, the Declaration 
of Need must be approved at a regularly scheduled public Board meeting and is valid for up to 12 months, expiring 
on June 30 following its submission to CTC. 



3 

 
Prior to requesting that the CTC issue an emergency permit pursuant to item #3 above or a limited 
assignment permit which allows a fully credentialed teacher to teach outside of his/her area of 
certification while working toward an added or supplementary authorizationor a limited 
assignment permit, the Board shall annually approve a Declaration of Need for Fully Qualified 
Educators.  The Declaration of Need shall be approved by the Board as an action item at a regularly 
scheduled publicopen Board meeting, with the entire Declaration of Need being included in the 
Board agenda. (Education Code 44225, 44225.7; 5 CCR 80023.2, 80026, 80027, 80027.1) 
 
The Declaration of Need shall certify that there is an insufficient number of certificated persons 
who meet the district's specified employment criteria for the position(s) and that the district has 
made reasonable efforts to recruit individuals who meet the qualifications specified in items #1-2 
above.  The Declaration of Need shall also indicate the number and type of emergency permits 
that the district estimates it will need during the valid period of the Declaration of Need, based on 
the previous year's actual needs and projections of enrollment.  Whenever the actual number of 
permits needed exceeds the estimate by 10 percent, the Board shall revise and resubmit the 
Declaration of Need.  (5 CCR 80026) 
 
Whenever it is necessary to employ noncredentialed teachers to fill a position requiring 
certification qualifications, the Superintendent or designee shall provide support and guidance in 
accordance with law to ensure the quality of the instructional program. 
 
National Board for Professional Teaching Standards Certification 
 

Note:  The Board encouragesfollowing optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. The National 
Board for Professional Teaching Standards (NBPTS) offers teachers to voluntarily complete a voluntary, 
rigorous advanced certification process to improve their practice as educators. Districts can encourage teacher 
participation by coordinating a cohort of teachers through school or district-based programs, their county office of 
education, or the requirements for theNBPTS Resource Center at Stanford University or other NBPTS support 
networks.  A list of current NBPTS support networks can be found on the NBPTS web site. 
 
Districts and schools may use U.S. Department of Education grant funds (e.g., Title I, Part A; Title II, Part A; 
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, Part B), as well as district resources for beginning teachers, for costs 
associated with teachers pursuing, achieving, and maintaining National Board certification. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall promote a career continuum that includes participation of 
district teachers in professional learning that supports their completion of advanced certification 
awarded by the National Board for Professional Teaching Standards (NBPTS). The Superintendent 
or designee may coordinate a cohort of teachers through school or district programs or other 
available networks. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall inform all teachers about the program and how to acquire 
the necessary application and information materials. In accordanceWith Board approval and 
funding, and consistent with the collective bargaining agreement and applicable law, the 
Superintendent may provide an incentive program for teacher participation in NBPTS certification, 
which may include:  
 



4 

1. Defraying, subsidizing, or reimbursing the registration, certification, or maintenance fees 
for NBPTS certification 

 
2. Providing substitute teachers to provide release time, fee support, a stipend upon 

completion, or other support to teachers for participating in the program.teachers 
 
Parental Notifications 
 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts that receive federal Title I funds, and may be used or adapted 
by other districts at their discretion. 
 
20 USC 6312 requires districts receiving federal Title I funds to provide the following annual notification to 
parents/guardians of students in any school receiving Title I funds. Such districts may choose to provide the same 
notification to all schools, regardless of whether or not they receive Title I funds. 

 
At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the 
parents/guardians of each student attending a school receiving Title I funds that they may request 
information regarding the professional qualifications of their child's classroom teacher including, 
but not limited to, whether the teacher:  (20 USC 6312) 
 
1. Has met state qualification and licensing criteria for the grade levels and subject areas in 

which the teacher provides instruction 
 
2. Is teaching under emergency or other provisional status through which state qualification 

or licensing criteria have been waived 
 
3. Is teaching in the field of discipline of his/herthe teacher's certification 

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
 
In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians in a timely manner 
whenever their child has been assigned, or has been taught for four or more consecutive weeks by, 
a teacher who does not meet applicable state certification or licensure requirements at the grade 
level and subject area to which the teacher has been assigned.  (20 USC 6312) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
8360-8370  Qualifications of child care personnel 
32340-32341  Unlawful issuance of a credential 
35186  Complaints regarding teacher vacancy or misassignment 
44066  Limitations on certification requirements 
44200-44399.1  Teacher credentialing, especially: 
44250-44277  Credential types; minimum requirements 
44300-44302  Emergency permit 
44325-44328  District interns 
44330-44355  Certificates and credentials 
44420-44440  Revocation and suspension of credentials 
44450-44468  University intern program 
44830-44929  Employment of certificated persons; requirement of proficiency in basic skills 
56060-56063  Substitute teachers in special education 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 



5 

80001-80674.6  Commission on Teacher Credentialing 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
6312  Title I local educational agency plans; notifications regarding teacher qualifications 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34 
200.6148  Parent notification regarding teacher qualifications 
COURT DECISIONS 
Association of Mexican-American Educators et al. v. State of California and the Commission on Teacher Credentialing, 
(1993) 836 F.Supp. 1534 

Management Resources: 
COMMISSION ON TEACHER CREDENTIALING PUBLICATIONS 
CL-667  Basic Skills Requirement 
CL-856  Provisional Internship Permit 
CL 858  Short-Term Staff Permit 
13-01 Credential Information Guide 
Approved Addition and Amendments to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Pertaining to Teaching Permit for 
Statutory Leave (TPSL), Coded Correspondence 16-10, August 23, 2016 
Waiver Requests Guidebook, 2015 
Hiring Hierarchy in Education Code 44225.7, Coded Correspondence 13-01, January 30, 2013 
Subject Matter Authorization Guideline Book, 2012 
COMMISSION ON TEACHER CREDENTIALING PUBLICATIONS  (continued) 
Supplementary Authorization Guideline Book, 2012 
California Standards for the Teaching Profession, 2009 
The Administrator's Assignment Manual, rev. September 2007 
NATIONAL BOARD FOR PROFESSIONAL TEACHING STANDARDS PUBLICATIONS 
Considerations for Using Federal Funds to Support National Board Certification, 2018 
WEB SITES 
CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing: http://www.ctc.ca.gov 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing, Credential Information Guide (for employers' use only): 
http://www.ctc.ca.gov/credentials/cig 
National Board for Professional Teaching Standards: http://www.nbpts.org 
National Board Resource Center: nbcalistrong.net 
U.S. Department of Education: http://www.ed.gov 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Polic adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: October 14, 2014 
revised: August 9, 2016 
revised: June 23, 2020 





1 
**Revisions** - reviewed and okayed by Laraine Sei & Adrienne Garza 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Exhibit 
All Personnel 
E 4112.9 ~ 4212.9 ~ 4312.9 
 
EMPLOYEE NOTIFICATIONS 
 

Note:  The following exhibit lists notices which the law requires be provided to employees. See the referenced 
Board policy, administrative regulation, or Board bylaw for further information about related program and notice 
requirements. 

 
 Education or Board Policy/  
When/Whom  Other Legal Administrative 
to Notify Code Regulation #  Subject 
 
I.  To All Employees 
 
At the beginning of school year Education Code AR  4119.11 The district's policy on 
or upon employment 231.5; Government   4219.11 sexual harassment, legal 
 Code 12950; 2 CCR  4319.11 remedies, complaints 
 11024 
 
Annually to all employees,  Education Code  AR  3514.2 Use of pesticide product, 
and 72 hours before pesticide 17612  active ingredients, Internet 
application   address to access information 
 
To all employees, prior to Education Code BP 6117 Public hearing on year-round 
implementing year-round 37616   program 
schedule 
 
To all employees, prior to Education Code AR 6112 Public hearing on alternative 
implementing alternative schedule 46162  schedule 
 
Annually to all employees Education Code AR 1312.3 Uniform complaint procedures, 
 49013; 5 CCR 4622 BP 0460 appeals, civil law remedies, 
  BP 3260 coordinator, complaints about 
   student fees and local control 
   and accountability plan 
 
Annually to all employees Education Code AR 5141.21 Request for volunteers to be 
 49414   trained to administer 
    epinephrine auto-injectors 
 
At least once per year Education Code AR 5141.21 Request for volunteers to be 
 49414.3   trained to administer opioid 
    antagonist 
 
To all employees Government Code BP 4136 Prohibition of activities that 
 1126  4236 are inconsistent, incompatible, 
   4336 in conflict with, or inimical to 
    duties; discipline; appeal 
 



2 

Prior to beginning employment Government Code AR 4112.3 Oath or affirmation of 
 3102 4212.3  allegiance required of disaster 
  4312.3 service workers 
 
To all employees Government Code BP  4020 District's drug- and alcohol- 
 8355; 41 USC 8102; BP 4159 free workplace; actions to be 
 34 CFR 84.205,   4259 taken if violated; available 
 84.210  4359 employee assistance programs 
 
Upon employment Government Code  None Right to purchase PERS  
  21029   service credit for military 
     service performed prior to  
     public employment 
 
Upon placement of automated Health and Safety AR 5141 Proper use of AED; location 
external defibrillator (AED) in   Code 1797.196  of all AEDs on campus, 
school, and annually thereafter   sudden cardiac arrest, school's 
   emergency response plan 
 
To all employees, if the  Health and Safety AR  3513.3 District's tobacco-free schools 
district receives Tobacco-Use  Code 104420  policy and enforcement 
Prevention Education funds   procedures 
 
Annually to all employees, or Health and Safety AR 4119.43 AIDS and hepatitis B, 
more frequently if there is new Code 120875,   4219.43 including methods to prevent 
information 120880  4319.43 exposure 
 
To all employees, with each Labor Code 246 AR 4161.1 Amount of sick leave available 
paycheck   4361.1 
  AR 4261.1 
 
Upon hire, in employee Labor Code BP 4033 The district's policy on 
handbook, and upon request 1034   lactation accommodation 
for parental leave 
 
To covered employees and Labor Code AR  4154 Availability of COBRA/ 
former employees 2800.2 4254 Cal-COBRA continuation 
   4354 and conversion coverage; 
   statement encouraging careful 
   examination of options before 
   declining coverage 
 
To employees participating Labor Code None Deadline to withdraw funds 
in a flexible spending account 2810.7  from account before the end  
   of the plan year 
 
To every new employee, either Labor Code BP 4157.1 Workers' compensation 
at the time employee is hired 3551  4257.1 benefits, how to obtain medical 
or by end of first pay period   4357.1 care, role of primary physician, 
    form for reporting personal 
    physician/chiropractor 
 
 
 
 



3 

Prior to beginning employment Penal Code  AR  5141.4 Status as a mandated reporter 
 11165.7, 11166.5  of child abuse, reporting 
   obligations, confidentiality 
   rights, copy of law 
 
Upon employment, and when Unemployment AR 4154 Disability insurance rights and 
employee goes on leave  Insurance Code   4254 benefits 
for specified reasons 2613  4354 
 
To all employees and job 2 CCR 11023; 34 BP 0410 District's policy on 
applicants CFR 104.8, 106.9 BP 4030 nondiscrimination and  
   related complaint procedures 
 
To all employees via employee 2 CCR 11091, AR 4161.8 Benefits through Family and 
handbook, or to each new 11095; 29 CFR  4261.8 Medical Leave Act (FMLA) 
employee 825.300  4361.8 and California Family Rights 
    Act(cfRA); obligation  
    to provide 30 days' notice of 
    need for leave when possible 
 
Annually to all employees 40 CFR 763.84, AR 3514 Availability of asbestos 
 763.93  management plan; inspections, 
   response actions, post-response 
   actions planned or in progress 
 
 
II.  To Certificated Employees 
 
To eligible certificated Education Code  AR 4121 Criteria for membership in 
employees in a timely manner, 22455.5  retirement system; right to 
and to part-time and substitute   elect membership at any time 
certificated employees    
within 30 days of hire    
 
Upon employment of a Education Code  AR 4117.14 Postretirement earnings 
retired certificated individual  22461  4317.14 limitation or employment 
    restriction; monthly report of 
    compensation 
 
To certificated employees Education Code  AR  4115 District regulations related to 

 35171 BP 4315 performance evaluations 
 
30 days before last day of    Education Code  AR 4115 Copy of employee's evaluation 
school year for instructional 44663 
staff, or by June 30 for 
noninstructional certificated 
staff, in any year in which 
employee is evaluated 
 
To a certificated employee Education Code  AR  4115 Notice and description of the 
with unsatisfactory evaluation, 44664   unsatisfactory performance 
once per year for probationary 
employee or at least once every 
other year for permanent employee 
 



4 

By May 30, if district issues  Education Code  AR  4112.1 Request that the employee 
reemployment notices to 44842  notify district of intent to 
certificated employees   remain in service next year 
 
To certificated employees Education Code  AR 4112.1 Employment status and salary 
upon employment, and to 44916 AR 4121 
nonpermanent employees in 
July of each school year 
 
To probationary employees in Education Code  AR 4117.6 Whether or not employee 
district with ADA of 250 or 44929.21 BP  4116 is reelected for next school 
more by March 15 of    year 
employee's second consecutive 
year of employment 
By March 15 of employee's 
second year of employment, 
in districts that grant 
permanent status after 
two years 
 
When certificated employee is Education Code  BP 4118 Notice of charges, procedures, 
subject to disciplinary action 44934, 44934.1, AR 4118 and employee rights; intent to 
for cause, at any time of year 44936  dismiss or suspend 30 days 
or, for charge of unsatisfactory   after notice 
performance, during instructional 
year 
 
To certificated employee charged Education Code  BP 4118 Notice of deficiency and 
with unprofessional conduct, at 44938  opportunity to correct 
least 45 days prior to suspension/ 
dismissal notice 
 
To certificated employee charged Education Code  BP 4118 Notice of deficiency and 
with unsatisfactory performance, 44938   opportunity to correct 
at least 90 days prior to 
suspension/dismissal notice or 
prior to last quarter of school year 
 
To certificated employee charged  Education Code  AR  4118 Notice of intent to dismiss 
with mandatory leave of absence 44940.5  30 days from notice unless 
offense, within 10 days of entry   employee demands hearing 
of judgment in proceedings 
 
To probationary employees   Education Code AR 4118 Reasons for dismissal and 
30 days prior to dismissal during   44948.3  opportunity to appeal 
school year, but not later than 
March 15 for second-year 
probationary employees 
 
By March 15 when necessary   Education Code BP  4117.3 Reasons for personnel 
to reduce certificated personnel, 44949, 44955  reduction and employees' right 
with final notice by May 15    to hearing; final notice of 
    Board decision re: termination 
 



5 

 
On or before June 30, to    Education Code  BP  4121 District's decision not to 
temporary employee who  44954  reelect employee for 
served 75 percent of school year   following school year 
but will be released 
 
To teacher, when a student Education Code  AR 4158 Student has committed 
engages in or is reasonably 49079  4258 specified act that constitutes 
suspected of specified acts   4358 ground for suspension or 
    expulsion 
 
To certificated employee upon 5 CCR 80303 AR 4117.7 Contents of state regulation 
change in employment status   4317.7 re: report to Commission on 
due to alleged misconduct or   Teacher Credentialing 
while allegation is pending 
 
 
III.  To Classified Employees 
 
To classified employee charged Education Code AR  4218 Notice of intent to dismiss in 
with mandatory leave of absence 44940.5  30 days 
offense, in merit system district 
 
When classified employee is Education Code AR  4218 Notice of charges, procedures, 
subject to disciplinary action 45113  and employee rights right to 
for cause, in nonmerit district   hearing, timeline for  
   requesting hearing 
 
To classified employees at Education Code  AR  4217.3 Notice of layoff and 
least 60 days prior to layoff, or 45117  reemployment rights 
by April 29 for specially funded 
program that expires at end of 
school year 
 
To classified employees upon  Education Code  AR  4212 Employee's class specification,  
employment and upon each  45169  salary data, assignment or 
change in classification   work location, duty hours, 
   prescribed workweek 
 
To classified permanent  Education Code  AR 4261.1 Exhaustion of leave, 
employee whose leave 45192, 45195 AR 4261.11 opportunity to request 
is exhausted   additional leave 
 
To school bus drivers and 13 CCR 1234 AR 3542 Expiration date of driver's 
school activity bus drivers   license, driver's certificate and 
prior to expiration of   medical certificate; need to 
specified documents   renew 

 
To school bus drivers and 13 CCR 2480 AR 3542 Limitations on vehicle 
school activity bus drivers   idling; consequences of not 
upon employment and at   complying 
least once per year thereafter 
 
 
 



6 

To school bus drivers, prior to 49 CFR 382.601 BP  4112.42 Explanation of federal 
district drug testing program   4212.42 requirements for drug testing 
and thereafter upon employment   4312.42 program and district's policy 
 
 
IV.  To Administrative/Supervisory Personnel 
 
To superintendent, deputy, Education Code  BP  2121 Decision not to reelect or 
associate, or assistant 35031 BP 4312.1 reemploy upon expiration of 
superintendent or senior   contract or term 
manager of classified service, 
at least 45 days before 
expiration of contract 
 
Upon request by administrative  Education Code  AR  4313.2 Statement of the reasons for 
or supervisory employee    44896  the release or reassignment 
transferred to teaching position 
 
By March 15 to employee Education Code  AR 4313.2 Notice that employee may be 
who may be released/reassigned 44951  released or reassigned the 
the following school year   following school year 
 
 
V.  To Individual Employees Under Special Circumstances 
 
In the event of a breach of Civil Code 1798.29 BP 3580 Types of records affected, 
security of district records,    date of breach, description 
to affected employees    of incident, and, as applicable, 
    contact information for credit 
    reporting agencies 
 
Prior to placing derogatory Education Code  AR  4112.6 Notice of derogatory 
information in personnel file 44031 4212.6 information, opportunity to 
  4312.6 review and comment 
 
To employees who volunteer Education Code  AR 5141.21 Defense and indemnification 
to administer epinephrine 49414   from civil liability by the 
auto-injector    district 
 
To employees returning from Government Code AR 4161.5 Right to receive PERS 
military leave of absence, 20997  4261.5 service credit for military 
within 30 days of return   4361.5 service; application form 
 
24 hours before Board meets in Government Code BB 9321 Employee's right to have 
closed session to hear complaints 54957   complaints/charges heard in 
or charges against employee    open session 
 
When taking disciplinary action  Government Code BP 4119.23 Law prohibiting disclosure of 
against employee for disclosure 54963  4219.23 confidential information 
of confidential information   4319.23 obtained in closed session 
 
Within one working day of  Labor Code 3553, BP 4157.1 Potential eligibility for 
work-related injury or  5401  4257.1 workers' compensation 
victimization of crime    4357.1 benefits, claim form 
 



7 

When adverse employment Penal Code 11105, AR 4112.5 Copy of DOJ notification 
action is based on DOJ criminal 11105.2        4212.5 
history information or         4312.5 
subsequent arrest notification 
 
To any employee with  8 CCR 3204, AR 4119.42 The existence, location, and 
exposure to blood or other 5193 4219.42 availability of exposure and 
potentially infectious materials,    4319.42 medical records; person 
upon initial employment and at   responsible for maintaining 
least annually thereafter   and providing access to 
   records; right to access records 
 
To any employee assigned to a 8 CCR 5191 AR 3514.1 Location and availability of 
work area where hazardous    chemical hygiene plan, 
chemicals are present, upon    exposure limits, signs and 
initial assignment and upon new    symptoms of exposure, 
exposure situation    location of reference material 
 
To any employee who may 8 CCR 5194 AR 3514.1 Any presence of hazardous 
be exposed to hazardous    substances in the work area, 
substances in the work area,    location and availability of 
upon initial assignment and    hazard communication 
when new hazard is    program, new material safety 
introduced into work area    data sheet, employee rights 
 
To employee eligible for 38 USC 4334 AR 4161.5 Notice of rights, benefits, and 
military leave   4261.5 obligations under military 
   4361.5 leave 
 
Within five days of employee's 29 CFR 825.300; AR 4161.8 Designation of leave as 
request for FMLA leave, 2 CCR 11049,          4261.8 FMLA or non-FMLA; if not 
receipt of supporting 11091        4361.8 eligible, reason not eligible; 
information, or district's    requirement to use paid leave; 
knowledge that the requested    any requirement for fitness- 
leave may qualify as FMLA     for-duty certification; any 
leave    subsequent changes in 
    designation notice 
 
Whenever notice of eligibility 29 CFR 825.300 AR 4161.8 Rights and responsibilities re: 
for FMLA is provided to   4261.8 use of FMLA; consequences of 
employee   4361.8 failure to meet obligations 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Exhibit version: April 11, 2017 
revised: June 23, 2020 





1 
**Revisions** — reviewed by Administrators 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Students  
BP 5141.52 
 
SUICIDE PREVENTION 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the Governing Board of any district serving students in grades 7-12 
adopt a policy on student suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention (i.e., intervention conducted after a 
suicide) with specified components. AB 1767 (Ch. 694, Statutes of 2019) amended Education Code 215 to 
mandate policy on suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention for students in grades K-6 beginning in the 
2020-21 school year.  The required components are addressed in the following policy and the accompanying 
administrative regulation. Also see the California Department of Education's (CDE) Model Youth Suicide 
Prevention Policy developed pursuant to Education Code 215. 
 
The following policy and accompanying administrative regulation should be revised to reflect district practice and 
the grade levels offered by the district. 

 
The Governing Board recognizes that suicide is a leading cause of death among youth and that 
school personnel who regularly interact with students are often in a position to recognize the 
warning signs of suicide and to offer appropriate referral and/or assistance. In an effort to reduce 
suicidal behavior and its impact on students and families, the Superintendent or designee shall 
develop measures and strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 215, as amended by AB 1767, the district's suicide prevention policy must be 
developed in consultation with school and community stakeholders, school -employed mental health professionals, 
suicide prevention experts, and, for policy for grades K-6, the county mental health plan. According to CDE's 
Model Youth Suicide Prevention Policy, school-employed mental health professionals may include school 
counselors, psychologists, social workers, and nurses. CDE's model policy also includes consultation with 
administrators, other school staff, parents/guardians, students, local health agencies and professionals, law 
enforcement, and community organizations. 
 
It is recommended that districts also consult with legal counsel and the district's risk manager or insurance carrier, 
as appropriate. 

 
In developing policy and strategies for suicide prevention and intervention, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consult with school and community stakeholders such as administrators, other staff, 
parents/guardians, and students; school-employed mental health professionals such as school 
counselors, school psychologists, school social workers, and school nurses; suicide prevention 
experts such as local health agencies, mental health professionals, and community organizations; 
law enforcement; and, in developing policy for grades K-6, the county mental health plan.  
(Education Code 215) 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 
(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools) 
 

Note:  Education Code 215, as amended by AB 1767, requires that the district's policy for students in grades K-6 
be age appropriate and delivered and discussed in a manner that is sensitive to the needs of young students.  The 
following paragraph is for use by districts that serve K-6 students, and may be revised as appropriate for the student 
population served by the district. 

 



2 
 

The Board shall ensure that measures and strategies for students in grades K-6 are age appropriate 
and delivered and discussed in a manner that is sensitive to the needs of young students.  
(Education Code 215) 
 
Measures and strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention shall include, but are 
not limited to: 
 

Note:  Education Code 215, as amended by AB 1767, mandates that the district's policy address any training on 
suicide awareness and prevention to be provided to teachers of students in all grade levels served by the district. 
See the accompanying administrative regulation for additional language fulfilling this mandate. In addition, 
Education Code 49604 encourages each district to provide suicide prevention training at least once to each middle, 
junior high, and high school counselor. Item #1 may be revised to specify other categories of employees who will 
receive the training. 

 
1. Staff development on suicide awareness and prevention for teachers, school counselors, 

and other district employees who interact with students, as described in the accompanying 
administrative regulation 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 

 
Note:  Items #2-7 below reflect optional strategies for suicide prevention, intervention, and postvention and may 
be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
2. Instruction to students in problem-solving and coping skills to promote students' mental, 

emotional, and social health and well-being, as well as instruction in recognizing and 
appropriately responding to warning signs of suicidal intent in others 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 

 
3. Methods for promoting a positive school climate that enhances students' feelings of 

connectedness with the school and that is characterized by caring staff and harmonious 
interrelationships among students 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 

 
4. The provision of information to parents/guardians regarding risk factors and warning signs 

of suicide, the severity of the suicide problem among youth, the district's suicide prevention 
curriculum, basic steps for helping suicidal youth, and/or school and community resources 
that can help youth in crisis 

 
5. Encouragement for students to notify appropriate school personnel or other adults when 

they are experiencing thoughts of suicide or when they suspect or have knowledge of 
another student's suicidal intentions 

 
6. Crisis intervention procedures for addressing suicide threats or attempts 
 
7. Counseling and other postvention strategies for helping students, staff, and others cope in 

the aftermath of a student's suicide 



3 
 

 
Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy specifically address the needs of high-risk groups, 
including, but not limited to, those listed in the following paragraph. See the accompanying administrative 
regulation for additional language fulfilling this mandate. 

 
As appropriate, these measures and strategies shall specifically address the needs of students who 
are at high risk of suicide, including, but not limited to, students who are bereaved by suicide; 
students with disabilities, mental illness, or substance use disorders; students who are experiencing 
homelessness or who are in out-of-home settings such as foster care; and students who are lesbian, 
gay, bisexual, transgender, or questioning youth..  (Education Code 215) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that serve students in grades K-6. Education Code 215, as 
amended by AB 1767, mandates that the district's policy for students in grades K-6 ensure proper coordination 
and consultation with the county mental health plan if a referral is made for mental health or related services on 
behalf of a student who is a Medi-Cal beneficiary. 

 
If a referral is made for mental health or related services for a student in grade K-6 who is a Medi-
Cal beneficiary, the Superintendent or designee shall coordinate and consult with the county 
mental health plan.  (Education Code 215) 
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 
 
District employees shall act only within the authorization and scope of their credential or license. 
Nothing in this policy shall be construed as authorizing or encouraging district employees to 
diagnose or treat mental illness unless they are specifically licensed and employed to do so.  
(Education Code 215) 
 
The Board shall review, and update as necessary, this policy at least every five years.  (Education 
Code 215) 
 

Note:  Education Code 234.6, as added by AB 34 (Ch. 282, Statutes of 2019), requires districts, beginning in the 
2020-21 school year, to ensure that the district's suicide prevention policies for grades K-6 and 7-12 be readily 
accessible in a prominent location on the district's web site in a manner that is easily accessible to parents/guardians 
and students. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall post this policy on the district's web site, in a prominent 
location and in a manner that is easily accessible to parents/guardians and students.  (Education 
Code 234.6) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
215  Student suicide prevention policies 
215.5  Suicide prevention hotline contact information on student identification cards 
216  Suicide prevention online training programs 
234.6  Posting suicide prevention policy on web site 
32280-32289.5  Comprehensive safety plan 
49060-49079  Student records 
49602  Confidentiality of student information 
49604  Suicide prevention training for school counselors 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
810-996.6  Government Claims Act 
PENAL CODE 
11164-11174.3  Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act 



4 
 

WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE 
5698  Emotionally disturbed youth; legislative intent 
5850-58835886  Children's Mental Health Services Act 
COURT DECISIONS 
Corales v. Bennett (Ontario-Montclair School District), (2009) 567 F.3d 554 

Management Resources: 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Health Education Content Standards for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, 
2008 
Health Framework for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, 20032019 
CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION PUBLICATIONS 
School Connectedness:  Strategies for Increasing Protective Factors Among Youth, 2009 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGISTS PUBLICATIONS 
Preventing Suicide:  Guidelines for Administrators and Crisis Teams, 2015 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES PUBLICATIONS 
National Strategy for Suicide Prevention:  Goals and Objectives for Action, rev. 2012 
Preventing Suicide:  A Toolkit for High Schools, 2012 
WEB SITES 
American Association of Suicidology:  http://www.suicidology.org 
American Foundation for Suicide Prevention:  https://afsp.org 
American Psychological Association:  http://www.apa.org 
American School Counselor Association:  https://www.schoolcounselor.org 
California Department of Education, Mental Health:  http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/cg/mh 
California Department of Health Care Services, Suicide Prevention Program:  
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/MH/Pages/SuicidePrevention.aspxMental Health Services:  
http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/MH 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Mental Health:  http://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth 
National Association of School Psychologists:  https://www.nasponline.org 
National Institute for Mental Health:  http://www.nimh.nih.govhttp://www.nimh.nih.gov 
Suicide Prevention Resource Center: https://www.sprc.org/about-suicideSuicide Prevention Lifeline:  
https://suicidepreventionlifeline.org 
Trevor Project:  http://thetrevorproject.org 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 
Administration:  http://www.samhsa.gov 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted:  April 11, 2017  
revised: March 12, 2019 
revised: June 23, 2020 

http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/services/MH
http://www.nimh.nih.gov/
https://www.sprc.org/about-suicide
https://suicidepreventionlifeline.org/


1 
**Revisions** – reviewed by Administrators 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Students 
AR 5141.52 
 
SUICIDE PREVENTION 
 

Note:  Education Code 215, as amended by AB 1767 (Ch. 694, Statutes of 2019), mandates policy on suicide 
prevention, intervention, and postvention for grades 7-12 and, beginning in the 2020-21 school year, for grades K-
6. See the accompanying Board policy. The following administrative regulation provides additional strategies that 
fulfill the mandate and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
Examples of suicide prevention strategies are also available in the California Department of Education's (CDE) 
Model Youth Suicide Prevention Policy, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services publication 
Preventing Suicide:  A Toolkit for High Schools, and resources issued by other state and federal agencies and 
organizations. For further information about strategies to protect students from bullying, cyberbullying, and other 
harassment, see BP 5131 - Conduct, BP 5131.2 - Bullying, BP 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment, and BP 
5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior. 

 
Staff Development 
 

Note:  Education Code 215, as amended by AB 1767, mandates that the district's policy address any training on 
suicide awareness and prevention to be provided to teachers of students in all grade levels served by the district. 
In addition, Education Code 49604 encourages each district to provide suicide prevention training at least once to 
each middle, junior high, and high school counselor. The following section may be revised to reflect district 
practice. 
 
Education Code 216 requires CDE to identify evidence-based online training program(s), aligned with the 
requirements of Education Code 215, that districts can use to train students and staff. Additionally, dependent upon 
funds being appropriated in the annual Budget Act, CDE will provide grants, upon application, to county offices 
of education for the acquisition of such training programs to disseminate to districts at no cost. 

 
Suicide prevention training shall be provided to teachers, counselors, and other district employees 
who interact with students. The training shall be offered under the direction of a district 
counselor/psychologist and/or in cooperation with one or more community mental health agencies. 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 
 
Materials for training shall include how to identify appropriate mental health services at the school 
site and within the community, and when and how to refer youth and their families to those 
services.  Materials also may include programs that can be completed through self-review of 
suitable suicide prevention materials.  (Education Code 215) 
 
Staff development shall include research and information related to the following topics: 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy specifically address the needs of high-risk groups; 
see the accompanying Board policy. One strategy to specifically address their needs is to increase staff awareness 
of the higher rates of suicide among these groups, as provided in item #1 below. 

 



2 

1. The higher risk of suicide among certain groups, including, but not limited to, students who 
are bereavedimpacted by suicide; students with disabilities, mental illness, or substance 
use disorders; students who are experiencing homelessness or who are in out-of-home 
settings such as foster care; and students who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or 
questioning youth 

 
Note:  Staff development may include training about individual risk factors associated with suicide, as provided 
in item #2 below. Information about risk factors is available from CDE, Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention, American Association of Suicidology, American Foundation for Suicide Prevention, Trevor Project, 
and other agencies and organizations. 

 
2. Individual risk factors such as previous suicide attempt(s) or self-harm, history of 

depression or mental illness, family history of suicide or violence, feelings of isolation, 
interpersonal conflicts, a recent severe stressor or loss, family instability, impulsivity, and 
other factors 
(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 

 
3. Warning signs that may indicate depression, emotional distress, or suicidal intentions, such 

as changes in students' personality or behavior and verbalizations of hopelessness or 
suicidal intent 

 
4. Protective factors that may help to decrease a student's suicide risk, such as resiliency, 

problem-solving ability, access to mental health care, and positive connections to family, 
peers, school, and community 

 
5. Instructional strategies for teaching the suicide prevention curriculum and promoting 

mental and emotional health 
 
6. School and community resources and services, including resources and services that meet 

the specific needs of high-risk groups 
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 

 
7. Appropriate ways to interact with a student who is demonstrating emotional distress or is 

suicidal and procedures for intervening when a student attempts, threatens, or discloses the 
desire to die by suicide, including, but not limited to, appropriate protocols for monitoring 
the student while the immediate referral of the student to medical or mental health services 
is being processed 

 
8. District procedures for responding after a suicide has occurred 
 
Instruction 
 

Note:  The state's content standards for health education include voluntary standards pertaining to mental, 
emotional, and social health at selected elementary and secondary grades and suicide prevention instruction at 
grade 7 or 8 and in high school. 

 
The district's comprehensive health education program shall promote the healthy mental, 
emotional, and social development of students and shall be aligned with the state content standards 
and curriculum framework. Suicide prevention instruction shall be incorporated into the health 



3 

education curriculum atin an age appropriate secondary gradesmanner and shall be designed to 
help students: 
 
1. Identify and analyze signs of depression and self-destructive behaviors in oneself and 

others and understand how feelings of depression, loss, isolation, inadequacy, and anxiety 
can lead to thoughts of suicide  

 
2. Develop coping and resiliency skills and self-esteem 
 
3. Learn to listen, be honest, share feelings, and get help when communicating with friends 

who show signs of suicidal intent 
 
4. Identify trusted adults, school resources, and/or community crisis intervention resources 

where youth can get help and recognize that there is no stigma associated with seeking 
services for mental health, substance abuse, and/or suicide prevention 
(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 
(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 
(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 

 
Intervention 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy and procedures address suicide intervention. The 
following section should be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
In addition, the district may choose to incorporate crisis intervention strategies in its comprehensive school safety 
plan adopted pursuant to Education Code 32280-32289.5; see BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan. 

 
Students shall be encouraged to notify a teacher, principal, counselor, or other adult when they are 
experiencing thoughts of suicide or when they suspect or have knowledge of another student's 
suicidal intentions. 
 
Every statement regarding suicidal intent shall be taken seriously. Whenever a staff member 
suspects or has knowledge of a student's suicidal intentions based on the student's verbalizations 
or act of self-harm, the staff member shall promptly notify the principal or school counselor, who 
shall implement district intervention protocols as appropriate. 
 

Note:  Education Code 49602 generally protects the confidentiality of information of a personal nature disclosed 
to a school counselor by a student age 12 years or older or by a parent/guardian.  However, in certain circumstances, 
the counselor may disclose such information to avert a clear and present danger to the health, safety, or welfare of 
the student or others within in the school community. Also see BP 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services. 

 
Although any personal information that a student discloses to a school counselor shall generally 
not be revealed, released, referenced, or discussed with third parties, the counselor may report to 
the principal or student's parents/guardians when there is reasonable cause to believe that 
disclosure is necessary to avert a clear and present danger to the health, safety, or welfare of the 
student or others within the school community. In addition, the counselor may disclose information 
of a personal nature to psychotherapists, other health care providers, or the school nurse for the 
sole purpose of referring the student for treatment.  (Education Code 49602) 
(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 
 



4 

School employees shall act only within the authorization and scope of their credential or license. 
An employee is not authorized to diagnose or treat mental illness unless specifically licensed and 
employed to do so.  (Education Code 215) 
 
Whenever schools establish a peer counseling system to provide support for students, peer 
counselors shall receive training that includes identification of the warning signs of suicidal 
behavior and referral of a suicidal student to appropriate adults. 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
 
When a suicide attempt or threat is reported, the principal or designee shall ensure student safety 
by taking the following actions: 
 
1. Immediately securing medical treatment and/or mental health services as necessary 
 
2. Notifying law enforcement and/or other emergency assistance if a suicidal act is being 

actively threatened 
 
3. Keeping the student under continuous adult supervision until the parent/guardian and/or 

appropriate support agent or agency can be contacted and has the opportunity to intervene 
 
4. Removing other students from the immediate area as soon as possible 

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 5141 - Health Care and Emergencies) 

 
The principal or designee shall document the incident in writing, including the steps that the school 
took in response to the suicide attempt or threat. 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is optional. If a student's parents/guardians refuse or neglect to access treatment 
for a student who has been identified to be at risk for suicide, the Superintendent or designee shall consider whether 
a referral to child protective services for child neglect is needed. Pursuant to Penal Code 11164-11174.3, the Child 
Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act, school employees who are mandated reporters are required to report child abuse 
or neglect, as defined in law, when they have knowledge of or reasonably suspect that a child is a victim of child 
abuse or neglect. See BP/AR 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall follow up with the parent/guardian and student in a timely 
manner to provide referrals to appropriate services as needed. If the parent/guardian does not 
access treatment for the student, the Superintendent or designee may meet with the parent/guardian 
to identify barriers to treatment and assist the family in providing follow-up care for the student. 
If follow-up care is still not provided, the Superintendent or designee shall consider whether it is 
necessary, pursuant to laws for mandated reporters of child neglect, to refer the matter to the local 
child protective services agency. 
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting) 
 
For any student returning to school after a mental health crisis, the principal or designee and/or 
school counselor may meet with the parents/guardians and, if appropriate, with the student to 
discuss re-entry and appropriate next steps to ensure the student's readiness for return to school 
and determine the need for ongoing support. 
 
 
 



5 

Postvention 
 

Note:  Education Code 215 mandates that the district's policy and procedures address suicide postvention. The 
following section should be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
In the event that a student dies by suicide, the Superintendent or designee shall communicate with 
the student's parents/guardians to offer condolences, assistance, and resources. In accordance with 
the laws governing confidentiality of student record information, the Superintendent or designee 
shall consult with the parents/guardians regarding facts that may be divulged to other students, 
parents/guardians, and staff. 
 

Note:  Research has identified an increased risk of suicide among youth who are grieving the suicide of another 
(so-called "suicide contagion"). The National Association of School Psychologists, in its Preventing Suicide:  
Guidelines for Administrators and Crisis Teams, recommends that memorials should be implemented with care so 
as not to sensationalize or glamorize suicide and thereby increase the suicide risk to other students. If a memorial 
is conducted for a student who dies by suicide, the association suggests a living memorial, such as making 
donations to a local crisis center, participating in an event that raises awareness about suicide prevention, or 
providing other opportunities for service activities in the school that emphasize the importance of students taking 
care of each other. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall implement procedures to address students' and staff's grief 
and to minimize the risk of imitative suicide or suicide contagion. The Superintendent or designee 
shall provide students, parents/guardians, and staff with information, counseling, and/or referrals 
to community agencies as needed.  Students significantly affected by suicide death and those at 
risk of imitative behavior should be identified and closely monitored. School staff may receive 
assistance from school counselors or other mental health professionals in determining how best to 
discuss the suicide or attempted suicide with students. 
 
Any response to media inquiries shall be handled by the district-designated spokesperson who 
shall not divulge confidential information. The district's response shall not sensationalize suicide 
and shall focus on the district's postvention plan and available resources. 
(cf. 1112- Media Relations) 
 
After any suicide or attempted suicide by a student, the Superintendent or designee shall provide 
an opportunity for all staff who responded to the incident to debrief, evaluate the effectiveness of 
the strategies used, and make recommendations for future actions. 
 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 11, 2017  
revised: March 12, 2019 
revised: June 23, 2020 





1 
**Revisions** – reviewed by Administrators 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy  
Students  
BP 5144.1 
 
SUSPENSION AND EXPULSION/DUE PROCESS 
 

Note:  Education Code 35291 requires the Governing Board to prescribe rules and regulations for maintaining 
discipline in the schools under its jurisdiction. Education Code 48918 mandates the setting of rules and regulations 
for student expulsion as specified in this Board policy and the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
While recognizing that suspension or expulsion of students is sometimes necessary, legislative, administrative, 
regulatory, civic, and educational leaders are united in the belief that instructional time should be used for student 
learning purposes and that school discipline should be imposed in a way that, as much as possible, does not exclude 
students from school or limit their ability or opportunity to learn. According to the U.S. Department of Justice's 
Civil Rights Division (DOJ) and the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights (OCR), in their joint 
January 2014 Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, studies 
suggest a correlation between exclusionary discipline policies and practices (such as suspension and expulsion) 
and an array of serious educational, economic, and social problems, including school avoidance and diminished 
educational engagement, decreased academic achievement, increased behavior problems, and increased likelihood 
of dropping out, substance abuse, and involvement with the juvenile justice system. Consequently, they 
recommend that districts adopt alternative disciplinary measures that provide students with appropriate 
interventions and supports as a means for preventing and addressing student misbehaviors. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, a district is not authorized to suspend a student for certain specified violations 
unless the student has been subjected to other means of correction which have failed to bring about proper conduct. 
Such other means of correction include, but are not limited to, conferences between school personnel, the student, 
and the student's parent/guardian; use of study, guidance, or other intervention teams to develop a plan to address 
the behavior in partnership with the student; and participation in a restorative justice program. For further 
information about specific disciplinary strategies, including alternatives to class or school removals, see BP/AR 
5144 - Discipline. Education Code 48900.5 authorizes a district to document in a student's records the alternative 
means of correction used to address the student's behavior. Furthermore, when a student is being suspended by the 
Superintendent, principal, or designee, Education Code 48911 requires that the student be informed, during the 
informal conference that precedes the suspension, of the other means of correction that were attempted before the 
suspension. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48913.5, as added by AB 982 (Ch. 779, Statutes of 2019), when a parent/guardian of 
a student in grades 1-12 who has been suspended for two or more school days requests homework that the student 
would otherwise have been assigned, the student's teacher must provide such homework; see BP 6154 - 
Homework/Makeup Work. 

 
The Governing Board desires to provide district students access to educational opportunities in an 
orderly school environment that protects their safety and security, ensures their welfare and well-
being, and promotes their learning and development. The Board shall develop rules and regulations 
setting the standards of behavior expected of district students and the disciplinary processes and 
procedures for addressing violations of those standards, including suspension and/or expulsion. 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
 



2 

The grounds for suspension and expulsion and the procedures for considering, recommending, 
and/or implementing suspension and expulsion shall be only those specified in law, in this policy, 
and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48900(s), a student may be subject to discipline only when the violation is 
related to a school activity or school attendance as specified below. A student may also be disciplined for a 
violation committed away from school if it is related to a school activity or to school attendance. For example, 
Education Code 48900 defines bullying by means of an electronic act as including an act that originates off 
campus; see the accompanying administrative regulation and BP/AR 5131.2 - Bullying.  Another example is the 
hostile school environment which a victim may suffer from sexual harassment that occurs off campus; see BP/AR 
5145.7 - Sexual Harassment. 

 
Except when otherwise permitted by law, a student may be suspended or expelled only when 
his/herthe behavior is related to a school activity or school attendance occurring within any district 
school or another school district, regardless of when it occurs, including, but not limited to, the 
following:  (Education Code 48900(s)) 
 
1. While on school grounds 
 
2. While going to or coming from school 
 
3. During the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus 

(cf. 5112.5 - Open/Closed Campus) 
 
4. During, going to, or coming from a school-sponsored activity 
 

Note:  The following paragraph addresses the problem of unlawful discrimination in the administration of student 
discipline. In their joint January 2014 Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School 
Discipline, DOJ and OCR noted that, based on the civil rights data collection conducted by OCR, students of 
certain racial or ethnic groups tended to be disciplined more, and sometimes more harshly, than their similarly 
situated peers in violation of federal nondiscrimination laws. The letter warned that any district determined to have 
engaged in unlawful discrimination could be subject to OCR investigation and significant remedial action. 

 
District staff shall enforce the rules concerning suspension and expulsion of students fairly, 
consistently, equally, and in accordance with the district's nondiscrimination policies. 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900.5 requires districts to use other means of correction instead of suspension or 
expulsion except when a student commits certain enumerated offenses. The following section reflects legislative 
intent regarding appropriate use of suspension as a means of disciplining students and may be modified to reflect 
district practice. 

 
Except when a student's act violates Education Code 48900(a)-(e), as listed in items #1-5 under 
"Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" of the accompanying administrative 
regulation, or when his/herthe student's presence causes a danger to others, suspension shall be 



3 

used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct.  (Education 
Code 48900.5, 48900.6) 
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
A student's parents/guardians shall be notified as soon as possible when there is an escalating 
pattern of misbehavior that could lead to on-campus or off-campus suspension. 
 

Note:  As amended by SB 419 (Ch. 279, Statutes of 2019), Education Code 48900(k) prohibits a district from 
suspending students in grades K-8 for disruption or willful defiance beginning July 1, 2020. 
 
A district may, but is not required to, suspend students in grades 9-12 for disruption or willful defiance.  Even with 
this authority, districts should be careful in using these grounds, as available data have indicated a disproportionate 
use with certain student subgroups. Option 1 below is for use by any district that chooses to suspend students in 
grades 9-12 for disruption and/or willful defiance as authorized pursuant to Education Code 48900(k). Any district 
that chooses to eliminate disruption and willful defiance as reasons for suspending any of its students from school 
should select Option 2 below. Such districts should also delete the section titled "Additional Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12" in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
Each option below reflects an exception granted to teachers pursuant to Education Code 48910 to suspend students, 
including a K-3 student, from class; see section "Suspension from Class by a Teacher" in the accompanying 
administrative regulation. 

 
No student may be suspended for disruption or willful defiance, except by a teacher pursuant to 
Education Code 48910.  (Education Code 48900) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph reflects the Legislature's intent, expressed in Education Code 48900, 
concerning disciplinary actions against truant, tardy, or absent students. Since these are not enumerated offenses, 
a district does not have the authority to suspend or expel students for committing any of these acts. 

 
Students shall not be suspended or expelled for truancy, tardiness, or absenteeism from assigned 
school activities. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 

Note:  As an alternative to off-campus suspension, Education Code 48911.1 authorizes a supervised suspension 
classroom program for students who pose no imminent danger to anyone at school and who have not been 
recommended for expulsion, as specified below.  Education Code 48911.2 states that, if the number of students 
suspended during the prior year exceeds 30 percent of the school's enrollment, the district should consider 
implementing this program and/or another on-campus progressive discipline program. 
 
The following optional section is for use by districts implementing a supervised suspension classroom program. 
Such districts may continue to claim funding apportionments for students so assigned, provided they meet specific 



4 

criteria which are set forth under "Supervised Suspension Classroom" in the accompanying administrative 
regulation.  A district does not receive funding for off-campus suspensions. 

 
To ensure the proper supervision and ongoing learning of students who are suspended for any of 
the reasons enumerated in Education Code 48900 and 48900.2, but who pose no imminent danger 
or threat to anyone at school and for whom expulsion proceedings have not been initiated, the 
Superintendent or designee shall establish a supervised suspension classroom program which 
meets the requirements of law. 
 
Except where a supervised suspension is permitted by law for a student's first offense, supervised 
suspension shall be imposed only when other means of correction have failed to bring about proper 
conduct.  (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Authority to Expel 
 
A student may be expelled only by the Board.  (Education Code 48918(j)) 
 
As required by law, the Superintendent or principal shall recommend expulsion and the Board 
shall expel any student found to have committed any of the following "mandatory recommendation 
and mandatory expulsion" acts at school or at a school activity off school grounds:  (Education 
Code 48915) 
 
1. Possessing a firearm which is not an imitation firearm, as verified by a certificated 

employee, unless the student had obtained prior written permission to possess the item from 
a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's concurrence 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 

 
2. Selling or otherwise furnishing a firearm 
 
3. Brandishing a knife at another person 
 
4. Unlawfully selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058 
 
5. Committing or attempting to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 

286, 288, 288a, or 289, or committing a sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 
 
6. Possessing an explosive as defined in 18 USC 921 
 
For all other violations listed in the accompanying administrative regulation under "Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  
Grades 4-12,", the Superintendent or principal shall have the discretion to recommend expulsion 
of a student. If expulsion is recommended, the Board shall order the student expelled only if it 
makes a finding of either or both of the following:  (Education Code 48915(b) and (e)) 
 
1. That other means of correction are not feasible or have repeatedly failed to bring about 

proper conduct 



5 

 
2. That due to the nature of the violation, the presence of the student causes a continuing 

danger to the physical safety of the student or others 
 
A vote to expel a student shall be taken in an open session of a Board meeting. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48917, the Board may decide to suspend the enforcement of an order for 
expulsion as long as a student satisfies specific conditions. See the accompanying administrative regulation for 
criteria. In addition, the Attorney General opined in 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 85 (1997) that the enforcement of an 
expulsion order may be suspended even in those cases where the student has committed an offense for which 
expulsion is required by law.  Legal counsel should be consulted as appropriate. 

 
The Board may vote to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion order pursuant to the 
requirements of law and the accompanying administrative regulation.  (Education Code 48917) 
 
No student shall be expelled for disruption or willful defiance.  (Education Code 48900) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts that contract with the California Department of Education 
(CDE) to operate a California State Preschool Program. Education Code 8239.1 prohibits the expulsion or 
disenrollment of a child in a preschool program unless the district has taken specified steps and the child's 
continued enrollment would present a serious safety threat to the child or other enrolled children. For further details 
regarding the steps the district must take prior to expelling a child, see BP 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood 
Education. 

 
No child enrolled in a preschool program shall be expelled except under limited circumstances as 
specified in AR 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
 
Due Process 
 
The Board shall provide for the fair and equitable treatment of students facing suspension and/or 
expulsion by affording them their due process rights under the law. The Superintendent or designee 
shall comply with procedures for notices, hearings, and appeals as specified in law and 
administrative regulation.  (Education Code 48911, 48915, 48915.5, 48918) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
 
Maintenance and Monitoring of Outcome Data 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1 require the district to maintain data related to suspensions and 
expulsions as provided below. Pursuant to Education Code 48916.1, the Superintendent of Public Instruction may 
require submission of such data as part of the Federal Program Monitoring process. In addition, 20 USC 7961 
requires districts to submit to CDE a description of the circumstances surrounding any expulsions based on 
bringing or possessing a firearm on campus, including the name of the school, the number of students expelled, 
and the type of firearms involved. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall maintain outcome data related to student suspensions and 
expulsions in accordance with Education Code 48900.8 and 48916.1, including, but not limited to, 



6 

the number of students recommended for expulsion, the grounds for each recommended expulsion, 
the actions taken by the Board, the types of referral made after each expulsion, and the disposition 
of the students after the expulsion period. For any expulsion that involves the possession of a 
firearm, such data shall include the name of the school and the type of firearm involved, as required 
pursuant to 20 USC 7961. Suspension and expulsion data shall be reported to the Board annually 
and to the California Department of Education when so required. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 52060, districts are required to address school climate in the local control and 
accountability plan, as measured by student suspension and expulsion rates and other local measures for each 
school and each numerically significant student subgroup. As defined in Education Code 52052, numerically 
significant subgroups include ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically disadvantaged students, English learners, 
students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students, when there are at least 30 students in the subgroup 
or at least 15 foster youth or homeless students. 

 
In presenting the report to the Board, the Superintendent or designee shall disaggregate data on 
suspensions and expulsions by school and by numerically significant student subgroups, including, 
but not limited to, ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically disadvantaged students, English learners, 
students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. Based on the data, the Board shall 
address any identified disparities in the imposition of student discipline and shall determine 
whether and how the district is meeting its goals for improving school climate as specified in its 
local control and accountability plan. 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
212.5  Sexual harassment 
233  Hate violence 
1981-1981.5  Enrollment of students in community school 
8239.1  Prohibition against expulsion of preschool student 
17292.5  Program for expelled students 
32261  Interagency School Safety Demonstration Act of 1985 
35145  Open board meetings 
35146  Closed sessions (regarding suspensions) 
35291  Rules (for government and discipline of schools) 
35291.5  Rules and procedures on school discipline 
48645.5  Readmission; contact with juvenile justice system 
48660-48666  Community day schools 
48853.5  Foster youth 
48900-48927  Suspension and expulsion 
48950  Speech and other communication 
48980  Parental notifications 
49073-49079  Privacy of student records 
52052  Numerically significant student subgroups 
52060-52077  Local control and accountability plan 
64000-64001  Consolidated application 
CIVIL CODE 
47  Privileged communication 
48.8  Defamation liability 
CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 



7 

1985-1997  Subpoenas; means of production 
GOVERNMENT CODE 
11455.20  Contempt 
54950-54963  Ralph M. Brown Act 
HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 
11014.5  Drug paraphernalia 
11053-11058  Standards and schedules 
LABOR CODE 
230.7  Employee time off to appear in school on behalf of a child 
PENAL CODE 
31  Principal of a crime, defined 
240  Assault defined 
241.2  Assault fines 
242  Battery defined 
243.2  Battery on school property 
243.4  Sexual battery 
245  Assault with deadly weapon 
245.6  Hazing 
261  Rape defined 
266c  Unlawful sexual intercourse 
286  Sodomy defined 
288  Lewd or lascivious acts with child under age 14 
288a  Oral copulation 
289  Penetration of genital or anal openings 
417.27  Laser pointers 
422.55  Hate crime defined 
422.6  Interference with exercise of civil rights 
422.7  Aggravating factors for punishment 
422.75  Enhanced penalties for hate crimes 
626.2  Entry upon campus after written notice of suspension or dismissal without permission 
626.9  Gun-Free School Zone Act of 1995 
626.10  Dirks, daggers, knives, razors, or stun guns 
868.5  Supporting person; attendance during testimony of witness 
WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE 
729.6  Counseling 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 18 
921  Definitions, firearm 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
1415(K)  Placement in alternative educational setting 
7961  Gun-free schools 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 
11432-11435  Education of homeless children and youths 
COURT DECISIONS 
T.H. v. San Diego Unified School District (2004) 122 Cal. App. 4th 1267 
Woodbury v. Dempsey (2003) 108 Cal. App. 4th 421 
Board of Education of Sacramento City Unified School District v. Sacramento County Board of Education 
and Kenneth H.  (2001) 85 Cal.App.4th 1321 
Fremont Union High School District v. Santa Clara County Board (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 118 
Garcia v. Los Angeles Board of Education (1991) 123 Cal. App. 3d 807 
John A. v. San Bernardino School District (1982) 33 Cal. 3d 301 
ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS 
84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 146 (2001) 
80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 348 (1997) 
80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 91 (1997) 
80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 85 (1997) 



8 

Management Resources: 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS PUBLICATIONS 
Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, January 2014 
WEB SITES 
CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 
California Attorney General's Office:  http://www.oag.ca.gov 
California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 
U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights:  http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-
2012-data-summary.pdf 
U.S. Department of Education, Office of Safe and Healthy Students:  
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/oese/oshs 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007  
revised: August 9, 2011  
revised: June 12, 2012 
revised: April 9, 2013 
revised: June 18, 2014 
revised: March 10, 2015 
revised: February 13, 2018 
revised: November 13, 2018 
revised: June 23, 2020 



1 
**Revisions** – reviewed by Administrators 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Students  
AR 5144.1 
 
SUSPENSION AND EXPULSION/DUE PROCESS 
 

Note:  CSBA recommends that this administrative regulation be approved by the Governing Board, regardless of 
regular district practice regarding the approval of administrative regulations. 
Education Code 35291 requires the Board to adopt rules and regulations, which are not inconsistent with law or 
rules adopted by the State Board of Education, for the government and discipline of the schools under its 
jurisdiction. In addition, Education Code 48918 and 48918.5 mandate that districts adopt rules concerning the due 
process rights of students in expulsion situations, and Education Code 48916 mandates procedures for filing and 
processing requests for readmission. Specific language complying with these mandates is included throughout this 
administrative regulation. 

 
Definitions 
 
Suspension means removal of a student from ongoing instruction for adjustment purposes.  However, 
suspension does not mean any of the following:  (Education Code 48925) 
 
1. Reassignment to another education program or class at the same school where the student will 

receive continuing instruction for the length of day prescribed by the Governing Board of Education 
for students of the same grade level 

 
2. Referral to a certificated employee designated by the principal to advise students 
 
3. Removal from the class, but without reassignment to another class or program, for the remainder 

of the class period without sending the student to the principal or designee as provided in Education 
Code 48910 

 
Expulsion means removal of a student from the immediate supervision and control or the general 
supervision of school personnel.  (Education Code 48925) 
 
Notice of Regulations 
 
At the beginning of each school year, the principal of each school shall ensure that all students and 
parents/guardians are notified in writing of all school rules related to discipline, including suspension and 
expulsion.  (Education Code 35291, 48900.1, 48980) 
(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 
 
Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12 

Note:  The acts for which students may be suspended or expelled are specified in law, the following section, and 
the sections below titled "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," and "Additional 
Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12." The Board does not have authority to add to those 
enumerated acts.  However, the Board has authority to prohibit suspension or expulsion for certain acts for which 
suspension or expulsion is permissible rather than mandatory.  The Board may consider limiting the use of 
suspension and expulsion for such offenses as part of the district plan to address school climate within the local 



2 

control and accountability plan required pursuant to Education Code 52060.  In addition, pursuant to Education 
Code 48900.5, a district is not authorized to suspend a student for certain specified violations unless other means 
of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. 

 
Acts for which a student, including a student with disabilities, may be suspended or expelled shall be only 
those specified as follows and in the sections "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 
4-12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12" below: 
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
 
1. Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person; willfully used 

force or violence upon another person, except in self-defense; or committed as an aider or abettor, 
as adjudged by a juvenile court, a crime of physical violence in which the victim suffered great or 
serious bodily injury  (Education Code 48900(a) and (t)) 

 
Note:  The Attorney General, in 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 91 (1997), determined that a student may be expelled for 
"possession" of a firearm if the student knowingly and voluntarily had direct control over the firearm.  The only 
exceptions are when the student has permission from school officials to possess the firearm (pursuant to Education 
Code 48900 and 48915) or when the possession is brief and solely for the purpose of disposing of the firearm, such 
as handing it to school officials. Note that "firearm" does not include "imitation firearm" which is listed separately 
in item #12 below. See BP 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments. 
Pursuant to Penal Code 417.27, students are prohibited from possessing a laser pointer on school premises, except 
for a valid instructional or other school-related purpose.  See BP 5131 - Conduct. 

 
2. Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object, 

unless, in the case of possession of any object of this type, the student had obtained written 
permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's 
concurrence  (Education Code 48900(b)) 
(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments) 

 
3. Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, otherwise furnished, or was under the influence of any controlled 

substance as defined in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant of 
any kind  (Education Code 48900(c)) 
(cf. 3513.4 - Drug and Alcohol Free Schools) 
(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs) 

 
4. Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance as defined in Health 

and Safety Code 11053-11058, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant of any kind, and then sold, 
delivered, or otherwise furnished to any person another liquid, substance, or material and 
represented same as such controlled substance, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant  (Education Code 
48900(d)) 

 
5. Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion  (Education Code 48900(e)) 
 
6. Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property  (Education Code 

48900(f)) 
 
7. Stole or attempted to steal school property or private property (Education Code 48900(g)) 
 
8. Possessed or used tobacco or products containing tobacco or nicotine products, including, but not 

limited to, cigars, cigarettes, miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew 



3 

packets, and betel, except that this restriction shall not prohibit a student from using or possessing 
his/her own prescription products  (Education Code 48900(h)) 
(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 

 
9. Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity  (Education Code 48900(i)) 
 
10. Unlawfully possessed, offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia, as defined in 

Health and Safety Code 11014.5  (Education Code 48900(j)) 
 
11. Knowingly received stolen school property or private property (Education Code 48900(l)) 
 
12. Possessed an imitation firearm  (Education Code 48900(m)) 
  
 Imitation firearm means a replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar in physical properties 

to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm.  
(Education Code 48900(m)) 

 
13. Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 288, 

288a, or 289, or committed a sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 (Education Code 
48900(n)) 

 
14. Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a student who is a complaining witness or witness in a school 

disciplinary proceeding for the purpose of preventing that student from being a witness and/or 
retaliating against that student for being a witness (Education Code 48900(o)) 

 
15. Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug Soma  

(Education Code 48900(p)) 
 
16. Engaged in, or attempted to engage in, hazing  (Education Code 48900(q)) 
 
 Hazing means a method of initiation or pre-initiation into a student organization or body, whether 

or not the organization or body is officially recognized by an educational institution, which is likely 
to cause serious bodily injury or personal degradation or disgrace resulting in physical or mental 
harm to a former, current, or prospective student. Hazing does not include athletic events or school-
sanctioned events.  (Education Code 48900(q)) 

 
Note:  Education Code 48900(r) defines "bullying" as "any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, 
including communications made in writing or by means of electronic act," which is directed toward a student and 
which would have serious detrimental consequences upon a reasonable student.  Pursuant to Education Code 
48900, a student may be disciplined for bullying by means of an electronic act even when the act originated off 
campus. See also BP 5131.2 - Bullying. 

 
17. Engaged in an act of bullying (Education Code 48900(r)) 
 

Bullying means any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, including 
communications made in writing or by means of an electronic act, directed toward one or more 
students that has or can reasonably be predicted to have the effect of placing a reasonable student 
in fear of harm to himself/herselfself or his/her property; cause the student to experience a 
substantially detrimental effect on his/her physical or mental health; or cause the student to 
experience substantial interferences with his/her academic performance or ability to participate in 



4 

or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges provided by a school.  (Education Code 
48900(r)) 

 
Note:  "Bullying" also would include any act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or 
intimidation committed by a student at any grade level, as set forth in Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 
48900.4, when the act results in harm to a reasonable student as specified in the above paragraph.  However, when 
bullying is found under these circumstances, students below grade 4 may be disciplined for the "bullying" but not 
for the underlying act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or intimidation as specified below 
in the section "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12." 

 
Bullying includes any act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or 
intimidation, as defined in Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4 and below in items #1-3 
ofthe section "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," that has any of 
the effects described above on a reasonable student. 
 
Bullying also includes an act of cyber sexual bullying by a student through the dissemination of, or 
the solicitation or incitement to disseminate, a photograph or other visual recording that depicts a 
nude, semi-nude, or sexually explicit photograph or other visual recording of an identifiable minor, 
when such dissemination is to another student or to school personnel by means of an electronic act 
and has or can be reasonably predicted to have one or more of the effects of bullying described 
above. Cyber sexual bullying does not include a depiction, portrayal, or image that has any serious 
literary, artistic, educational, political, or scientific value or that involves athletic events or school-
sanctioned activities. 
 
Electronic act means the creation or transmission originated on or off the school site by means of 
an electronic device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, wireless telephone, or other wireless 
communication device, computer, or pager, of a communication including, but not limited to:  
(Education Code 48900(r)) 
 
a. A message, text, sound, video, or image 
b. A post on a social network Internet web site, including, but not limited to, posting to or 

creating a burn page or creating a credible impersonation or false profile for the purpose of 
causing a reasonable student any of the effects of bullying described above. 

 
Reasonable student means a student, including, but not limited to, a student who has been identified 
as a student with a disability, who exercises average care, skill, and judgment in conduct for a 
person of his/herthe student's age, or for a person of his/herthe student's age with his/herand 
disability.  (Education Code 48900(r)) 
(cf. 1114 - District-Sponsored Social Media) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 
(cf. 6163.4 - Student Use of Technology) 
(cf. 6164.4 - Identification and Evaluation of Individuals for Special Education) 
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education under Section 504) 

 
Note:  Education Code 48900(t) allows for the suspension, but not expulsion, of a student who "aids or abets," as 
defined in Penal Code 31, the infliction or attempted infliction of physical injury to another person.  The term 
"aiding or abetting," is a complex legal term and requires that, at the time the crime was committed, the aider or 
abettor was aware of the crime and specifically intended to commit the crime.  Because of the complexities of 
criminal law, legal counsel should be consulted as appropriate. 
Pursuant to Education Code 48900(t), any student who aids or abets a crime of physical violence in which the 
victim suffered great bodily injury or serious bodily injury is subject to suspension or expulsion as provided in 
item #1 above. 



5 

 
18. Aided or abetted the infliction or attempted infliction of physical injury on another person, as 

defined in Penal Code 31  (Education Code 48900(t)) 
 
19. Made terrorist threats against school officials and/or school property  (Education Code 48900.7) 

 
A terrorist threat includes any written or oral statement by a person who willfully threatens to 
commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to another person or property 
damage in excess of $1,000, with the specific intent that the statement is to be taken as a threat, 
even if there is no intent of actually carrying it out.  (Education Code 48900.7) 

 
Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12 

Note:  The following section applies only to students in grades 4-12 and may be revised to reflect grade levels 
offered by the district. 
As discussed in item #17 of "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12" above, although Education 
Code 48900(r) defines bullying to include acts involving items #1-3 below, Education Code 48900.2-48900.4 
provide that only students in grades 4-12 may be suspended or expelled for the individual acts that constitute sexual 
harassment, hate violence, and harassment.  The interplay between "bullying" and items #1-3 can raise complex 
legal issues.  Districts should consult legal counsel as appropriate. 

-12 may be suspended, but not expelled, for disrupting school activities or otherwise willfully 
defying the valid authority of supervisors, teachers, administrators, other school officials, or other 
school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties.  (Education Code 48900(k)) 
(cf. 5131.4 - Student Disturbances) 
 
A student in grades 4-12 shall be subject to suspension or recommendation for expulsion when it is 
determined that he/shethe student: 
 
1. Committed sexual harassment as defined in Education Code 212.5  (Education Code 48900.2) 

 
Sexual harassment means conduct which, when considered from the perspective of a reasonable 
person of the same gender as the victim, is sufficiently severe or pervasive as to have a negative 
impact upon the victim's academic performance or to create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive 
educational environment.  (Education Code 212.5, 48900.2) 
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment) 

 
2. Caused, attempted to cause, threatened to cause, or participated in an act of hate violence as defined 

in Education Code 233  (Education Code 48900.3) 
 
Hate violence means any act punishable under Penal Code 422.6, 422.7, or 422.75.  Such acts 
include injuring or intimidating a victim, interfering with the exercise of a victim's civil rights, or 
damaging a victim's property because of the victim's race, ethnicity, religion, nationality, disability, 
gender, gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation; a perception of the presence of 
any of those characteristics in the victim; or the victim's association with a person or group with 
one or more of those actual or perceived characteristics.  (Education Code 233; Penal Code 422.55) 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior) 

 
3. Intentionally engaged in harassment, threats, or intimidation against district personnel or students 

that is sufficiently severe or pervasive to have the actual and reasonably expected effect of 
materially disrupting classwork, creating substantial disorder, and invading the rights of school 
personnel or students by creating an intimidating or hostile educational environment  (Education 
Code 48900.4) 



6 

(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment) 
 
Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 9-12 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48900(k), as amended by SB 419 (Ch. 279, Statutes of 2019), students in grades 
K-8 must not be suspended for disruption of school activities or willful defiance of school authority, and students 
in grades K-12 must not be expelled on these grounds. Since districts are authorized but not required to suspend 
students in grades 9-12 based on these grounds, the following section is for use only by districts that selected 
Option 1 in the section "Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority" in the accompanying Board policy. Districts 
that selected Option 2 in the accompanying Board policy, thereby prohibiting the use of these reasons for 
suspending students at any grade level, should delete the following section. 
None of the prohibitions or restrictions in Education Code 48900(k) affect a teacher's authority to remove a student 
from class for one day pursuant to Education Code 48910. See the section "Suspension from Class by a Teacher" 
below. 

 
Any student in grades 9-12 may be suspended, but not expelled, for disrupting school activities or otherwise 
willfully defying the valid authority of supervisors, teachers, administrators, other school officials, or other 
school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties.  (Education Code 48900(k)) 
(cf. 5131.4 - Student Disturbances) 
 
Suspension from Class by a Teacher 

Note:  The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. While Education Code 
48900(k) prohibits a district from suspending students in grades K-8 for disruption or willful defiance, it still 
allows for a teacher to suspend a K-8 student on these grounds. 

 
A teacher may suspend a student, including a grade K-3 student, from class for the remainder of the day 
and the following day for disruption, willful defiance, or any of the other acts specified in Education Code 
48900 and listed as items #1-18 under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" above or for 
disruption or willful defiance at any grade level, including grades K-8.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
When suspending a student from class, the teacher shall immediately report this action to the principal or 
designee and send the student to the principal or designee for appropriate action.  If that action requires the 
continuing presence of the student at school, he/shethe student shall be appropriately supervised during the 
class periods from which he/shethe student has been suspended.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
As soon as possible after the teacher decides to suspend the student, he/shethe teacher shall ask the student's 
parent/guardian to attend a parent-teacher conference regarding the suspension.  A counselor or 
psychologist may attend the conference if it is practicable, and a school administrator shall attend if either 
the parent/guardian or teacher so requests.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
A student suspended from class shall not be returned to class during the period of the suspension without 
the approval of the teacher of the class and the principal or designee.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
A student suspended from class shall not be placed in another regular class during the period of suspension.  
However, a student assigned to more than one class per day may continue to attend other regular classes 
except those held at the same time as the class from which he/shethe student was suspended.  (Education 
Code 48910) 
 
The teacher of any class from which a student is suspended may require the student to complete any 
assignments and tests missed during the removal.  (Education Code 48913) 
 
 
 



7 

Suspension by Superintendent, Principal or Principal's Designee 
 
To implement disciplinary procedures at a school site, the principal may, in writing, designate as the 
principal's designee another administrator or, if the principal is the only administrator at the school site, a 
certificated employee. As necessary, the principal may, in writing, also designate another administrator or 
certificated employee as the secondary designee to assist with disciplinary procedures when the principal 
and the principal's primary designee are absent from the school site. 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee shall immediately suspend any student found at school or at a 
school activity to have committed any of the acts listed in the Board policy under "Authority to Expel" and 
for which he/shea recommendation of expulsion is required to recommend expulsion.  (Education Code 
48915(c)) 
 

Note:  Education Code 48900.5 limits situations warranting suspension for a first offense to when the violation 
involves Education Code 48900(a)-(e) or the student's presence causes a danger to persons. 

 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee may impose a suspension for a first offense if he/she determinesit 
is determined that the student violated any of items #1-5 listed under "Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades K-12" above or if the student's presence causes a danger to persons.  (Education Code 
48900.5) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48900 and 48915, except for certain egregious acts or offenses for which 
suspension is permissible or mandatory, as specified above pursuant to Education Code 48915(a) or (c), the 
Superintendent or principal is authorized to provide an alternative, age-appropriate disciplinary measure that is 
tailored to correct a student's specific misbehavior. In addition, the U.S. Department of Justice's Civil Rights 
Division (DOJ) and the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights (OCR), in their joint January 2014 
Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, recommend that effective 
alternatives to suspension and expulsion be implemented for correcting student misbehavior.  For a list of 
appropriate alternatives, see AR 5144 - Discipline. 

 
For all other offenses, a student may be suspended only when the Superintendent or principal has 
determined that other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct.  (Education Code 
48900.5) 
 
When other means of correction are implemented prior to imposing suspension or supervised suspension 
upon a student, the Superintendent, principal, or designee shall document the other means of correction 
used and retain the documentation in the student's record.  (Education Code 48900.5) 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 
Length of Suspension 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee may suspend a student from school for not more than five 
consecutive school days.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
A student may be suspended from school for not more than 20 school days in any school year.  However, 
if a student enrolls in or is transferred to another regular school, an opportunity school, or continuation 
school or class for the purpose of adjustment, he/shethe student may be suspended for not more than 30 
school days in a school year.  The district may count suspensions that occur while a student is enrolled in 
another school district toward the maximum number of days for which the student may be suspended in 
any school year.  (Education Code 48903, 48911, 48912) 
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 
 



8 

These restrictions on the number of days of suspension shall not apply when the suspension is extended 
pending an expulsion.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
Due Process Procedures for Suspension 
 
Suspensions shall be imposed in accordance with the following procedures: 
 
1. Informal Conference:  Suspension shall be preceded by an informal conference conducted by the 

Superintendent, principal, or designee with the student and, whenever practicable, the teacher, 
supervisor, or school employee who referred the student to the principal. At the conference, the 
student shall be informed of the reason for the disciplinary action, including the other means of 
correction that were attempted before the suspension as required pursuant to Education Code 
48900.5, and the evidence against him/herthe student, and shall be given the opportunity to present 
his/herthe student's version and evidence in support of his/her defense.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
This conference may be omitted if the Superintendent, principal, or designee determines that an 
emergency situation exists involving a clear and present danger to the lives, safety, or health of 
students or school personnel. If a student is suspended without this conference, both the 
parent/guardian and student shall be notified of the student's right to return to school for the purpose 
of the conference and the conference shall be held within two school days, unless the student waives 
his/herthe right to it or is physically unable to attend for any reason. In such a case, the conference 
shall be held as soon as the student is physically able to return to school.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
Note:  Item #2 below should be revised to reflect the district's processing and reporting procedures. 

 
2. Administrative Actions:  All requests for student suspension are to be processed by the principal 

or designee. A school employee shall report the suspension, including the name of the student and 
the cause for the suspension, to the Superintendent or designee.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
3. Notice to Parents/Guardians:  At the time of the suspension, a school employee shall make a 

reasonable effort to contact the parent/guardian by telephone or in person. Whenever a student is 
suspended, the parent/guardian shall also be notified in writing of the suspension.  (Education Code 
48911) 

 
 This notice shall state the specific offense committed by the student.  (Education Code 48900.8) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
 In addition, the notice may state the date and time when the student may return to school. 
 
4. Parent/Guardian Conference:  Whenever a student is suspended, school officials may request a 

meeting with the parent/guardian to discuss the cause(s) and duration of the suspension, the school 
policy involved, and any other pertinent matter.  (Education Code 48914) 

 
 If school officials request to meet with the parent/guardian, the notice may state that the law 

requires the parent/guardian to respond to such requests without delay. However, no penalties may 
be imposed on the student for the failure of the parent/guardian to attend such a conference. The 
student may not be denied reinstatement solely because the parent/guardian failed to attend the 
conference.  (Education Code 48911) 

 



9 

5. Extension of Suspension:  If the Board is considering the expulsion of a suspended student from 
any school or the suspension of a student for the balance of the semester from continuation school, 
the Superintendent or designee may, in writing, extend the suspension until such time as the Board 
has made a decision, provided the following requirements are followed:  (Education Code 48911) 
 
a. The extension of the original period of suspension is preceded by notice of such extension 

with an offer to hold a conference concerning the extension, giving the student an 
opportunity to be heard. This conference may be held in conjunction with a meeting 
requested by the student or parent/guardian to challenge the original suspension. 

 
b. The Superintendent or designee determines, following a meeting in which the student and 

the student's parent/guardian were invited to participate, that the student's presence at the 
school or at an alternative school would endanger persons or property or threaten to disrupt 
the instructional process.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
Note:  When the student being considered for expulsion is a foster youth, Education Code 48911 and 48918.1 
require the district to invite the student's attorney and an appropriate county child welfare agency representative 
to the meeting specified above. See the section below titled "Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster 
Youth and Homeless Students." To ensure such invitation, the following paragraph provides that the district liaison 
for foster youth be notified. However, any district that has designated another position to carry out this 
responsibility may modify the paragraph to specify that position. For designation of the liaison for foster youth, 
see AR 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth. 

 
c. If the student involved is a foster youth, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the 

district liaison for foster youth of the need to invite the student's attorney and a 
representative of the appropriate county child welfare agency to attend the meeting.  
(Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48918.1) 
(cf. 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth) 

 
Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, the district's liaison for homeless students must be notified when the 
student being considered for expulsion is a homeless student.  See the section below titled "Additional Notice of 
Expulsion Hearing for Foster Youth and Homeless Students." 

 
d. If the student involved is a homeless child or youth, the Superintendent or designee shall 

notify the district liaison for homeless students.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
(cf. 6173 - Education for Homeless Children) 

 
Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Since Education Code 48900 
and 48900.5 require a district, under certain circumstances, to use alternative disciplinary measures prior to 
imposing suspension, including supervised suspension, the district may, as necessary, provide services that would 
address the student's specific misbehavior along with the suspension program. For example, the district may 
require the student to enroll in a program that teaches prosocial behavior or anger management even while the 
student is suspended. 

 
In lieu of or in addition to suspending a student, the Superintendent, principal, or designee may provide 
services or require the student to participate in an alternative disciplinary program designed to correct 
his/herthe behavior and keep him/herthe student in school. 
 
Suspension by the Board 

Note:  The following optional section reflects the Board's authority to suspend students from school pursuant to 
Education Code 48912. In practice, it is impractical for boards to directly exercise this authority since 



10 

circumstances warranting suspension usually require quick and sometimes immediate action which may not be 
possible for a board due to legal requirements for taking board actions, such as having a meeting. 

 
The Board may suspend a student for any of the acts listed under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  
Grades K-12" and," "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," and "Additional 
Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12" above and within the limits specified under 
"Suspension by Superintendent, Principal, or Designee" above.  (Education Code 48912) 
 
The Board may suspend a student enrolled in a continuation school or class for a period not longer than the 
remainder of the semester. The suspension shall meet the requirements of Education Code 48915.  
(Education Code 48912.5) 
 
When the Board is considering a suspension, disciplinary action, or any other action (except 
expulsion) against any student, it shall hold a closed session if a public hearing would lead to 
disclosure of information that would violate a student's right to privacy under Education Code 
49073-49079.  (Education Code 35146, 48912) 
(cf. 9321 - Closed Session) 
 
The Board shall provide the student and his/her parent/guardian with written notice of the closed session 
by registered or certified mail or personal service. Upon receiving this notice, the student or parent/guardian 
may request a public meeting, and this request shall be granted if made in writing within 48 hours after 
receipt of the Board's notice. However, any discussion that conflicts with any other student's right to privacy 
still shall be held in closed session.  (Education Code 35146, 48912) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by any district establishing an on-campus suspension program 
pursuant to Education Code 48911.1. However, pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, such a district is required to 
use other means of correcting a student's behavior before imposing a supervised suspension, unless such a 
supervised suspension is otherwise permitted by law for a student's first offense. Use of a supervised suspension 
classroom program does not in any way limit the district's ability to transfer a student to an opportunity school or 
class or a continuation education school or class in accordance with law. 

 
A student for whom an expulsion action has not been initiated and who poses no imminent danger or threat 
to the school, students, or staff may be assigned to on-campus suspension in a separate classroom, building, 
or site for the entire period of suspension. The following conditions shall apply:  (Education Code 48911.1) 
 
1. The on-campus suspension classroom shall be staffed in accordance with law. 
 
2. The student shall have access to appropriate counseling services. 
 
3. The on-campus suspension classroom shall promote completion of schoolwork and tests missed by 

the student during the suspension. 
 
4. The student shall be responsible for contacting his/herthe student's teacher(s) to receive 

assignments to be completed in the supervised suspension classroom. The teacher(s) shall provide 
all assignments and tests that the student will miss while suspended. If no such work is assigned, 
the person supervising the suspension classroom shall assign schoolwork. 

 
At the time a student is assigned to an on-campus suspension classroom, the principal or designee shall 
notify the student's parent/guardian in person or by telephone. When the assignment is for longer than one 
class period, this notification may be made in writing.  (Education Code 48911.1) 



11 

 
Superintendent or Principal's Authority to Recommend Expulsion 
 
Unless the Superintendent or principal determines that expulsion should not be recommended under the 
circumstances or that an alternative means of correction would address the conduct, he/shethe 
Superintendent or principal shall recommend a student's expulsion for any of the following acts:  (Education 
Code 48915) 
 
1. Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense 
 
2. Possession of any knife or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the student 
 
3. Unlawful possession of any controlled substance as listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058, 

except for (a) the first offense for the possession of not more than one ounce of marijuana, other 
than concentrated cannabis, or (b) the student's possession of over-the-counter medication for 
his/her use or other medication prescribed for him/her by a physician 

 
4. Robbery or extortion 
 
5. Assault or battery, as defined in Penal Code 240 and 242, upon any school employee 
 
In determining whether or not to recommend the expulsion of a student, the Superintendent, principal, or 
designee shall act as quickly as possible to ensure that the student does not lose instructional time.  
(Education Code 48915) 
 
Student's Right to Expulsion Hearing 

Note:  Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board establish rules and regulations governing procedures for 
the expulsion of students.  The timelines of Education Code 48918 must be strictly followed; failure to do so may 
result in loss of the district's power to act (Garcia v. Los Angeles Board of Education).  In calculating timelines, 
the district should also be aware of the difference between the calculation of "school days" and "calendar days" 
under Education Code 48918. 

 
Any student recommended for expulsion shall be entitled to a hearing to determine whether he/shethe 
student should be expelled. The hearing shall be held within 30 school days after the Superintendent, 
principal, or designee determines that the student has committed the act(s) that form the basis for the 
expulsion recommendation.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
The student is entitled to at least one postponement of an expulsion hearing for a period of not more than 
30 calendar days. The request for postponement shall be in writing. Any subsequent postponement may be 
granted at the Board's discretion.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
If the Board finds it impractical during the regular school year to comply with these time requirements for 
conducting an expulsion hearing, the Superintendent or designee may, for good cause, extend the time 
period by an additional five school days. Reasons for the extension shall be included as a part of the record 
when the expulsion hearing is held.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
If the Board finds it impractical to comply with the time requirements of the expulsion hearing due to a 
summer recess of Board meetings of more than two weeks, the days during the recess shall not be counted 
as school days. The days not counted during the recess may not exceed 20 school days, as defined in 
Education Code 48925. Unless the student requests in writing that the expulsion hearing be postponed, the 



12 

hearing shall be held not later than 20 calendar days prior to the first day of the next school year.  (Education 
Code 48918(a)) 
 
Once the hearing starts, all matters shall be pursued with reasonable diligence and concluded without 
unnecessary delay.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
Stipulated Expulsion 

Note:  The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. "Stipulated expulsion" is 
for districts that have adopted an expedited procedure which allows a student to waive the right to a pre-expulsion 
hearing in exchange for an agreement as to the terms of the expulsion. Such waivers are not specifically addressed 
in law and districts should ensure that the due process rights of students are included in the stipulated agreement 
and are clearly explained to them before the agreement is signed. Districts should consult legal counsel as 
appropriate. 

 
After a determination that a student has committed an expellable offense, the Superintendent, principal, or 
designee shall offer the student and his/her parent/guardian the option to waive a hearing and stipulate to 
the expulsion or to a suspension of the expulsion under certain conditions.  The offer shall be made only 
after the student or his/her parent/guardian has been given written notice of the expulsion hearing pursuant 
to Education Code 48918. 
 
The stipulation agreement shall be in writing and shall be signed by the student and his/her parent/guardian.  
The stipulation agreement shall include notice of all the rights that the student is waiving, including the 
waiving of his/herthe right to have a full hearing, to appeal the expulsion to the County Board of Education, 
and to consult legal counsel. 
 
A stipulated expulsion agreed to by the student and his/her parent/guardian shall be effective upon approval 
by the Board. 
 
Rights of Complaining Witness 

Note:  Education Code 48918.5 mandates the following rights related to the treatment of witnesses alleging acts 
of sexual assault or sexual battery.  Other procedures related to complaining witnesses also may be added as desired 
by the district.  Additional mandated procedures related to the rights and treatment of complaining witnesses are 
included where appropriate throughout this regulation. 

 
An expulsion hearing involving allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery may be postponed for one 
school day in order to accommodate the special physical, mental, or emotional needs of a student who is 
the complaining witness.  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 
Whenever the Superintendent or designee recommends an expulsion hearing that addresses allegations of 
sexual assault or sexual battery, he/shethe Superintendent or designee shall give the complaining witness a 
copy of the district's suspension and expulsion policy and regulation and shall advise the witness of 
his/herthe right to:  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 
1. Receive five days' notice of his/herthe scheduled testimony at the hearing 
 
2. Have up to two adult support persons of his/her choosing present at the hearing at the time he/shethe 

witness testifies 
 
3. Have a closed hearing during the time he/shethe witness testifies 
 



13 

Whenever any allegation of sexual assault or sexual battery is made, the Superintendent or designee shall 
immediately advise complaining witnesses and accused students to refrain from personal or telephone 
contact with each other during the time when an expulsion process is pending.  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 
Written Notice of the Expulsion Hearing 

Note:  Education Code 48918 mandates the Board to adopt procedures that include the following items. 
 
Written notice of the expulsion hearing shall be forwarded to the student and the student's parent/guardian 
at least 10 calendar days before the date of the hearing. The notice shall include:  (Education Code 48900.8, 
48918(b)) 
 
1. The date and place of the hearing 
 
2. A statement of the specific facts, charges, and offense upon which the proposed expulsion is based 
 
3. A copy of district disciplinary rules which relate to the alleged violation 
 
4. Notification of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation, pursuant to Education Code 48915.1, 

to provide information about the student's status in the district to any other district in which the 
student seeks enrollment 

 
 This obligation applies when a student is expelled for acts other than those described in Education 

Code 48915(a) or (c). 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 

 
5. The opportunity for the student or the student's parent/guardian to appear in person or be 

represented by legal counsel or by a nonattorney adviser 
 
 Legal counsel means an attorney or lawyer who is admitted to the practice of law in California and 

is an active member of the State Bar of California. 
 
 Nonattorney adviser means an individual who is not an attorney or lawyer, but who is familiar with 

the facts of the case and has been selected by the student or student's parent/guardian to provide 
assistance at the hearing. 

 
6. The right to inspect and obtain copies of all documents to be used at the hearing 
 
7. The opportunity to confront and question all witnesses who testify at the hearing 
 
8. The opportunity to question all evidence presented and to present oral and documentary evidence 

on the student's behalf, including witnesses 
 
Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster Youth and Homeless Students 

Note:  Prior to conducting an expulsion hearing to determine whether a foster youth should be expelled, Education 
Code 48918.1 requires the district to notify the student's attorney and a representative of an appropriate county 
child welfare agency, provided that the violation does not require a mandatory recommendation for expulsion. 
Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, such additional notice must be given to the district liaison for homeless 
students when the student involved is a homeless child or youth and the violation does not require a mandatory 
recommendation for expulsion. While such a notice is not required if the offense requires a mandatory 
recommendation for expulsion, it is nonetheless recommended and the following section reflects this 
recommendation. 



14 

 
If the student facing expulsion is a foster student, the Superintendent or designee shall also send notice of 
the hearing to the student's attorney and a representative of an appropriate child welfare agency at least 10 
days prior to the hearing.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
If the student facing expulsion is a homeless student, the Superintendent or designee shall also send notice 
of the hearing to the district liaison for homeless students at least 10 days prior to the hearing.  (Education 
Code 48918.1) 
 
Any notice for these purposes may be provided by the most cost-effective method possible, including by 
email or a telephone call.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
Conduct of Expulsion Hearing 

Note:  Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the following items. 
Instead of the Board conducting an expulsion hearing, it may appoint a hearing officer or an impartial 
administrative panel to conduct the hearing; see section "Alternative Expulsion Hearing: Hearing Officer or 
Administrative Panel" below. Even if the district conducts all expulsion hearings in this manner, the requirements 
of Education Code 48918 pertaining to the conduct of the hearing must be met. 

 
1. Closed Session:  Notwithstanding Education Code 35145, the Board shall conduct a hearing to 

consider the expulsion of the student in a session closed to the public unless the student requests in 
writing at least five days prior to the hearing that the hearing be a public meeting. If such a request 
is made, the meeting shall be public to the extent that privacy rights of other students are not 
violated.  (Education Code 48918) 

 
Note:  For the purpose of Board deliberations during the closed session described below, the presence of any 
person other than the Board members, including the Superintendent, necessitates allowing the presence of the 
parent/guardian, student, and student's counsel. 

 
 Whether the expulsion hearing is held in closed or public session, the Board may meet in closed 

session to deliberate and determine whether or not the student should be expelled. If the Board 
admits any other person to this closed session, the parent/guardian, the student, and the counsel of 
the student also shall be allowed to attend the closed session.  (Education Code 48918(c)) 

 
 If a hearing that involves a charge of sexual assault or sexual battery is to be conducted in public, 

a complaining witness shall have the right to have his/her testimony heardtestify in closed session 
when testifying in public would threaten serious psychological harm to the witness and when there 
are no alternative procedures to avoid the threatened harm, including, but not limited to, a 
videotaped deposition or contemporaneous examination in another place communicated to the 
hearing room by closed-circuit television.  (Education Code 48918(c)) 

 
2. Record of Hearing:  A record of the hearing shall be made and may be maintained by any means, 

including electronic recording, as long as a reasonably accurate and complete written transcription 
of the proceedings can be made.  (Education Code 48918(g)) 

 
Note:  Education Code 48918 authorizes the Board to issue subpoenas for the personal appearance of percipient 
witnesses at an expulsion hearing. In Woodbury v. Dempsey, the court held that a district's authority to determine 
whether to issue subpoenas is discretionary, but a district could not have a blanket policy denying the issuance of 
subpoenas in all cases. 
In accordance with Code of Civil Procedure 1987, the subpoena must be served at least 10 days before the time 
required for attendance unless the court prescribes a shorter time. Unless they are parties to the hearing or are 



15 

district or government employees, witnesses who appear pursuant to a subpoena receive fees equal to those 
prescribed for witnesses in civil actions in a superior court, and all witnesses other than the parties to the hearing 
receive mileage; these fees and mileage must be paid by the party requesting the subpoena. 

 
3. Subpoenas:  Before commencing a student expulsion hearing, the Board may issue subpoenas, at 

the request of either the student or the Superintendent or designee, for the personal appearance at 
the hearing of any person who actually witnessed the action that gave rise to the recommendation 
for expulsion. After the hearing has commenced, the Board or the hearing officer or administrative 
panel may issue such subpoenas at the request of the student or the County Superintendent of 
Schools or designee. All subpoenas shall be issued in accordance with Code of Civil Procedure 
1985-1985.2 and enforced in accordance with Government Code 11455.20.  (Education Code 
48918(i)) 

 
 Any objection raised by the student or the Superintendent or designee to the issuance of subpoenas 

may be considered by the Board in closed session, or in open session if so requested by the student, 
before the meeting. The Board's decision in response to such an objection shall be final and binding.  
(Education Code 48918(i)) 

 
 If the Board determines, or if the hearing officer or administrative panel finds and submits to the 

Board, that a witness would be subject to unreasonable risk of harm by testifying at the hearing, a 
subpoena shall not be issued to compel the personal attendance of that witness at the hearing. 
However, that witness may be compelled to testify by means of a sworn declaration as described 
in item #4 below.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 

 
4. Presentation of Evidence:  Technical rules of evidence shall not apply to the expulsion hearing, 

but relevant evidence may be admitted and used as proof only if it is the kind of evidence on which 
reasonable persons can rely in the conduct of serious affairs.  The decision of the Board to expel 
shall be supported by substantial evidence that the student committed any of the acts pursuant to 
Education Code 48900 and listed in "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" and," 
"Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," and "Additional Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12" above.  (Education Code 48918(h)) 

 
Note:  Findings of fact made by the Board or a hearing panel must not be based on hearsay alone. "Hearsay" is 
evidence of an oral or written statement made by a person who is not present at the hearing which is offered to 
establish a fact as being true. Some exceptions to the hearsay rule exist under the Evidence Code and Education 
Code; the district should consult legal counsel as appropriate. 

 
 Findings of fact shall be based solely on the evidence at the hearing. Although no finding shall be 

based solely on hearsay, sworn declarations may be admitted as testimony from witnesses whose 
disclosure of their identity or testimony at the hearing may subject them to an unreasonable risk of 
physical or psychological harm.  (Education Code 48918(f)) 

 
 In cases where a search of a student's person or property has occurred, evidence describing the 

reasonableness of the search shall be included in the hearing record. 
 

Note:  Education Code 48918.6 provides that testimony by a student witness at an expulsion hearing is privileged 
and thus protected from liability for defamation pursuant to Civil Code 47(b). 

 
5. Testimony by Complaining Witnesses:  The following procedures shall be observed when a 

hearing involves allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery by a student:  (Education Code 
48918, 48918.5) 



16 

 
a. Any complaining witness shall be given five days' notice before being called to testify. 
 
b. Any complaining witness shall be entitled to have up to two adult support persons, 

including, but not limited to, a parent/guardian or legal counsel, present during his/herthe 
testimony. 

 
c. Before a complaining witness testifies, support persons shall be admonished that the 

hearing is confidential. 
 
d. The person presiding over the hearing may remove a support person whom he/she findswho 

is disrupting the hearing. 
 
e. If one or both support persons are also witnesses, the hearing shall be conducted in 

accordance with Penal Code 868.5. 
 
f. Evidence of specific instances of prior sexual conduct of a complaining witness shall be 

presumed inadmissible and shall not be heard unless the person conducting the hearing 
determines that extraordinary circumstances require the evidence to be heard. Before such 
a determination is made, the complaining witness shall be given notice and an opportunity 
to oppose the introduction of this evidence. In the hearing on the admissibility of this 
evidence, the complaining witness shall be entitled to be represented by a parent/guardian, 
legal counsel, or other support person. Reputation or opinion evidence regarding the sexual 
behavior of a complaining witness shall not be admissible for any purpose. 

 
g. In order to facilitate a free and accurate statement of the experiences of the complaining 

witness and to prevent discouragement of complaints, the district shall provide a 
nonthreatening environment. 
 
(1) The district shall provide a room separate from the hearing room for the use of the 

complaining witness before and during breaks in testimony. 
 

(2) At the discretion of the person conducting the hearing, the complaining witness 
shall be allowed reasonable periods of relief from examination and cross-
examination during which he/shethe complaining witness may leave the hearing 
room. 

 
(3) The person conducting the hearing may: 
 

(a) Arrange the seating within the hearing room so as to facilitate a less 
intimidating environment for the complaining witness 

 
(b) Limit the time for taking the testimony of a complaining witness to the 

hours he/she is normally innormal school hours, if there is no good cause 
to take the testimony during other hours 

 
(c) Permit one of the support persons to accompany the complaining witness 

to the witness stand 
 



17 

6. Decision:  The Board's decision as to whether to expel a student shall be made within 40 school 
days after the student is removed from his/her school of attendance, unless the student requests in 
writing that the decision be postponed.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 

 
Alternative Expulsion Hearing:  Hearing Officer or Administrative Panel 

Note:  For districts that use a hearing officer or administrative panel, Education Code 48918 mandates that the 
Board adopt procedures that include the following section. 

 
Instead of conducting an expulsion hearing itself, the Board may contract with the county hearing officer 
or with the Office of Administrative Hearings of the State of California for a hearing officer. The Board 
may also appoint an impartial administrative panel composed of three or more certificated personnel, none 
of whom shall be members of the Board or on the staff of the school in which the student is enrolled.  
(Education Code 48918) 
 
A hearing conducted by the hearing officer or administrative panel shall conform to the same procedures 
applicable to a hearing conducted by the Board as specified above in "Conduct of Expulsion Hearing," 
including the requirement to issue a decision within 40 school days of the student's removal from school, 
unless the student requests that the decision be postponed.  (Education Code 48918(a) and (d)) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48918, if the hearing officer or administrative panel does not recommend 
expulsion, a student must be permitted to return to the classroom instructional program from which the expulsion 
referral was made, unless the student's parent/guardian requests a different placement.  Education Code 48918 also 
states that a student who is found to have committed any of the violations listed in "Authority to Expel" in the 
accompanying Board policy but for whom expulsion is not recommended may be referred to the student's prior 
school.  However, the hearing officer or administrative panel, like the Board, must recommend expulsion or a 
suspended expulsion under Education Code 48915, if it finds that a student committed any such violation that 
mandates expulsion.  District should consult legal counsel to resolve this apparent discrepancy. 

 
The hearing officer or administrative panel shall, within three school days after the hearing, determine 
whether to recommend expulsion of the student to the Board. If expulsion is not recommended, the 
expulsion proceeding shall be terminated and the student shall be immediately reinstated and permitted to 
return to the classroom instructional program from which the referral was made, unless another placement 
is requested in writing by the student's parent/guardian.  Before the student's placement decision is made 
by his/herthe student's parent/guardian, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with the 
parent/guardian and district staff, including the student's teachers, regarding other placement options for 
the student in addition to the option to return to the classroom instructional program from which the 
student's expulsion referral was made. The decision to not recommend expulsion shall be final.  (Education 
Code 48918(e)) 
 
If expulsion is recommended, findings of fact in support of the recommendation shall be prepared and 
submitted to the Board. All findings of fact and recommendations shall be based solely on the evidence 
presented at the hearing. The Board may accept the recommendation based either upon a review of the 
findings of fact and recommendations submitted or upon the results of any supplementary hearing the Board 
may order.  (Education Code 48918(f)) 
 
In accordance with Board policy, the hearing officer or administrative panel may recommend that the Board 
suspend the enforcement of the expulsion. If the hearing officer or administrative panel recommends that 
the Board expel a student but suspend the enforcement of the expulsion, the student shall not be reinstated 
and permitted to return to the classroom instructional program from which the referral was made until the 
Board has ruled on the recommendation.  (Education Code 48917, 48918) 
 



18 

Final Action by the Board 
Note:  Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the following paragraph. 

 
Whether the expulsion hearing is conducted in closed or open session by the Board, a hearing officer, or an 
administrative panel or is waived through the signing of a stipulated expulsion agreement, the final action 
to expel shall be taken by the Board in public.  (Education Code 48918(j)) 
 
The Board's decision is final. If the decision is to not expel, the student shall be reinstated immediately.  If 
the decision is to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion, the student shall be reinstated under the 
conditions of the suspended expulsion. 
 

Note:  20 USC 7961 requires the district, in the consolidated application for federal funding, to provide an 
assurance that it will comply with the state requirement to expel, for a period not less than one year, any student 
who brings a firearm to school or possesses a firearm at school. 

 
Upon ordering an expulsion, the Board shall set a date when the student shall be reviewed for readmission 
to a school within the district. For a student expelled for any "mandatory recommendation and mandatory 
expulsion" act listed in the section "Authority to Expel" in the accompanying Board policy, this date shall 
be one year from the date the expulsion occurred, except that the Board may set an earlier date on a case-
by-case basis.  For a student expelled for other acts, this date shall be no later than the last day of the 
semester following the semester in which the expulsion occurred. If an expulsion is ordered during summer 
session or the intersession period of a year-round program, the Board shall set a date when the student shall 
be reviewed for readmission not later than the last day of the semester following the summer session or 
intersession period in which the expulsion occurred.  (Education Code 48916) 
 
At the time of the expulsion order, the Board shall recommend a plan for the student's rehabilitation, which 
may include:  (Education Code 48916) 
 
1. Periodic review, as well as assessment at the time of review, for readmission 
 
2. Recommendations for improved academic performance, tutoring, special education assessments, 

job training, counseling, employment, community service, or other rehabilitative programs 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is optional.  Education Code 48916.5 authorizes, but does not mandate, the Board 
to make the following requirement of certain expelled students. 

 
With parent/guardian consent, students who have been expelled for reasons relating to controlled substances 
or alcohol may be required to enroll in a county-sponsored drug rehabilitation program before returning to 
school.  (Education Code 48916.5) 
 
Written Notice to Expel 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall send written notice of the decision to expel to the student or 
parent/guardian.  This notice shall include the following: 
 
1. The specific offense committed by the student for any of the causes for suspension or expulsion 

listed above under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12"," "Additional Grounds 
for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," or "Additional Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades 49-12"  (Education Code 48900.8) 

 



19 

2. The fact that a description of readmission procedures will be made available to the student and 
his/her parent/guardian  (Education Code 48916) 

 
3. Notice of the right to appeal the expulsion to the County Board  (Education Code 48918) 
 
4. Notice of the alternative educational placement to be provided to the student during the time of 

expulsion  (Education Code 48918) 
 
5. Notice of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to inform any new district in which the 

student seeks to enroll of the student's status with the expelling district, pursuant to Education Code 
48915.1  (Education Code 48918) 

 
Decision to Suspend Expulsion Order 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48917, the Board's criteria for suspending the enforcement of expulsions must 
be applied uniformly to all students. Items #1-3 below are optional and should be revised to reflect district criteria. 

 
In accordance with Board policy, when deciding whether to suspend the enforcement of an expulsion order, 
the Board shall take into account the following criteria: 
 
1. The student's pattern of behavior 
 
2. The seriousness of the misconduct 
 
3. The student's attitude toward the misconduct and his/her willingness to follow a rehabilitation 

program 
 
The suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion shall be governed by the following: 
 
1. The Board may, as a condition of the suspension of enforcement, assign the student to a school, 

class, or program appropriate for the student's rehabilitation. This rehabilitation program may 
provide for the involvement of the student's parent/guardian in the student's education. However, a 
parent/guardian's refusal to participate in the rehabilitation program shall not be considered in the 
Board's determination as to whether the student has satisfactorily completed the rehabilitation 
program.  (Education Code 48917) 

 
2. During the period when enforcement of the expulsion order is suspended, the student shall be on 

probationary status.  (Education Code 48917) 
 
3. The suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion order may be revoked by the Board if the student 

commits any of the acts listed under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12"," 
"Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," or "Additional Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 49-12" above or violates any of the district's rules and 
regulations governing student conduct.  (Education Code 48917) 

 
4. When the suspension of enforcement of an expulsion order is revoked, a student may be expelled 

under the terms of the original expulsion order.  (Education Code 48917) 
 
5. Upon satisfactory completion of the rehabilitation assignment, the Board shall reinstate the student 

in a district school.  Upon reinstatement, the Board may order the expunging of any or all records 
of the expulsion proceedings.  (Education Code 48917) 

 



20 

6. The Superintendent or designee shall send written notice of any decision to suspend the 
enforcement of an expulsion order during a period of probation to the student or parent/guardian. 
The notice shall inform the parent/guardian of the right to appeal the expulsion to the County Board, 
the alternative educational placement to be provided to the student during the period of expulsion, 
and the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to inform any new district in which the student 
seeks to enroll of his/herthe student's status with the expelling district, pursuant to Education Code 
48915.1(b).  (Education Code 48918(j)) 

 
7. Suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion order shall not affect the time period and 

requirements for the filing of an appeal of the expulsion order with the County Board.  (Education 
Code 48917) 

 
Appeal 
 
The student or parent/guardian is entitled to file an appeal of the Board's decision with the County Board.  
The appeal must be filed within 30 days of the Board's decision to expel, even if the expulsion order is 
suspended and the student is placed on probation.  (Education Code 48919) 
 
If the student submits a written request for a copy of the written transcripts and supporting documents from 
the district simultaneously with the filing of the notice of appeal with the County Board, the district shall 
provide the student with these documents within 10 school days following the student's written request.  
(Education Code 48919) 
 
Notification to Law Enforcement Authorities 

Note:  Education Code 48902 requires the principal or designee to notify law enforcement authorities when a 
student possesses a firearm or explosive or sells or furnishes a firearm at school.  However, when the student 
involved in such a case is a student with a disability, Education Code 49076 requires any law enforcement authority 
to which student information is disclosed to certify that those records will not be disclosed to another party without 
the prior written consent of the student's parent/guardian or other person invested with the student's educational 
right; see AR 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities). 
When submitting the consolidated application for federal funding, the district must provide assurance that it has 
adopted a policy requiring referral to the criminal justice system or juvenile delinquency system of any student 
who brings a firearm or weapon to a school. The following section fulfills this requirement. 

 
Prior to the suspension or expulsion of any student, the principal or designee shall notify appropriate city 
or county law enforcement authorities of any student acts of assault which may have violated Penal Code 
245.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
The principal or designee shall notify appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities of any student 
acts which may involve the possession or sale of narcotics or of a controlled substance, or of any student 
acts involving the possession, sale, or furnishing of firearms, explosives, or other dangerous weapons in 
violation of Education Code 48915(c)(1) or (5) or Penal Code 626.9 and 626.10.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
Within one school day after a student's suspension or expulsion, the principal or designee shall notify 
appropriate county or district law enforcement authorities, by telephone or other appropriate means, of any 
student acts which may violate Education Code 48900(c) or (d), relating to the possession, use, offering, or 
sale of controlled substances, alcohol, or intoxicants of any kind.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
Placement During Expulsion 

Note:  Education Code 48915 requires the Board to refer all expelled students to a program of study that is prepared 
to accommodate students with discipline problems and that is not located at the school the student currently attends 



21 

or at any regular elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school. However, students expelled for the acts 
described in Education Code 48900(f) through (m) or Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4 may be 
referred to a program of study that is at another elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school if the County 
Superintendent of Schools certifies that an alternative program is not available at a site away from such a school. 
Education Code 48915.01 states that if the Board has established a community day school pursuant to Education 
Code 48661 on the same site as an elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school, expelled students may be 
referred to the community day school at that site.  Although Education Code 48663 prohibits the use of independent 
study in community day schools, Education Code 48916.1 does not in any way restrict the district from offering 
independent study as a voluntary alternative placement option for expelled students. 

 
The Board shall refer expelled students to a program of study that is:  (Education Code 48915, 48915.01) 
 
1. Appropriately prepared to accommodate students who exhibit discipline problems 
 
2. Not provided at a comprehensive middle, junior, or senior high school or at any elementary school, 

unless the program is offered at a community day school established at any of these 
 
3. Not housed at the school site attended by the student at the time of suspension 

(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
(cf. 6185 - Community Day School) 

 
When the placement described above is not available and when the County Superintendent so certifies, 
students expelled for only acts described in items #6-12 under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  
Grades K-12" and items #1-3 under "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12" 
above may be referred to a program of study that is provided at another comprehensive middle, junior, or 
senior high school or at an elementary school.  (Education Code 48915) 
 
The program for a student expelled from any of grades K-6 shall not be combined or merged with programs 
offered to students in any of grades 7-12.  (Education Code 48916.1) 
 
Readmission After Expulsion 

Note:  Education Code 48916 mandates that the Board adopt rules and regulations establishing a procedure for 
filing and processing requests for readmission and a process for Board review of all expelled students for 
readmission.  Items #1-2 below should be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Prior to the date set by the Board for the student's readmission: 
 
1. The Superintendent or designee shall hold a conference with the parent/guardian and the student. 

At the conference, the student's rehabilitation plan shall be reviewed and the Superintendent or 
designee shall verify that the provisions of this plan have been met.  School regulations shall be 
reviewed and the student and parent/guardian shall be asked to indicate in writing their willingness 
to comply with these regulations. 

 
2. The Superintendent or designee shall transmit to the Board his/hera recommendation regarding 

readmission. The Board shall consider this recommendation in closed session. If a written request 
for open session is received from the parent/guardian or adult student, it shall be honored to the 
extent that privacy rights of other students are not violated. 

 
3. If the readmission is granted, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student and 

parent/guardian, by registered mail, of the Board's decision regarding readmission. 
 



22 

4. The Board may deny readmission only if it finds that the student has not satisfied the conditions of 
the rehabilitation plan or that the student continues to pose a danger to campus safety or to other 
district students or employees.  (Education Code 48916) 

 
5. If the Board denies the readmission of a student, the Board shall determine either to continue the 

student's placement in the alternative educational program initially selected or to place the student 
in another program that serves expelled students, including placement in a county community 
school. 

 
6. The Board shall provide written notice to the expelled student and parent/guardian describing the 

reasons for denying readmittance into the regular program. This notice shall indicate the Board's 
determination of the educational program which the Board has chosen. The student shall enroll in 
that program unless the parent/guardian chooses to enroll the student in another school district.  
(Education Code 48916) 

 
No student shall be denied readmission into the district based solely on the student's arrest, adjudication by 
a juvenile court, formal or informal supervision by a probation officer, detention in a juvenile facility, 
enrollment in a juvenile court school, or other such contact with the juvenile justice system.  (Education 
Code 48645.5) 
 
Maintenance of Records 
 
The district shall maintain a record of each suspension and expulsion, including its specific cause(s).  
(Education Code 48900.8) 
 
Expulsion records of any student shall be maintained in the student's mandatory interim record and sent to 
any school in which the student subsequently enrolls upon written request by that school.  (Education Code 
48918(k)) 
 

Note:  Education Code 48915.1 requires that, when an expelled student asks to enroll in another district, the 
receiving district must hold a hearing to determine whether the student poses a danger to its students or staff.  The 
receiving district then may either deny or permit the enrollment.  Upon request from another district, the expelling 
district must provide information about the expulsion within five days. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall, within five working days, honor any other district's request for 
information about an expulsion from this district.  (Education Code 48915.1) 
(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007   
revised: August 9, 2011  
revised: June 12, 2012 
revised: April 9, 2013 
revised: June 18,2014 
revised: March 10, 2015 
revised: February 13, 2018 
revised: November 13, 2018 
revised: June 23, 2020 



1 
**NEW** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Board Policy 
Instruction  
BP 6172.1 
 
CONCURRENT ENROLLMENT IN COLLEGE CLASSES 
 

Note:  The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 48800-48802 and 
76000-76004 authorize enrollment in community college courses as an option for a limited number of district 
students to benefit from advanced scholastic or career technical work. 
 
The following policy does not address requirements pertaining to early or middle college high schools established 
pursuant to Education Code 11300-11302. These programs provide students an opportunity to achieve two years 
of college credit at the same time they are earning a high school diploma, and are targeted toward student groups 
that historically have below-average high school and college graduation rates (e.g., low-income, at-risk, English 
learner, and minority students).  Districts that offer such a program may revise the following policy to reflect 
program goals and requirements. 

 
The Governing Board desires to provide opportunities for eligible district students to enroll 
concurrently in courses offered at postsecondary institutions in order to foster individual student 
achievement, increase opportunities for students to complete college preparatory course 
requirements and/or participate in career technical education (CTE), and prepare students for a 
smooth transition into college by providing exposure to the collegiate environment. 
(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 
(cf. 6172 - Gifted and Talented Student Program) 
(cf. 6178 - Career Technical Education) 
(cf. 6178.2 - Regional Occupational Center/Program) 
 
Note:  The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 51225.3 provides that completion of postsecondary 
courses may be used as an alternative means of satisfying high school graduation requirements when approved by 
the Governing Board. See BP 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation. Pursuant to Education Code 48800, 
76001, and 76003, a student will receive credit for community college courses that the student completes at the level 
determined appropriate by the Board and the governing board of the community college district. 

 
When it is determined that the postsecondary course in which the student intends to enroll is 
substantially equivalent to a course provided by the district, the student may receive credit toward 
high school graduation requirements in addition to credit received from the college. 
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 
(cf. 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation) 
 
Approval of Concurrent Enrollment 
 

Note:  Although the Board may approve students for postsecondary classes in accordance with Education Code 
48800 and 48800.5, the decision to admit a student into a postsecondary class rests with the college.  Pursuant to 
Education Code 76002, a community college may restrict the admission of special part-time or full-time students 
based on age, completion of a specified grade level, and/or demonstrated eligibility for instruction using 
assessment methods and procedures approved by the Board of Governors of the California Community Colleges.  
Education Code 76001 requires that community colleges assign a low enrollment priority to special part-time or 
full-time students in order to ensure that they do not displace regularly admitted students. 
The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect criteria for approval established by the Board. 

 
The Board may approve a limited number of students of any age or grade level to apply for part-
time or full-time concurrent enrollment in a community college or four-year college when it is 



2 

determined to be in the student's best interest and the student is adequately prepared for such 
coursework. 
 
Upon recommendation of the principal and with parent/guardian consent, the Board may authorize 
a student to attend a community college during any session or term as a special part-time or full-
time student and to undertake one or more courses of instruction offered at the community college 
level.  (Education Code 48800) 
 

Note:  Education Code 48800 provides a five percent enrollment cap on the number of students at each grade level 
who may be recommended for community college summer session.  However, this enrollment cap does not include 
a student who is enrolled in a college-level lower division general education course or a career technical education 
(CTE) course leading to a degree or certificate in the subject area, if the course meets the criteria specified in 
Education Code 48800. Pursuant to Education Code 48800, as amended by AB 1729 (Ch. 784, Statutes of 2019), 
such exceptions are operative through January 1, 2027. 

 
Within the enrollment limits and exceptions allowed by law, the principal may recommend a 
student for community college summer session if that student demonstrates adequate preparation 
in the discipline to be studied and exhausts all opportunities to enroll in an equivalent course, if 
any, at the school of attendance.  (Education Code 48800) 
 
A student's parent/guardian, regardless of the student's age or grade level, may petition the Board 
to authorize special full-time attendance at a community college on the ground that the student 
would benefit from advanced scholastic or career technical work that would be available.  If the 
petition is denied, an appeal may be filed with the County Board of Education.  (Education Code 
48800.5) 
 
If the Board denies a request for special part-time or full-time enrollment at a community college 
for a student who is identified as highly gifted and talented, the Board shall issue its written 
recommendation and the reasons for the denial at its next regularly scheduled Board meeting that 
falls at least 30 days, but within 60 days, after the request has been submitted.  (Education Code 
48800, 48800.5) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is for districts that offer an adult education program. Pursuant to 
Education Code 52620, as added by SB 554 (Ch. 528, Statutes of 2019), an adult education student pursuing a 
high school diploma or a high school equivalency certificate may be allowed to attend a community college as a 
special part-time student. 

 
The Board may authorize a student who is pursuing a high school diploma or a high school 
equivalency certificate through an adult education program, upon recommendation of the 
administrator of the student's adult school, to attend a community college during any session or 
term as a special part-time student.  (Education Code 52620)  
(cf. 6146.2 - Certificate of Proficiency/High School Equivalency) 
(cf. 6200 - Adult Education) 
 
College and Career Access Pathways Partnerships 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for districts that wish to establish a College and Career Access Pathways 
(CCAP) program at one or more high schools. Education Code 76004 authorizes the Board to enter into a CCAP 
agreement with the governing board of a community college district for the purpose of offering or expanding dual 
enrollment opportunities for students who may not already be college bound or who are underrepresented in higher 
education. The goals of such programs are to develop seamless pathways from high school to community college 
for CTE or preparation for transfer, improve high school graduation rates, and/or help achieve college and career 
readiness. Pursuant to Education Code 76004, as amended by SB 586 (Ch. 529, Statutes of 2019), the Board must 
present, invite public input, and take action on the proposed agreement at an open Board meeting. 



3 

 
As a condition of adopting a CCAP agreement which provides for CTE pathways, Education Code 76004, as 
amended by SB 586, requires the Board and the governing board of the community college district to consult with 
and consider input from the appropriate local workforce development board to determine the extent to which the 
pathways are aligned with regional and statewide employment needs. 
 
For further information about CCAP requirements, see the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
The Board may enter into a College and Career Access Pathways (CCAP) partnership agreement 
with the board of a community college district for the purpose of offering or expanding dual 
enrollment opportunities for students. The agreement shall be approved at an open public Board 
meeting, with an opportunity for public input provided prior to the Board taking action. If the 
CCAP agreement provides for CTE pathways, the Board shall consult with and consider input 
from appropriate local workforce board(s) to determine the extent to which the pathways are 
aligned with regional and statewide employment needs.  (Education Code 76004)  
 
Program Evaluation 
 

Note:  The following optional section should be revised to reflect indicators agreed upon by the Board and 
Superintendent for evaluating the district's program. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall regularly report to the Board regarding the number and 
demographics of district students participating in the concurrent enrollment option, their success 
in completing college preparatory courses ("a-g" courses) and postsecondary courses, and any 
impact on their achievement in district courses and graduation rates. 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
(cf. 6162.5 - Student Assessment) 
(cf. 6190 - Evaluation of the Instructional Program) 
 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
11300-11302  Early and middle college high schools 
42238.02  Definition of unduplicated student 
46141  Minimum day, high school 
46145-46147 Minimum day, high school 
48800-48802  Enrollment of gifted students in community college 
51225.3 Alternative means of satisfying graduation requirements 
52620  Adult education and attendance at community college 
76000-76004  Enrollment in community college 
76140  No community college fee/tuition for special part-time students 
87010  Definition of sex offense 
87011  Definition of controlled substance offense    

Management Resources: 
WEB SITES 
California Community Colleges:  http://www.cccco.edu 
California Department of Education: http://www.cde.ca.gov 
California Postsecondary Education Commission: http://www.cpec.ca.gov 
California State University: http://www.calstate.edu 
Foundation for California Community Colleges: https://foundationccc.org 
University of California: http://www.universityofcalifornia.edu 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: June 23, 2020 





1 
**NEW** 

Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint USD 

Administrative Regulation 
Instruction  
AR 6172.1 
 
CONCURRENT ENROLLMENT IN COLLEGE CLASSES 
 
Credit 
 

Note:  Education Code 51225.3 authorizes the Governing Board to grant credit for postsecondary courses as an 
alternative means of satisfying high school graduation requirements.  See BP 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward 
Graduation. Pursuant to Education Code 48800, 76001, and 76003, a student shall receive credit for community 
college courses that the student completes at the level determined appropriate by the Board and the governing 
board of the community college district. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 76004, a special part-time student participating in a College and Career Access 
Pathways (CCAP) partnership agreement may enroll in up to 15 units per term if specified circumstances are 
satisfied. See the section "College and Career Access Pathways Partnerships" below. 

 
Unless enrolled as part of a College and Career Access Pathways (CCAP) partnership agreement 
in which students are authorized to take up to 15 units per term in a community college, as 
described below, district students enrolled in a community college as special part-time students 
may enroll in up to 11 units per semester, or the equivalent. Such students shall receive credit for 
community college courses that they complete in an amount jointly determined appropriate by the 
district and the community college governing board.  (Education Code 48800, 76001, 76004) 
(cf. 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
A written agreement regarding the student's enrollment in postsecondary courses and the credits 
to be awarded for successful completion shall be signed by the student, parent/guardian, principal, 
and college representative.  The student shall be informed whether the credits to be earned are 
considered academic credits or elective credits, whether the credits count towards high school 
graduation requirements, and whether the course would need to be completed again during the 
college years to satisfy college graduation requirements. 
 
To receive district credit for coursework completed at a community college or four-year college, 
the student or parent/guardian shall submit a transcript showing completion of the course with a 
passing grade. 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 
College and Career Access Pathways Partnerships 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for districts that have entered into a CCAP agreement with the board of 
a community college district. For further information about approval of the CCAP agreement, see the 
accompanying Board policy. 

 
The district may enter into a CCAP agreement, in accordance with Education Code 76004, which 
includes terms regarding course offerings, student eligibility, protocols for sharing information, 
joint facilities use, and staff qualifications. 



2 

 
A copy of the CCAP agreement shall be filed with the Office of the Chancellor of the California 
Community Colleges and with the California Department of Education before the start of the 
agreement.  (Education Code 76004) 
 
Only courses that provide career technical education or preparation for transfer, assist in improving 
high school graduation rates, or help high school students achieve college and career readiness 
shall be offered, and physical education courses shall not be provided.  (Education Code 76004) 
 
Students may enroll in up to 15 units of community college courses per term if all of the following 
circumstances are satisfied:  (Education Code 76004) 
 
1. The units constitute no more than four community college courses per term. 
 
2. The units are part of an academic program that is part of a CCAP agreement. 
 
3. The units are part of an academic program that is designed to award students both a high 

school diploma and an associate degree or a certificate or credential. 
 

Note:  As amended by AB 30 (Ch. 510, Statutes of 2019). Education Code 76004 requires only one parental 
consent and principal recommendation for the duration of the student's participation. 

 
A high school student shall submit one parental consent form and principal recommendation for 
the duration of the student's concurrent enrollment under a CCAP partnership.  (Education Code 
76004) 
 
The district shall report information annually to the office of the Chancellor of the California 
Community Colleges as specified in Education Code 76004.  
 
Minimum School Day 
 
The minimum day of attendance in district schools shall be 180 minutes for any student who is 
enrolled part-time in a community college and any student in grades 11-12 who is enrolled part-
time in the California State University or University of California, when the student is enrolled in 
classes for which academic credit will be provided upon satisfactory completion of enrolled 
courses.  (Education Code 46146, 48801) 
(cf. 6112 - School Day) 
 
A student enrolled full-time at a community college shall be exempted from full-time attendance 
in the district's regular education program. (Education Code 48800.5) 
(cf. 5112.1 - Exemptions from Attendance) 
 
However, both part-time and full-time community college students shall be required to undertake 
courses of instruction of a scope and duration sufficient to satisfy the requirements of law.  
(Education Code 48800.5, 48801) 
 
 
 
 



3 

Community College Classes on High School Campus 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that maintain high schools.  Education Code 76002 
details criteria that must be satisfied before the community college district can claim state apportionment for high 
school students, including the fact that any community college class offered on a high school campus cannot be 
held during the time the campus is closed to the general public, as defined by the Board at a regularly scheduled 
meeting.  The Board should adopt a resolution or policy language specifying the time periods at which community 
college classes may be offered and open to the general public. Boards that adopt such a resolution or policy should 
establish procedures for members of the general public who are enrolled in community college classes to register 
immediately upon entering school buildings or grounds, and may want to review their policies regarding visitors 
to campus, student and staff safety, and campus security, including BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan, 
BP/AR 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders, BP/AR 3515 - Campus Security, BP/AR 4157/4257/4357 - Employee Safety, 
and BP/AR 5142 - Safety. 

 
If a community college class is to be offered at a district high school campus, the class shall be 
held during the time the campus is open to the general public as determined by the Governing 
Board.  Members of the public who are enrolled in community college class(es) shall register 
immediately upon entering school buildings or grounds. 
(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders) 
(cf. 3515 - Campus Security) 
(cf. 4157/4257/4357 - Employee Safety) 
(cf. 5142 - Safety) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: June 23, 2020 




